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          PROLOGUE
        
      

      Myanmar, May 1993


      The strong moonlight penetrated the thick jungle foliage from which the camoufl aged fi gure emerged dripping with sweat. The ten-mile trek from the drop zone within the renowned Golden Triangle, just north of the Ruak River shaving the borders of Thailand and Myanmar as it twisted through dense jungle and hidden patches of opium, hadn’t helped. The 50 pounds of equipment, now burning into his shoulders hadn’t helped either. His body was steaming like a kitchen kettle in the cooling night air. 

      The solitary guard posted as a lookout was no longer a threat. 

      Lazily pacing around the clearing that surrounded the hut, he had been dropped with barely a sound just after he had lit a cigarette. The seven-inch steel blade of an old style F-S fi ghting knife had been slammed upwards at a 45-degree angle through the indent at the base of his skull, resulting in his medulla oblongata being scrambled like the assassin’s morning eggs, his motor senses now completely neutralised. 

      As the camoufl aged man peered through the dirty glass, he began to methodically count the number of players standing in the room. Five; just as he had been informed. All members of the infamous Mong Tai drug cartel, their backs conveniently turned to the window. He only had to count one live hostage. The other was now still, his limp body slumped in the corner; his throat had been cut. 

      The tallest of the fi ve men was a Thai national, unlike the others quantum breach 290709.indd 7
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      in the room who were Burmese. The Thai brutally brought down the butt of his pistol on the shoulder of his hostage, making him grimace with pain. Another blow followed, this time from a clenched gloved hand delivered to his already swollen face, sending his head violently backwards. But the hostage lifted his head defi antly and spat the blood that had run into his mouth from his now shattered nose, peppering the man’s shirt. 

      Just before ducking down out of sight, the camoufl aged fi gure made direct eye contact with the hostage, who was looking rebelliously up at the tall man. Barely able to focus through the swelling around his eyes, the hostage at fi rst thought he had glimpsed a shadow at the window and dismissed the thought. 

      Now in position, the four-man SAS team codenamed ‘Viper’ began their countdown. The kill point had arrived; each man knew exactly what to do and where to breach. The team leader had now given them the formation of the men inside. Their main objective: to extract the half-conscious hostage whose bloodied and limp body was tied to a chair in the centre of the room. The team also knew that plans were just that, plans; nothing was ever certain. Things could turn to ‘rat shit’ 

      unexpectedly—and shockingly fast. 

      As the second hand of each man’s watch struck midnight, the four-man team burst in, announced by a bright white fl ash and the debilitating, thundering bang of their stun grenades. Each burst of fi re was carefully placed, targeted in by the tell-tale red dots that now peppered the room. A few seconds too late, the team leader witnessed the hostage jerking backwards. A single shot, fi red from the pistol of the taller man, had struck him in the right shoulder. It took just three seconds for the team leader to make amends: a deadly burst from his MP5 took care of that. Not only did this example of masterful German engineering eliminate whatever it targeted at close range, it delivered shredded fl esh and bone into the bargain. 

      The team leader was always primed to kill, to do so effectively and without error. His training was amongst the best in the world, and he quantum breach 290709.indd 8

      8/24/09 11:10:35 AM

      Mark Powell

      9

      knew never to hesitate. This kill would join the other 35 ghosts that already haunted the dark corners of his mind. There would be times when he was reminded of every face in fevered bouts of bad dreams. As the gun smoke and whiff of cordite cleared, the camoufl aged man knelt down beside the hostage and pressed down hard on his wound with a medi-pack. 

      ‘That’s okay, mate, no need for thanks. I was just saving these poor bastards from your boring company. Now don’t go and bleed to death on me.’ 

      His quip went unheard as Brian Stowe had faded away into a state of unconsciousness. The other man, 25-year-old Chris Trent, was carefully placed into a body bag; he would at least be taken back home. His funeral would be a quiet affair, family and close friends only, no salutes or placements of fl ags defended. For this was a ‘Black Op’; as such it never happened. 

      quantum breach 290709.indd 9
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          ONE 
        
      

      
        
          Singapore, September 2008 
        
      

      Shafts of sunlight began to work their way through the white morning clouds and cast warmth across the island state. The distant shores of Sumatra were just visible through the morning mist for those who lived in the luxury high-rise condominiums that lined the East Coast shore. Cars full of commuters started to stream onto the East Coast Parkway, tailgating each other whilst skirting the long narrow beaches lined with palm trees and long winding pathways now swarming with early morning joggers and cyclists. For many, their destination would be the Central Business District, an area of towering blue-glass skyscrapers that surround the area known as Marina Bay. It seemed to be the beginning of another typical hot and humid day in this modern yet deeply proud metropolis. 

      On the edge of the Singapore River, only a few yards away from the luxurious Fullerton Hotel, towered number 8 Battery Road, a modern glass and steel building housing the Asian headquarters of Banning Capital Bank. On this particular day, BCB, as it was known in the industry, was very much open for business. Its staff began to arrive, fl owing through the large glass doors and into the opulent atrium of marble, festooned with fresh tropical fl owers, clutching their takeaway cups of bland fat-free, no-frills coffee and the morning papers. 

      The newly refurbished Dealing Room, located on the eighth fl oor of the building (as suggested by a local feng shui master of some repute) quantum breach 290709.indd 10
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      sported wide windows and open views across the river. The smart new trading desks were now populated with computer screens and row upon row of busy salesmen and traders, all gripping their phones. The room was already beginning to buzz, which for any Dealing Room was very typical. But today, the noise that began to escalate in intensity was very far from sounding typical. 

      Mark McCabe sat somewhat uncomfortably at his desk, the tension inside him building. He was sitting on the edge of his chair, as opposed to his more normal reclined posture, his eyes staring intently at one of his two computer screens. As he watched the world’s fi nancial markets crashing around him, a state of fi nancial meltdown, he thought, ‘a toxic storm’, fi nancially at least, was in progress. And it was only 7:30 a.m. 

      The smell of sweat permeated the air that morning rather than the usual hip-sounding expensive cologne worn by most traders. Phones were ringing non-stop, a chorus of doom, as shouts of amazement and panic were echoing around the walls of the Dealing Room. No amount of feng shui, Zen or yin-and-yang-like karma would help today. Equity Yield curves had become inverted, which for the investor screamed loss. 

      The rows of high-tech plasma TV screens which hung down from the ceiling around the room normally displayed a few green arrows all pointing to the heavens and trumpeting profi t. But not today; they had merged into a fi reball of red, red arrows pointing as if towards hell itself. 

      Falling prices, tumbling revenues and despair was the message of the day. The news bites running across the bottom of news screens gave the toll: a deadly pandemic by the name of Volatility was on the rampage and it was taking down thousands of people. The only vaccination available had to come from the aggressively guarded reserve coffers of the world’s governments. 

      Tony, a tall, sallow-looking American trader, his face etched with panic, suddenly stood bolt upright from his chair, as if someone had sent a shot of electricity through it. 

      ‘Christ, I can’t read this fucking market, it’s through the bloody quantum breach 290709.indd 11
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      fl oor,’ he bellowed whilst holding his head fi rmly in his bony hands. 

      Tony had inherited his more colourful British slang from his two-year stint in the London offi ce, his blunt Boston tones now soured with South London accents. 

      ‘Like I’m pissing blind, you jerk? I’ve just lost US$40 million off my book!’ immediately screamed Stan, one of the FX exotics traders. On a good day, Stan looked like he had just crawled through the laundry basket and come out with last week’s clothes on. Today, one of Wall Street’s oldest institutions, Lehman Brothers, had collapsed under a pile of political shame and crushing fi nancial losses, and Stan resembled a sweating heap of fl esh that had not seen a shower or a bed for at least 72 hours. The armpits of his shirt showed big patches of damp sweat. 

      Being Australian, he simply didn’t give a shit. 

      In amongst the panic of the crashing markets and stress-ridden traders, Stan sat perched high up on a large red rubber ball, the type fl abby expatriate wives used for yoga and fi tness. He was simply too fat to sit in a normal chair and found this the best way to park himself. As he rocked his amply proportioned buttocks, the ball rolled from side to side, his legs gripping it like a cheap prostitute. His desk resembled a rubbish tip; rising up out of it was his computer screen, the blinking red downward pointing arrows caused Stan to ingest another cup of hideously strong coffee. His keyboard was swamped under a sea of used fast-food wrappers. 

      Despite his less than polished exterior and gypsy camp surroundings, Stan was a 20-year veteran of the banking industry. He knew his craft inside out, but he had never seen such a toxic storm as this in his lifetime. More, he hated cocky young traders with big egos; he thought they took too many stupid, uncalculated risks. A dozen or so of these types were running around him like scalded cats. It was like a World War II battlefi eld with young recruits not knowing which way to run as the artillery shells came raining in; shells in the form of e-mails, cancelled trade instructions and claims of mis-selling that spelled l-o-s-s to any trader. 

      quantum breach 290709.indd 12
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      A constant volley of shouts—‘I’m down two yards!’ and ‘Jesus!’—

      kept ringing out across the fl oor. Stan just sat there perched on his ball like a big bullfrog, sipping his morning coffee and muttering ‘bloody idiot’ under his breath every time someone stated the obvious. 

      In the midst of this feverish environment, McCabe turned his attention to an email that had just come in. It was from the bank’s CEO. It read:

      None of us has ever seen quite the scale of dislocation and
disruption in our fi nancial markets that we have experienced
this year. To put things in a clear perspective, there has been more
volatility in the US equity market in the last three months than we
have seen in the previous 50 years. 

      Isn’t that the truth, McCabe thought to himself. He glanced up from his screen to the large plasma TV suspended precariously from a pillar directly in front of him. He could see the image of a rather well-poised, cute blonde newscaster dressed in a black suit with a string of pearls around her neck, her bright-red, pouting lips accentuating her every word. She was reading out the daily Wall Street sound bites, which gave the impression banking was fast becoming the ‘dirty bomb’ of the new world order, the fallout contaminating everyone. She was talking about how the US dollar would weaken in 2009, and how the overall outlook for the next two years was extremely bleak. 

      ‘Bleak? A Siberian snow storm would be more appealing,’ groaned McCabe. 

      As she casually shuffl ed the papers in front of her, the blonde changed the story to the second most talked-about subject of the week. 

      The good old USA was about to elect a new president: not just any old ex-actor, peanut farmer or warmonger, but the fi rst African-American nominee ever was looking like he was going to assume the Oval Offi ce. 

      ‘Would you have ever considered that possible?’ McCabe conjectured. 

      As he reclined back hard in his chair, he whispered to himself, ‘All quantum breach 290709.indd 13
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      this in the midst of a global meltdown. We are entering a Banking Fucking Ice Age!’ 

      Having taken in the news, it was clear to McCabe that the general public were fast beginning to hate bankers. In fact, it was not a profession most bankers were now ready to admit to anymore at parties and social events. This was serious shit and the bankers of the world were looking like the culprits. People were defaulting on their homes and now losing their jobs. Old ladies and retired teachers had lost their entire life savings on the word of a young salesman, who, perhaps, had been momentarily blinded by the expectation of a handsome commission. In hindsight, perhaps all parties should have read the small print with more care and attention; only the lawyers could afford to smile now. 

      McCabe began to imagine the world’s entire salesmen population, guilty as charged with causing the loss of an old lady’s savings, magically morphed into white seal pups and forced to lie on the freezing ice fl oes of the North Pole, waiting for the angry mob, representing the public at large, to come and club them to death. And the big sad eyes of those salesmen could do little to abate the mob’s anger. 

      As he swivelled around in his chair, he could see out of the large windows that ran down the entire length of the Dealing Room: the streets below were fi lled with such people, not knowing how much they had lost. People that would, given half the chance, take up position on the ice fl oe with their clubs in hand. 

      In the past 24 hours, one of Wall Street’s oldest banks had collapsed. 

      Requests for funding from the bank’s sleepless, yet overpaid board members to fl ush their accounts had borne no fruit and the bank was left to the mercy of the asset-stripping vultures. In reality, the greedy board members were probably more worried about their bonus pool than the hundreds of staff beneath them who were now about to get their walking papers. 

      McCabe had received 15 calls himself that morning from the new jobless. But these were real people with mortgages, kids and debts, not the CEOs who, in McCabe’s opinion, should go into their garden quantum breach 290709.indd 14
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      sheds, sit down in their rattan garden chairs, consider the families they had now impacted—the jobless fathers unable to feed their kids, the old ladies who had now lost their entire life savings—and dutifully blow their egotistic and supposedly well-educated brains out. 

      McCabe disliked with a passion the pompous ex-Ivy League consulting fi rm partners who now formed the upper management layers of many banks. He thought they were bloodsucking leeches constantly looking for a new host to feed upon, leeches that dropped off when full of blood on a body which had been bled to death. In fact, he had already seen a few of these walk in his front door, having been promised guaranteed bonuses and fat salaries, as if they knew any better than he did. 

      McCabe brought his fi st down hard on his desk. ‘Damn it! What’s happening to the world?’ As he turned back to his computer, he could see that the euro and the US dollar were also falling like stones, red arrows blinking at him as if it were not obvious what was going on. 

      And all around him, the panicked cries continued as he half-heartedly listened. 

      ‘Oh Christ, I hear Bear Sterns is about to collapse!’ cried one trader, now standing in the middle of the fl oor like a dumbstruck ape. On hearing this, McCabe’s face drew taut. He wondered if his own bank would even last the day. It was like each bank was a domino lined up for a cheap trick: one fl ick and they all come crashing down. To make it worse, the fi nger that triggered the fall belonged to a kid who had no idea what he had just set in motion. 

      At 45, McCabe was already too old for this game. He could feel the burning acid in his stomach, and for the fi rst time in years, he felt helpless and very vulnerable. He could feel his hands clenching and his foot tapping the fl oor, a nervous reaction to the fact he knew he had just lost US$20-million off his own book and that was a position that would be hard to close out. It would take him at least a week or two to bring it back to a level position for the bank—if indeed he ever could. 

      It was entirely out of his control given the market conditions; it might quantum breach 290709.indd 15
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      even cost him his job and that of his entire team. How could he live with that? 

      As the world around him seemed to rush past in a stream of moving bodies, he suddenly thought of his brother Steven, who was at Barings Securities in 1995 when a rogue trader brought it crashing to its knees. 

      He recalled his brother’s account of an incident that still brought a smile to his face. 

      Steven was standing in the plush marble foyer of the Cadogan Gardens Hotel in Chelsea, London. ‘Steven McCabe. You have a reservation for me,’ he had informed the desk manager, his tone direct, given he had just stepped off a long fl ight from New York. He then presented his corporate Amex card. 

      The rather tall manager had promptly spun a copy of The Sunday
Times around on the counter with his bony fi ngers and smirked, ‘Will that be cash, sir?’ 

      Not knowing anything about the collapse, his brother was taken aback and literally felt sick to his stomach when he glanced down at the newspaper. The headline jumped out at him and grabbed him around the throat: ‘Barings Collapsed—Rogue Trader.’ To this day, he still tells the story at dinner parties. 

      McCabe was not like his brother though; Steven was a banker through and through, the benefi ciary of a public school education. 

      After graduating from Durham University with honours, Steven had entered one of the City of London’s fi nest banks as a fresh graduate and had never looked back. His was a world of Saville Row suits and black, handmade Church’s shoes. 

      Mark was the family black sheep, always in trouble, and he had never liked to study. His parents, both proud people—his father was a wealthy landowner from the south of England, his mother a doctor who ran a surgery in the local village—favoured Steven; they were proud of his academic prowess. Mark was more the hooligan who mixed with the wrong crowd. 

      One time, his father had turned away one of Mark’s friends, Paul quantum breach 290709.indd 16
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      Brown, when he had arrived at the house unannounced. His father had claimed that Paul, when last at their home, had stolen a £5 note out of his wallet. Paul, a small, spotty boy with ginger hair, was from the local council estate, scum as far as his father was concerned. 

      Steven’s friends, the sons of bankers and lawyers, were always warmly welcomed at the vast farmhouse. His mother often made them tea and cakes when she was not working in her surgery. They were not the social outcasts whom Mark mixed with. 

      But one thing Mark did learn that his brother did not: it doesn’t matter how much money one has. Mark was always welcome in the homes of his less affl uent friends and they shared everything. Aside from this, he also learnt how to fi ght; his fi sts became his particular source of pride. 

      Mark McCabe was a complex, strong-willed, highly intelligent and very proud man. His charismatic charm could win over the most hardened of women, yet he had a distinct raw edge. Physically, he presented a powerful fi gure, his body toned and muscular. Standing six feet tall, he had piercing jade-green eyes and dark, rugged looks. His dark brown hair always looked like he had just climbed out of bed. To anyone that did not know him, he didn’t look his 45 years; more like 35 

      and extremely fi t. The savage scars that marked his body were the only visible clues to a torrid and secret past, his mind was still sharp and very quick. He dressed simply, always in blue jeans and a cotton shirt; he was not the polished, suited-and-booted banker his traditionalist bosses would have liked, but he made money, and that was all that mattered in the sycophantic banking world. 

      McCabe was a man who walked with a purpose, solid in his stance as if always ready to react to anything that caught him by surprise. 

      Some of his friends and workmates knew he had a dark past, aware that he had served in the elite British armed forces. But what he had seen or been involved with, no one could empathise with. To his mates, he was a loyal friend, one of the boys; at times he showed a deeply sensitive side to his character. Only he knew that the corporate image cloaked an quantum breach 290709.indd 17
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      iron-hard, restless warrior that had once answered to a higher code, a code of secrecy and covert operations. 

      As he continued to observe the market meltdown, his nerves tight and on edge, McCabe began to wish again for his past, when life seemed more straightforward. Army days were certainly more dangerous, he thought, his mind fl ashing back through the dark corners of his mind. 

      He rubbed the tip of his index fi nger on his left hand with the tip of his thumb, as he so often did when in deep thought. He could feel the numbness and tingling sensation on the tip of his fi nger as he rubbed, the result of a severed tendon in the days when he felt like more of a man and less like a corporate chicken forced to lay golden eggs. 

      A cold cup of coffee sat on the edge of his desk, just in front of a photograph of his eight-year-old daughter Elizabeth; she was his main reason for living. The coffee had a fi lm of sour milk on the surface; he had not even glanced at it when the pantry lady had placed it there at 7:00 a.m. that morning. McCabe always had time for her; she may have been old and hunched over, but McCabe respected her. Despite her years and having to still work to support her aged husband, now crippled with arthritis, she always smiled and treated McCabe to milk with his coffee. McCabe never complained about the fact her sense of smell had clearly faded, and the milk was so often sour. 

      As McCabe sat perched on the edge of his seat, the Dealing Room entered a different phase of weirdness. Suddenly, it was deathly quiet. 

      The market had almost stopped dead. No one, it seemed, wanted to play. No one was dealing. No one was selling. No one, it seemed, was willing to take any further risk. Most of the trades associated with the Wall Street icon’s collapse had by now been closed out and traders were just sitting around wondering what to do. It was as if a bomb had gone off and the only survivors were now emerging from the rubble, devoid of all their senses. 

      Ying Lee, a young and highly intelligent junior FX Options trader under McCabe’s mentorship, pulled up a chair and sat down beside him. She was a classy 26-year-old Singaporean willowy ‘babe’ with long, quantum breach 290709.indd 18
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      raven-black hair and a smile that would melt steel. ‘Hey boss, good morning!’ she said, her smile radiating its warmth. 

      ‘Nothing good about it, Ying. Have you not seen the news?’ McCabe bit back. 

      Ying sat motionless and stared at him, somewhat taken aback by his dark mood which was very out of character for McCabe. Normally he was a model of control. Ying was deeply worried about what she had come over to tell him. She would just have to risk another blunt response. 

      It must be this stupid market, making him crazy, she thought. 

      The day McCabe interviewed Ying she was seated in one of the glass meeting rooms on a sunny Monday morning, dressed in a sharp black suit, her long hair piled up on her head with a delicate pair of what looked like chopsticks crossed to hold it in place, sprouts of hair sticking out. Her long legs were crossed neatly over each other, angled out from under the table. Her high, black patent heels completed her sharp look. Beneath her deadly attractive Asian looks was a brain that ran on overdrive, a highly tuned fi nancial modelling machine that bordered on genius. A complex math calculation was to her nothing more than a few seconds of thought. It was the numbers that could not be reconciled that got her heart racing. When McCabe entered the room that day, he took an instant shine to her. Instinct told him she was real, a loyal and sharp girl who would go far. He hired her before the day was out. 

      As McCabe reclined in his chair, his legs stretched out in front of him and his hands resting behind his head, his nostrils fi lled with the scent of her perfume. He noticed it was ‘Pleasure’, his favourite scent on a woman. It descended around him like a mist and made the world seem calm for a few seconds. She beamed another big smile at him, and crossed her long legs, which sported a brand new pair of Jimmy Choo heels. Ying couldn’t resist spending her money on shoes. 

      ‘We’re running a 20-million long position in euro. You want me to sell out, boss?’ Ying then held her breath, half preparing to run for it. McCabe turned sharply as if about to deliver a verbal torrent, then quantum breach 290709.indd 19
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      something made him pause. His mind started to churn. 

      Why the hell was he doing this, putting himself under such stress, and for what? Profi ts for a bank that in reality didn’t give a shit about how people felt, so long as the revenue line kept going up? Even if he did make his revenue target, his bosses would simply increase it the next quarter. It was like a fucking egg timer—just as the sand ran out, it fl ipped over and started all over again. It was only a matter of time before the regulators descended upon every bank and enforced stringent controls and lending policies with an iron fi st . Banking would never be the same again; making money in future would not be so easy. Perhaps this was a sign, a sign that he needed to call it quits and move on. 

      McCabe sat almost rock still, drifting off into deep thought, racing back to a wet and windy afternoon in May 2002 when he last felt really alive and free, not suffocating like now under an avalanche of long positions and falling profi ts. 

      McCabe was focused on the cracked shear bolt that had just broken off with a loud bang. A rock hidden in the grass must have hit the cutting edge of the 40-inch blade and caused the bolt to snap. This was nothing new to McCabe. The bolt, made of light steel, was designed to shear off when the blade hit a hard object, preventing the expensive mower blade from getting damaged. As he bent over the mower slung behind the tractor, the smell of freshly cut grass fi lled his nostrils. 

      To McCabe, being out in the fresh air was heaven. He could see swallows diving down, picking out the grasshoppers and other insects the mower had churned up. In the distance at the far end of the fi eld, a young deer had ventured out of the woods to eat the fresh shoots of grass, its ears pricked up, alert and listening for any signs of danger. 

      McCabe loved to observe the deer and wild boar that roamed the estate. 

      Their sense of awareness always made him smile and he appreciated the fi nely tuned instincts these animals had. 

      Then, as quickly as it had appeared, the deer turned and jumped quantum breach 290709.indd 20
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      back into the woods. McCabe knew that it had seen or sensed something. He himself then strained his eyes and ears to see if he, too, could sense what had startled the deer. At that second he felt light raindrops on his face and knew that the black clouds approaching from the west would soon bring heavier rain and a thunderstorm. He was fully accustomed to reading the weather. 

      McCabe went back to his task and deftly worked the two spanners in his hands to thread and replace the broken bolt. One last yank and the bolt tightened against the nylon nut and all was secure. He placed the spanners back in the toolbox mounted on the left side of the tractor’s chassis and climbed back into the driving seat. The tractor was an old red Massey Ferguson 523 that had been used in the vineyards for the past 20 years. Despite the choking plumes of black diesel smoke it emitted, it was a true workhorse. As he lifted up the mower on the two hydraulic arms, he pulled off towards the barn located only a few hundred yards away. 

      Domaine de Vin was a small estate spanning 100 acres of arable land and forest, located in the Gers region of southwest France. The nearest large town was Agen, an hour away. McCabe had bought the place as an investment and for somewhere to escape, knowing he could always roam free and not be bothered by too many people. McCabe liked his own company, and often walked for hours in the woods, exploring the remains of old watermills along the streams that could be found dotted in amongst the forest. The house sat proudly in an open area of land surrounded by fi elds of sunfl owers, an oak forest, grape vines and a large lake situated to the southeast. Cork trees still grew in clumps around the estate. The local gypsies arrived each summer to harvest the bark to make corks for the Armagnac, the main product of the region. Wild boar and deer were frequent visitors to the lake as were the family of muskrats that lived in the reed beds. It was an idyllic place. McCabe felt at peace there. 

      On his way back to the barn, McCabe suddenly pressed his foot down hard on the brakes, sending him and the tractor lurching forward. 
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      The large treaded tyres bit hard into the soft wet soil, leaving dark ruts as they skidded. His ears had detected a sound, so familiar in fact it was one that triggered his senses into a state of alert, his head now frantically turning from side to side to pinpoint the source, his heart pounding in his chest, his body now taut as he jumped off the tractor. 

      Before he could fully focus, the Lynx AH 7 helicopter loomed up hard and fast behind him over the tree line on the edge of the fi eld to the west. The jet wash blew swirling rain downwards and stinging across his face as it passed overhead. McCabe’s eyes were now squinting in the rain to make out if it was a civilian or military helicopter. The Lynx banked around sharply and came in hard at the top of the fi eld, narrowly missing the spaghetti mix of phone lines which hung precariously on wooden poles. McCabe stood perfectly still as a dark fi gure jumped out and started towards him. The rain now driving hard into his face, he could only just make out the chiselled features of a man hidden within the blue anorak hood. No obvious weapon was in his hands, something McCabe always looked for. 

      As the fi gure drew closer, instinct kicked in: McCabe reached into his jacket pocket, amongst the string, toffee wrappers and old tissues and took a fi rm hold of his pocket knife. He always carried a knife when on the estate, just in case. His hand deftly extracted the four-inch, razor-sharp blade and held it up against the inside of his wrist. He was now ready to strike if the need arose. McCabe disliked strangers, especially ones who fl ew in by helicopter unannounced. 

      Slowly the stranger in the blue anorak drew closer, and McCabe did a double-take. He could now make out the face. 

      ‘Good God alive,’ McCabe muttered to himself. 

      It was Brian Stowe. Stowe was a government man, an MI5 spook, but certainly not a typical grey ghost. His aggressive edge and lack of control often exposed his true identity, an identity more in line with a paid mercenary. His presence alone could make your blood run cold and the tiny hairs on the back of your neck stand up. Stowe now lived a life of deceit, his identity changing more often than his socks. He answered quantum breach 290709.indd 22
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      to an authority of espionage, fi erce loyalty and a requirement of absolute secrecy—in short he was an instrument of death and deceit. 

      Stowe and McCabe shared a long history, having met whilst trying out for selection into the Parachute Regiment. They were both ‘crap hats’, the affectionate name for any raw recruit who had not yet earned the coveted Red Beret. McCabe and Stowe had been paired in one of the many initiation tests known as Milling (a form of no-rules boxing until one party was knocked out or quit). Neither Stowe nor McCabe went down from the barrage of punches exchanged between them; as a result, a mutual respect developed between them. 

      Together, they represented a pair of 38-year-old hard cases with military records that would impress the most cynical of battle-tested soldiers. Having both joined the Parachute Regiment at the tender age of 17 in 1981, a year later they found themselves embroiled in the Falklands War and trudging through the mud, grass and sheep shit in order to help liberate the island. As their exploits continued over the years, they both elected to try out for the notorious elite SAS, a selection process that has seen the most agile and hardened of men fail. 

      McCabe passed fi rst time, more due to his ability to blend in and not stand out. He was the defi nitive ‘grey man’ who passed all his tests but kept his mouth shut. Stowe, on the other hand, needed a second attempt. Not that he wasn’t super-fi t and smart: he was just too good and made it known by mouthing off about how easy it was. SAS 

      instructors hated attitude, especially from big mouths who had not yet passed their strict criteria. ‘Who Dares, Wins’ was only for those they accepted; ‘Who Boasts, Gets Fucked’ was kept for upstarts like Stowe. 

      Undeterred by having been failed, Stowe trained every day for three months with an ex-trooper by the name of Taffy. Taffy, a giant of a man and one of the regiment’s legends, ran him ragged, ate his Mars Bars, sucked his boiled sweets and showed him no mercy at all. Stowe was fi nally badged at the tender age of 22. Eight years later, unlike McCabe, he was recruited into the service of MI5. 

      Stowe was well spoken with a clipped, public school accent. To a quantum breach 290709.indd 23
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      stranger, he would have appeared to have grown up in some place like Surrey. This was, in fact, far from the reality of his grey, cold Glasgow estate roots. He was the defi nitive hard man with the emotional range of a rock, perhaps the after-effects of constantly seeing his mother beaten to within an inch of her life by his drunken father. He stood at 5 feet 11 inches, a solid stature, with dark brown eyes and often long, messy brown hair. The dark stubble around his strong jaw line was fi nished off with a pure white-toothed smile. 

      McCabe suddenly regained his focus when Ying tapped him on the arm. 

      ‘Boss, you okay?’ 

      ‘Yeah, I’m fi ne. What’s up?’ He felt like he had been dragged back to a world in which he did not belong. 

      How long have I been reminiscing? he thought, as the image of Stowe still hung in his mind. Straightening himself up in his chair, he spun around to face his screen, saw the currencies were still dropping like stones, and knew he had to sell out his long position—and fast. 

      Looking at Ying with concern written all over his face, his eyes dark and sunken, he said, ‘Yes, do it. Do it now.’ 

      He banged down the mouse of his computer hard on the desk to demonstrate his frustration with the loss he knew he would make. Ying fl inched and quickly stood up, turned and started to walk back to her own desk situated across the other side of the Dealing Room. As she walked, she deliberately swayed her hips. She knew that every trader in the room would stop and follow her back with their eyes. She was hot stuff and she knew it. 

      As McCabe sat at his desk rubbing his thumb on his left index fi nger and looking at the other traders still running around with panic written all over their faces, he knew that life at BCB that day was for sure far better than at most other banks. BCB had, via a series of shrewd investment and cost control moves, coupled with what seemed to be quantum breach 290709.indd 24
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      good strategy, remained isolated from the credit crisis in the US. But now the global market was affected with the impact hitting everyone, irrespective of which bank you worked for. 

      Banking is a game of opportunity and risk; calculated risk supposedly, but greed and self-gain was the endgame for many. Bonuses are the white rabbit all bankers in their wonderland chase, the ticket to fi nancial freedom. However, one small mistake can cost millions, and the dream can be shattered in an instant. The dreams of many that day were, for sure, on the rocks. For many, there would be no second chance. 

      Cry not for the warrior who dies by the sword, but the innocent victim of his acts, McCabe thought. He knew all too well this warrior code. It was no different for the bankers of this modern-day battlefi eld of money, greed and political power. 

      McCabe was on extended time: 45 was way past the sell-by date for any trader worth his salt and he knew it. As he scanned the Dealing Room, he could see young guys who could be no more than 26 or 28 

      who were essentially doing the same job as he. The girls seemed to be even younger. The only difference was he had to manage some of them, but that was more just making sure they turned up each day. Not at all like the time he had a platoon of men to lead. What chance then for an ex-soldier and banker if his bank collapsed or he was fi red? None at all, was his sense. 

      He suddenly felt alone and insecure. His heart was racing, his throat dry, his mind full of unanswered questions. His fi sts were clenched so tightly, the blood was draining from his hands. How could he afford the expensive school fees for his daughter, Elizabeth, if he lost his job? The school she went to was the British school in Singapore and the fees were $8,000 a term. Kelly, his ex-wife, also lived in Singapore, only a few miles away from him. She could not afford the fees on her own. They had both agreed that she would move from the UK so that he could see Beth every day and he would pay her rent and Beth’s school fees; a good deal for him, considering everything. He could see in his mind the joy quantum breach 290709.indd 25
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      on his daughter’s face when she went off to school each day. She loved it and was doing very well there, top grades in her English and math. 

      What if he was let go for a younger, smarter trader? he thought. He still had a mortgage to pay in London. This is clearly not a good day at all, he thought, as he felt his heart racing faster and faster. 

      ‘Damn it!’ he erupted, thumping his fi st down hard on the desk. 

      Glances from other traders momentarily fell upon him, their own conversations not even halting as they turned their heads. But the blank stares soon dissipated as a feral shout was a very normal occurrence in their fi eld. He had to do something, and fast, to scramble out of the rut. After all, this was why they paid him: to make decisions, make money and mitigate risk. The trouble was that risk—of a very different kind—was what sparked McCabe’s true talents. 

      Knowing he was about to lose the plot, the anger and frustration mounting inside him, he stood up and decided to leave for the day. 

      Grabbing his bag, he headed straight out of the offi ce for the gym. He needed to punch nine bells of shit out of something. 

      Twenty minutes later, given the gym was only a short walk away, he sat alone, hunched over his knees on a small wooden bench in the boxing gym, staring blankly down at the fl oor, his hands twisting a small tatty white towel he used to wipe off the sweat from his face, as if he were trying to wring the neck of a rabbit. His stress began working its way out through his fi ngertips. The smell of sweat and mouldy leather hung in the air. 

      As he sat there unaware of the other people around him, the wooden slats of the bench reminding him it was not intended for long stays, he began to focus on the realisation that he was in a false world. It was a world that served greed and had no real value in his eyes. Why did he suffer the stress of his job each day, the constant pressure to make money for the bank, the sleepless nights when he ended the day on a loss position, knowing the next day he would have to walk in with a confi dent look on his face and square the position and once again try to make a profi t. It was millions upon millions he played with each quantum breach 290709.indd 26
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      day, more money than he would ever see in his working life, but he gambled it like it was nothing at all. In a strange way, when displayed in such large numbers, money seemed to lose its value, the reality of the amount hidden behind its computer image. His job was nothing more than legitimised gambling. 

      His eyes widened as he lifted his head. He had concluded it was all about the damn money, just the money! God, what had his life amounted to? He was a corporate number on an HR balance sheet and his master was greed. As that realisation hit him hard, he straightened himself up and threw the towel down on the fl oor in front of him. 

      Reaching inside his green canvas sports bag, he pulled out his boxing gloves. They were black and worn from the years of pounding bags and other boxers’ faces, perhaps long past due for renewal, but he loved them. They were soft and supple and felt good on his hands. 

      As he pulled on each one, he felt a second wind fl ush through his body, like a surge of energy. He stood up from the bench and banged his fi sts hard together. He was looking forward to this workout and he was determined now to punch out his anger and stress. 

      McCabe trained twice a week at the gym, a place owned by his good friend Ian Caswell. The two of them often sparred together. Both being hard boxers, they provided each other with a tough workout. McCabe respected Ian and had grown to like him over the years. He respected the devotion Ian had to coaching young kids and youths who had fallen off the rails, and to charity events for the blind. McCabe also respected Ian for his simple but dedicated lifestyle. 

      Boxing had become popular in Singapore ever since McCabe ran an event with an ex-boot neck pal, Simon Jones—Black Tie Fight Night, a gala dinner held at one of Singapore’s premier hotels for 700 corporate guests and the who’s-who of Singapore. A thousand people had turned up that June 15, 2006. It was fi lmed by the local TV station and drew fi ghters from around the Southeast Asia region. The title showcase event was between Daudi Bhari, the reigning Asia Pacifi c welterweight from Indonesia, and Bart Abapo, a hard street-fi ghter from Manila. The fi ght quantum breach 290709.indd 27
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      went ten rounds, with Daudi narrowly retaining the title. 

      McCabe was actually more focused on the celebrity DJ who sat beside him that night, his date for the evening. In his eyes, she was beautiful. Her eyes were like black pools of rain. The relationship faded out, however, just like all his other attempts at romance. McCabe had trouble holding down any relationship since his divorce and an affair that had ripped his heart clean out. He had anger deep within him, dark ghostly anger that turned him cold and distant. When these dark moods descended upon him, he drove away everyone, even his closest friends. He would delete phone numbers, cancel appointments, hide himself away. His own solitary company was the only safe haven. Days later, he would emerge as if nothing was wrong. His women, however, would not tolerate such crazy behaviour. 

      As McCabe stood in front of the heavy leather bag suspended from an iron girder above his head, his punches drove into the bag with increasing power, his fi sts driving home his frustrations with every punch. As each punch landed, the bag swung away despite its weight of almost 200 pounds, while the thick chain holding it rattled against the girder above. Sweat began to run down his face in torrents, his eyes stinging but intently transfi xed on the bag. It was as if he had stepped out of the body in which he felt caged and suffocated, the body of a corporate banker. His spirit was now far away in a land of gun smoke and adrenaline. 

      After an hour of relentless and ruthless punching, he stood back, his arms falling limply to his sides. His sweat began to drip onto the fl oor, his entire body was drenched. His hands were throbbing from the hard battering he had given the bag. Something had changed within him: he felt lighter and more alive, his breathing steadied as his head began to clear. As he walked into the changing room and sat back down on the wooden bench, his mind once again drifted away. 
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          France, May 2002 
        
      

      The rain was hard and carried an icy chill that afternoon when Brian Stowe arrived unannounced by helicopter at Domaine de Vin, the secluded French estate McCabe had bought a year or so before. The house was set down a long, narrow, sandy track which wound its way through an oak wood almost a half-mile off the main road. Only a few of the local people of this beautiful corner of southwest France would even know it was there. Given its proximity to the Spanish border and the Pyrenees mountain range, 25 miles directly south, it had beautiful mountain trails that McCabe often took his daughter exploring. They would spend a few hours walking the narrow rocky pathways and playing in the icy water of the mountain streams. 

      McCabe would dutifully explain to his daughter the various aspects of mountain safety, how to observe the weather and not get lost. Not that she could understand any of this at the tender age of two. 

      McCabe loved the outdoors: the air was pure and it somehow energised him and cleansed his soul. He felt his spirit was free there. To him, the small fortune he had spent doing up his home was worth every euro. It was his castle and he felt safe there. 

      As Stowe walked up to McCabe, he pulled down the hood of his anorak. The two of them stood for a minute or two looking at each other, as if trying to psych each other out. Finally, McCabe offered his right hand, which Stowe received with a fi rm grip and shook. 
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      ‘It’s been a long time, Stowe. Never thought I would see you again. 

      I hear you’re a spook now.’ McCabe showed no emotion in his voice, yet the wry smile on his face clearly showed he was pleased to see his old friend. A smile broke on Stowe’s face. 

      ‘Yeah, I’m a grey ghost now. It’s kind of nostalgic we meet again, don’t you think?’ 

      ‘You know what nostalgic means? It’s another word for new pain from an old wound,’ McCabe replied sarcastically. 

      Stowe half-smiled, but knew it was a deliberate dig. The pair of them turned and walked towards the farmhouse that sat on the edge of the fi eld some 500 yards away. McCabe felt the mud squelching underfoot as he walked. He also noticed out of the corner of his eye another man running off towards the far side of the fi eld. They were both silent. Not a word was spoken until they reached the house and went inside, the warm air from the house hitting them both in the face as they stepped inside the kitchen. McCabe pulled out a chair at the kitchen table and gestured for Stowe to sit down. 

      ‘So how have you been?’ asked Stowe. 

      ‘Good, no complaints,’ McCabe responded. 

      Stowe’s eyes were focused on McCabe. The pair of them not only sounded overly formal in their words, but they were acting like a pair of boxers sizing each other up before the big fi ght. 

      McCabe started fi lling the kettle—hot tea was always a welcome drink for any visitor—but then he suddenly paused and put the kettle down on the draining board. Stowe picked up on this gesture, his eyes now focused on McCabe’s back. McCabe turned and walked very slowly around the kitchen table, his steps deliberate, his eyes scanning the side windows of the kitchen to his right. Not once breaking his stare, which was directed on the outside, he edged around to the back door. His movements had been so purposeful, not at all casual, that Stowe had immediately detected that McCabe had seen something. 

      Pausing for a few seconds, McCabe saw the shadow move again, this time outside the back door. Nothing escaped his attention. With one quantum breach 290709.indd 30
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      smooth action, McCabe opened the back door and stepped outside, a few moments later returning, pulling in with him a small weasel of a man by the scruff of his neck. Before the man could utter a single word, McCabe had brought up his knee directly into the man’s groin and slammed him down onto the hard stone fl oor. A boot delivered with some force to his ribs to fi nish him off followed. The sharp scream of pain was instant. Stowe remained seated as if nothing out of the ordinary had happened. 

      ‘Still have the edge then, McCabe,’ Stowe said calmly. 

      ‘One of yours, Stowe?’ McCabe spat out. 

      ‘Yup, he’s one of my boys,’ Stowe admitted. 

      McCabe’s tone was angry. ‘Thought so. You know better than to have one of your men sneak about without me knowing. I saw him the moment he left the heli. What’s the deal?’ 

      ‘Can’t be too careful these days. You might have gone soft. Or turned rogue, for all I know.’ 

      The man lying on the stone fl oor was Kevin Wells, a junior spook, fresh out of the spook classroom, assigned to Stowe for six months. 

      Stowe was to teach him the art of MI5 covert fi eldwork; surprising given Stowe had an appalling track record for his trainees staying alive. 

      Cautiously Wells started to get to his feet, holding his side. The boot to the ribs had most likely cracked one of them. Wincing with pain, he glared at McCabe. Then his stare fl icked to Stowe. Stowe’s eyes were sending a clear message: ‘Leave’. Realising this, Wells turned and walked out, muttering under his breath. 

      McCabe considered that had it been him thrown to the fl oor, a fresh young spook with his arse kicked, he would defi nitely seek revenge. 

      Losing face in front of your boss is never a good thing. This Wells fellow would be the butt of all jokes back at Thames House. 

      The two old warriors sat and drank tea laced with Grouse whisky for what must have been two hours. For a while it was like the old days at Hereford. They talked about the missions they had been on together when fi rst assigned to D Squadron. 
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      ‘So why did you leave the regiment?’ Stowe asked with a conciliatory tone. 

      ‘You know bloody well why,’ McCabe spat. 

      The history behind McCabe’s anger was still fresh in his memory. He had taken a bunch of police offi cers on a personal protection course in Herefordshire back in late 1993, six months after he had returned from a mission in Asia. Stowe was one of the instructors that day. McCabe was at fi rst delighted to have his old buddy on the same course, but Stowe overplayed his role that day and, in McCabe’s opinion, caused the death of one of the police offi cers. 

      Live ammunition was being used in a particular Killing House scenario. Killing Houses were mock-up buildings, like movie sets, only more macabre. Often made of grey breeze block or thin wooden walls, they had rooms, stairs and windows. They were typically used to practise 

      ‘Immediate Action’ hostage recovery plans. The smell of gun smoke and gas grenades was impregnated into every nook and cranny. 

      Terry Cole, an ex-Green Jacket turned police offi cer, had enrolled in the course, learning the art of close protection. After ten years in the police, Terry fancied his hand at being a bodyguard, though ‘close protection offi cer’ had become the more hip and trendy term for it these days. 

      The small arms session was an introduction for the candidates to shoot off a few rounds at strategically placed targets using a Browning semi-automatic 9mm pistol. Stowe took the fi rst session, a simple room entry, a hostage sitting in a chair. Terry was to act as the hostage. 

      Few knew what really happened that morning when the candidates all came running out of the Killing House screaming, ‘Someone get a fucking ambulance!’ Meanwhile, Terry lay there with a neat hole in the centre of his forehead. An ambulance would serve no purpose other than to remove his body. He was stone-cold dead. Terry’s brains were now a permanent feature of the room. 

      McCabe later heard that Stowe was showing off. Stowe loved to show his prowess with a 9mm. The rumour that later circulated around the regiment bar was that Terry had panicked and stood up from his quantum breach 290709.indd 32

      8/24/09 11:10:36 AM

      Mark Powell

      33

      chair as the instructors stormed in hard and fast. Stowe had accidentally slotted him, aiming at what he thought was a safe distance above Terry’s now neatly punctured head. Depending on the amount of pints consumed at the bar, the story got translated a different way, this being that Stowe wanted some live-bait action and simply slotting Cole for the fun of it was his way of getting some kicks. 

      McCabe knew that Stowe had recently come back after a leave of absence from an injury. This meant he was hard-wired and very edgy. 

      Stowe had no place being on the course as an instructor so soon after coming back from sick leave. He should have taken some down time. 

      The truth is no one other than Stowe really knew what happened. 

      Subsequently, since McCabe was the offi cial person in charge of training that day, both he and Stowe were forced to undergo some very severe interrogation, almost being discharged from the regiment. Given Stowe’s record and the fact he was still recovering from his injuries, the powers-that-be pulled a cover-up and Stowe got off free of all charges. ‘Not enough evidence to convict.’ It was recorded as death by misadventure whilst training. The video tapes of the day’s event were nowhere to be found. 

      McCabe was not so lucky: he had his record marked. The fi nding was that McCabe had been careless and should have ensured that the candidates and instructors were properly managed during training. 

      Bitter at being dragged through such an ordeal and having his fl awless record marked, he left the regiment months later. Stowe stoked the fi re by accusing McCabe of being soft. That was the last time they had seen each other before Stowe’s surprise arrival by helicopter at McCabe’s French farmhouse. 

      What Stowe never knew was that in the fi rst half of 1993, it was McCabe who had saved his skin from the drug dealers in Myanmar. 

      Stowe had been captured and tortured along with another man whilst on a reconnaissance mission to expose an opium cartel. He had taken a bullet that day and passed out before he recognised McCabe. The irony was that Stowe had been a hostage in the exact same scenario Terry Cole quantum breach 290709.indd 33
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      had portrayed that fateful day at the Hereford Killing House. 

      Stowe was now hoping the past was the past and was here to offer in his own non-sensitive style an olive branch. More, he wanted McCabe’s help. The mission, as Stowe started to explain, was to eliminate an active terrorist cell operating in London, part of an extremist group by the name of Afzal Jihad (The Superior Struggle). One of the cell leaders was a former member of the notorious Hezbollah Party of God. Their cause, which was once fi rmly rooted in the struggle to protect Islam, had now been tainted and diverted away by the smell of money, extortion, kidnapping and drugs to fund their cause. The members of Afzal Jihad were deadly and hell-bent on performing terrorist acts and senseless acts of violence for the highest bidder. Their employers were often not, as you would expect, Islamic fundamentalists, but governments and organised crime syndicates. 

      ‘Why me?’ asked McCabe in a highly suspicious tone, his eyes now beckoning for a suitable reply. Before waiting for one, he followed up with, ‘You must have guys who like wet work. I’m careless and soft, remember?’ McCabe’s tone was cutting and bitter. 

      Stowe paused on hearing this. He was about to reply with something along the lines of ‘Come on, McCabe, that is all in the past,’ but he knew McCabe was still bitter. Instead, Stowe stared intently at McCabe and uttered one single word: ‘Kate.’

      McCabe’s expression immediately changed, his eyes dilating, his face almost frozen. This one small word had, for a few moments, rendered him speechless. McCabe put his head down and stared into his mug of tea, his mind rocketing back to when he had fi rst met Kate. 

      He recalled that it was almost eight years ago now, not long after he had left the regiment: May 18, 1994, a few days after his own birthday, a birthday he had spent bored rigid on a plane from London to Kuwait sitting next to his latest client, the executive of a large oil conglomerate who snored incessantly, his breath smelling of stale beer quantum breach 290709.indd 34
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      and crisps. McCabe had attended a dinner party held at the British ambassador’s residence in Kuwait. The guests were a mixture of oil and gas executives, ambassadors, corporate Yes-men and people like McCabe, bodyguards who were just grey men looking in. The guests were all sipping champagne and engaged in idle gossip that evening when Kate Marshall entered the room. 

      McCabe was nicely positioned in one corner of the large reception room where he could observe everyone. He spotted Kate immediately. 

      The chemistry was overwhelming as her eyes locked onto his. She broke a smile that warmed him down to his polished shoes as she walked on by, her arm gracefully linked through the shadow of a man who escorted her, a man that McCabe cared to not even remember. 

      McCabe spent the entire evening like a love-struck schoolboy, just looking at Kate. She was elegant and sophisticated with a grace he had rarely encountered before. Her smile beamed confi dence and intelligence, evident from the way she could engage in conversation and appear polite, yet extract herself when she wanted to move on, the other person not aware of her intent and the fact that they could not hold her attention. 

      Kate Marshall was a doctor working with the UN, having graduated from the Johns Hopkins medical school in the US with honours. Her family was rooted in nearby Bethesda, an affl uent enclave of high-octane professionals. Kate herself came from a long line of distinguished doctors and eminent surgeons. Her father and both of her older brothers were renowned in the fi eld of cardiology and now professors at respected medical schools. 

      McCabe had simply walked right up to her and informed her that he was the only man alive that could protect her. His bold approach had taken Kate somewhat by surprise, but it was an instant success. 

      His good looks obviously helped in this regard. Before long, they were embroiled in a torrid affair. 

      McCabe was technically still married, but had been separated from his wife Kelly for almost a year. Kate was also married—to a fellow doctor, a high-fl yer in plastic surgery with a very lucrative quantum breach 290709.indd 35
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      practice in Harley Street, London. Kate described it as a marriage of society and convenience. McCabe didn’t care; to him Kate was the near perfect woman. 

      Most importantly, Kate seemed to understand him. She grew very close to McCabe over the nine months they were together. She could read his every thought, she could touch his heart. She often held him in her arms at night when he woke up from the nightmares, drenched in sweat and out of breath, the ghosts of his past life come to visit and torment his soul. She made him feel real, respected and loved. Kate had somehow found the key to his heart, which for so long was closed shut, and in those few months she had unlocked it and walked right in as if she had always belonged there. 

      Kate was on a mercy mission in Beirut. It was just after the New Year of 1995 in London when the news came via phone at 3:00 a.m. 

      McCabe was at home asleep, his clothes strewn at will around his bedroom, the result of having just ended a babysitting job for a movie star who was worried he would be crushed by the New Year revellers in London’s Leicester Square after his movie premiere. McCabe had needed a drink after that job; a few had in fact passed his lips. The smell of Irish whiskey was now prominent in the air. 

      As he awoke violently to the sound of the ringing phone, still half asleep, his head pounding as if the blood vessels were on protest, he reached over and grabbed hold of the receiver. Before he could ask who was calling, he heard, ‘McCabe, listen carefully. It’s your friend Kate. 

      She’s been abducted.’ 

      The words slowly started spiralling around his semi-conscious mind, echoing in his head as if trying to jerk him awake. As it dawned on him what the voice had told him, his eyes started to open. 

      ‘Abducted, by whom?’ McCabe instinctively enquired as if on autopilot. 

      ‘Hezbollah,’ the voice said, knowing these words alone would be like an adrenaline shot to McCabe’s senses. 

      The Hezbollah, the self-styled ‘Party of God’, were a Lebanese Shiite quantum breach 290709.indd 36
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      political party and militia founded in 1982 with Iranian help to oppose Israeli forces occupying southern Lebanon. McCabe struggled for a few more seconds in his half-asleep, badly hung-over state to grasp hold of the voice, a voice he had not heard in a long time. Then it came fl ooding back: it was the voice of Brian Stowe. Dismissing the signifi cance of who it was for a moment, hearing the name Hezbollah, McCabe knew Kate was in big trouble. He lay fl at on his back just staring up at the ceiling, squinting to get his eyes working. Then, as if a bolt of electricity had coursed through his veins, his mind clicked in. 

      ‘When did this happen?’ asked McCabe. Stowe proceeded to tell him that she had been seized two days earlier when her car was stopped at a junction. The Hezbollah squad had shot her driver, then dragged Kate out of the car and bundled her into a van. 

      Still not happy he knew enough details, he shouted, ‘Tell me everything Stowe—and I mean everything.’ McCabe was now fully awake, naked as the day he was born and sitting on the edge of his bed. 

      Over the course of the next half hour, Stowe told him how MI6, with whom he had the pleasure of working from time to time, had received word from one of their top informers, a lady with high-level contacts who went by the name of ‘The Rain Angel’. 

      She had never been seen in person, always contacted via a ‘handler’. 

      The handler was used as a go-between by British Intelligence so as to protect her and add an extra layer of protection for both sides in the event either party was uncovered. MI5 and MI6 often collaborated, but had a tenuous relationship on certain matters regarding homeland and international security. 

      Stowe had kept diligent tabs on his old friend McCabe ever since they had parted company, with the remote hope that one day he could enlist McCabe into MI5. Stowe knew McCabe’s every move, including his relationship with Kate. 

      Her abduction had already caused quite a stir in London. Apparently Kate’s father had just completed a successful heart valve replacement on a senior MI6 offi cial and saved his life. One favour deserved another quantum breach 290709.indd 37
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      in the eyes of the British secret service top brass and the machine was mobilised. 

      ‘McCabe, listen to me, we have a team ready to go in. We are going to extract her in the next few hours. We have been given the precise details of where Kate is being held by our informer; we have every detail. We know Kate is still in Beirut and alive.’

      McCabe listened, then said, ‘Why the fuck did you leave it so late to tell me? I could have been there by now and helped, even led the team in.’ It then suddenly dawned on him that Kate’s abduction explained why he had failed to reach her on his phone, just as midnight struck on Big Ben. He had sneaked off to a quiet spot to call her, leaving his client at the mercy of the New Year revellers. His stomach felt sick at the thought of now knowing why she had not taken the call. 

      Stowe came back fast. ‘Be realistic. For one thing, you are too close to her. You won’t be objective. You of all people should know that. 

      Second, we have only just been given the details of where she is and the clearance to go in, no negotiation. We didn’t even know if she was still alive until a few minutes ago. Not to mention you’re a civilian now. No way you would be allowed in.’

      McCabe knew Stowe had a point. He hated the thought of being reminded he was a civilian and that he was too emotionally involved. 

      He would not have had a clear head to lead her extraction. His fi sts were now thumping down into his mattress, trying to vent his frustration. 

      He felt completely helpless. 

      ‘I have to go. I want to be there when they go in. I promise I will call you back the moment I know more. Okay, got to go.’ With that, Stowe hung up. 

      McCabe spent the rest of the early morning and most of the day in living hell, playing over and over in his head the actions of the combined SAS and Delta Force team that were going in. He could imagine with such clarity the breach that would take place. He could almost smell the sweat and cordite in the air. His fi sts were swollen from thumping his wall and anything else he could vent his frustration on. 

      quantum breach 290709.indd 38

      8/24/09 11:10:37 AM

      Mark Powell

      39

      He stared at the phone, willing it to ring, often picking it up just to prove the dial tone was okay. He desperately wanted to hear Kate on the other end letting him know she was safe. 

      His breath was now tainted with the distinctive smell of Irish whiskey, the only thing keeping him sane. He had even neglected to call his daughter, to say ‘Happy New Year’, a fact that made him feel really guilty and a bad father. Shit, what a screw-up, he thought. He was tearing himself up, falling apart and failing, it seemed, to protect those he loved. 

      He had paced like a caged tiger up and down his bedroom countless times, sitting down and getting up. He had turned on the TV in the vain hope of getting news, as if it would be on the BBC. 

      Daft prick, he thought. 

      The hours that passed were agony. Even stepping outside and pounding the pavements, desperately trying to run off his stress, did little to abate his suffering. The love of his life was in trouble and he was powerless to help. 

      Later that evening as the phone rang and McCabe grabbed the receiver, his heart was almost on pause as he heard Stowe’s voice. ‘I’m sorry, mate, we did all we could. Kate … she didn’t make it.’ Stowe knew there was no way of honey-coating this news to McCabe. 

      McCabe instantly replied, ‘What do you mean she didn’t make it? 

      It was a simple extraction? Who the fuck did the job, school boys?’ The anger in his voice said it all. 

      Stowe let him rant on for a few minutes, knowing it would be pointless trying to reason with him. McCabe had just lost the love of his life. He also knew that McCabe would know every move the extraction team would have made. He of all men would know the planning and the risks involved, the routine. 

      After a few rounds of ranting, McCabe fi nally put the question Stowe was dreading: ‘Who planned the breach? I want his fucking head. 

      Who was it?’

      ‘I did, McCabe. I planned it. I issued the “Go”. There was nothing I could do. She was shot as the team breached. Ballistics confi rms it was quantum breach 290709.indd 39

      8/24/09 11:10:37 AM

      40

      Quantum Breach

      not a friendly bullet. Blame me if you wish.’ Stowe was trying to sound sincere, not an easy task for him. Silence greeted him on the other end of the phone for almost two minutes, and then the line went dead. 

      McCabe lay motionless on his bed, his eyes cold, his heart pounding in his chest. He was in shock and adrenaline was coursing through his body. His main thought was that Stowe must have botched the rescue attempt, not planned it correctly, and not selected the best team. 

      He would one day have to pay for that; it was just a matter of time. 

      McCabe then wondered why the fuck had Stowe planned the rescue? 

      He was MI5 not 6. MI5 was homeland. McCabe could not have known that Stowe was being groomed for MI6 work. But the hurt came from deeper within McCabe, from the fact he had not been there. Maybe, just maybe, he could have saved her. 

      McCabe built a mental image of Kate lying in a dusty basement covered in blood. He didn’t pause to wonder why anyone would have wanted to harm a doctor like Kate. He knew what these fanatical groups were like; civilian life was cheap to them. Kate was just in the wrong place at the wrong time. One thing for now was very clear: McCabe wanted to hunt them down and avenge her death. This was now personal, very personal indeed. 

      Stowe slammed his mug down hard on the kitchen table, which brought McCabe back to the present moment. 

      ‘You with me, old chap?’ said Stowe. 

      McCabe said nothing for a few seconds, his eyes staring at Stowe, the memory of Kate and the anger of his recollection still fresh in his mind. 

      As it faded to a level of control, McCabe snapped himself out of it. 

      ‘Yeah,’ he replied. ‘I have waited a long time for this,’ he said with anger still in his eyes. ‘When do we leave?’ McCabe was wound up and ready for a fi ght. 

      ‘As soon as you can,’ Stowe said. 

      McCabe pushed his chair back, scraping the stone fl oor as he stood quantum breach 290709.indd 40
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      up. ‘Right. Give me ten minutes.’ 

      He then headed out of the kitchen and went upstairs to the main bedroom. Entering, he went directly to the large oak wardrobe situated to one side of the spacious bedroom. Opening the doors, he hurriedly grabbed a faded green canvas rucksack and, wasting no time, proceeded to gather and stuff in a few T-shirts, socks, underwear and a pair of jeans, followed by a few basic toiletries from the bathroom. 

      He then walked back over to the large built-in wardrobe and knelt down. He proceeded to lift up a loose fl oorboard with his fi ngertips, just inside the doors. Reaching down inside the opening, he pulled out a rather dirty white cloth. It contained a Sig Sauer P226 9mm pistol, McCabe’s favourite small arm. He carefully unwrapped it and tucked it into the rear waistband of his jeans, allowing it to rest nicely in the small of his back. Just before heading back downstairs, he took a framed picture of his daughter and placed it in his rucksack along with several boxes of 9mm ammo. 

      When McCabe re-appeared in the kitchen, his face was alive, with something almost like a glow of excitement evident. Stowe was caught by surprise that he was ready so quickly. 

      ‘Come on, let’s get to it.’ McCabe grabbed his leather jacket which was hanging on the back of his chair and headed out the door. Stowe and McCabe said nothing to each other on the walk back to the helicopter. 

      Only McCabe spoke, and that was to Michelle, his estate manager, on his way out of the house. 

      They boarded the Lynx and sat down, McCabe placing his rucksack between his legs. The Lynx lifted off almost immediately and started to head north. McCabe looked back down at his house, catching a glimpse of a young deer peeping out from the fi eld of sunfl owers to the southeast in the fading light. He smiled, as he loved to see the wildlife that surrounded his home. 

      Kevin Wells, the rookie spook McCabe had so deftly kicked out of his kitchen, sat opposite him, glaring at him with his cold brown eyes. 

      Seeing that the young spook was weighing him up, McCabe snarled quantum breach 290709.indd 41
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      back at him, ‘You wish to say something?’ 

      Wells just sat there looking at McCabe. He then decided that McCabe, despite his years, would make mincemeat out of him, so he wisely decided to back off. 

      ‘Nothing, just looking,’ he replied, his tone now soft and respectful. 

      McCabe, realising the young spook had made a wise decision not to try and fi ght it out with him, then stood up and reached over, patting him on the shoulder. 

      ‘Sorry about the kicking, thought you were a wild boar sneaking about,’ he said, giving him a wink. McCabe then turned towards Stowe. 

      ‘A wild boar with a boss who can’t protect him.’ McCabe had a tone of sarcasm in his voice. Stowe, realising McCabe was digging at him for not rescuing Kate, just grunted back. McCabe then sat back down, fastened his seat belt and proceeded to close his eyes and get some rest. 

      They had at least two, maybe more, hours to go before reaching the safe house. 

      Two hours later, as the Lynx started to land, McCabe woke up. 

      Glancing at his watch, he realised he had been asleep for almost the entire fl ight. He could see that Stowe was wide-awake, speaking to someone on a satellite phone, his eyes studying the fl oor. The Lynx bumped down hard in a small fi eld located 20 miles north of Brighton in East Sussex. 

      The door suddenly slid open and a rush of turbulent night air hit McCabe in the face as he climbed out, hunched over with the force of the rotor blade downwash. He followed Stowe and another man across the fi eld. He could feel the wet slippery grass under his feet as he walked towards a small pathway on the edge of the fi eld. The path was narrow but paved with stone steps which led upwards to a well-lit house just a few yards away, protected by what seemed to be a thick hedge. 

      As they got close, Stowe led the way through a gate, down a few steps and into the magnifi cent house. McCabe, who had paused on the steps, noticed instantly that it was Tudor, dating most likely to around 1600. The clematis and ivy that cascaded over the front porch quantum breach 290709.indd 42
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      reminded him of his parents’ home, and the smell of the clematis took him momentarily back to happy summers and cool lemonade. 

      Stowe then led the way into a large study which had a roaring fi re blazing in the fi replace. McCabe noticed that the house smelt of oak and brewing tea. Stowe shouted to a man who had walked in behind them to get some coffee and sandwiches on the move and fast, they were all hungry and needed the energy. 

      Turning to McCabe he said, ‘We need to go over the plans, so listen up. The bastards we are going to take out are part of a cell. We are going after their logistics and planning unit, as such we are not expecting much resistance. In addition, we have been told that the main agent is also at the address.’ 

      Hearing this, McCabe let out a soft smile, reminded of his training when his Counter-Terrorist instructor, Bob Willet, a four-foot-short Scotsman with shocking ginger hair, had explained the fundamentals of how a terrorist cell was constructed. 

      ‘Right, ladies,’ as Willet always liked to address a bunch of hardened soldiers. ‘A terrorist cell is made up of several parts. The Recon Unit. They are tasked with observing the target location, providing intelligence back to the main group. Let’s assume reconnaissance on an offi ce building. Next, the Logistics Unit. These little buggers obtain the materials needed for the attack: cars, vans, fake passports, bomb-making materials, safe-houses and so on. Next, the Attack Unit. These are the little devils that carry out the dark deed. Last of all, the Agent. The Agent is the main point of contact, the sleeper, ready to help activate the various units to form the cell. He also helps to provide a legitimate address for any foreigner coming in and is often a prominent citizen of the country in which they set up, with links to the extremist group. 

      Often a doctor or a lawyer, someone who would not stand out, and could operate in the country without drawing too much attention.’

      McCabe recalled it all in detail. Stowe now sounded exactly like old Bob as he ran through the details. 

      ‘So we are all clear, we’re going after the Agent. The other segments quantum breach 290709.indd 43
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      will be hit by other teams later,’ Stowe concluded. 

      ‘Like I said, I’ve waited a long time for this moment,’ McCabe responded, his eyes blazing with hatred. 

      Stowe certainly knew what this meant to McCabe. He had used his MI5 resources to track down the cell. Months of undercover work and monitoring of various addresses in London had been put in. The same informer, that sophisticated woman in her late forties codenamed the Rain Angel, had again come forward on this one. Little was known about her other than the fact that both the CIA and British Intelligence used her from time to time. Stowe had been alerted to her via MI6, but he had never met her. To him, she was only a name. 

      Stowe and McCabe sat around a large oak desk, the top of which was covered in green leather with gold inlay around the edges, deliberating over some blueprints of a house located in the Bayswater section of London. 

      ‘How did you get these, or should I not ask?’ enquired McCabe. 

      ‘The cleaner,’ Stowe replied dryly. McCabe frowned, being none the wiser. 

      After a few hours, a car pulled up outside; Stowe looked up and muttered, ‘Good; that’s our driver. He’ll drive us up to London. We move on the target tomorrow afternoon.’ 

      ‘Fine by me,’ McCabe said 

      It was 3:00 in the morning by the time they reached the fl at situated on the second fl oor of a house in Bayswater. Four other men were already there, sitting around the living room engaged in idle banter: women, beer and recounting songs from their teenage years. Such was the conversation of SAS men on standby. As McCabe entered the fl at, he immediately caught sight of a familiar face: Mooney, a small bull of a man who could walk through walls. This fellow had no neck; his head sat perched on his shoulders like a bowling ball of hard muscle. His chest was solid bedrock. Nothing short of a missile would stop this ugly lump of a man. 

      Mooney and McCabe had served together in Northern Ireland quantum breach 290709.indd 44
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      whilst with 3 Para, and later in the regiment. Mooney, like Stowe, was now an MI5 fi eldwork operative. Stowe had recruited him on account of his ability to remove people from their earthly existence and still have time to brush his teeth. McCabe had once seen him dispatch a suspected terrorist with his bare hands, then turn around and proceed to fi nish his hot dog. 

      ‘McCabe, you old bastard, six!’ shouted Mooney, his red cheeks beaming. 

      ‘Me? You can talk—your mother slapped the doctor when you popped out, three,’ replied McCabe. The numbers were a code to identify agents. They had to add up to nine, and both Mooney and McCabe used them as a form of greeting. The smiles on both of their faces clearly showed they knew each other well. 

      ‘No time for teary reunions,’ commented Stowe. He then rallied everyone around the dining room table for a ‘Chinese parliament’ 

      meeting, which meant that everyone had a say, regardless of rank. Stowe proceeded to replay the plan of action. McCabe was struck by how well planned it actually was. Stowe had clearly spent a good many hours on this. They would enter the house where the terrorist cell was based at 2:00 the following afternoon. The house, Number 72, was located just a few yards up the same street from where they were based themselves. 

      Three points of entry were chosen: the basement, the roof and directly in through the front door. 

      ‘Christ, that’s broad bloody daylight,’ proclaimed Mooney. 

      ‘Yes it is, Einstein,’ replied Stowe abruptly. 

      Alpha, Bravo and Charlie were the call signs to be used by each team. McCabe and Stowe would form Bravo team, going in the front door. Mooney and Smithy would form Alpha team and go in topside through a skylight in the roof, leaving Fowler and Troy, Charlie team, to enter via the basement. The plan required Stowe and McCabe to pose as pest control workmen. The local police were informed to close off the street to traffi c. Gas mains repair work was the offi cial excuse. MI5 

      had surveillance on the house for some weeks. Phones were tapped and quantum breach 290709.indd 45
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      bugs, the electronic type, had been placed in two of the main reception rooms by Aunt May. 

      Aunt May was a sprightly unassuming 65-year-old lady with grey hair and a stoop, posing as a cleaner and housekeeper. She had managed to get a job at the house as a cleaner. Her former years were not actually spent cleaning houses, but bugging them for MI5. 

      One of the phone taps had picked up a call to a local pest control fi rm; cockroaches were infesting the basement and kitchen. Aunt May, upon learning this, exacerbated the situation by spreading the little devils all around the house, carefully replacing the traps with lumps of sugar. 

      This was the excuse Stowe needed to plan a more subtle entry. 

      Ideally he wanted these bastards alive, especially one of the men. 

      He knew that this house contained four Afzal Jihad terrorists, the logistics and planning unit of the larger terror cell. One of the four terrorists had been identifi ed as Bashir Alsud, the Lebanese front man, also identifi ed as the mastermind behind Kate’s abduction. He had been caught mouthing off about kidnapping a UN doctor in a Beirut café. 

      Unfortunately for him, the Rain Angel, the MI6 informer, was sitting right beside him at the time. She gave him up to MI6 as a gift. 

      Upon deeper investigation, it was learned that Kate’s father had operated on her husband. A mitral heart valve had been repaired, and her spouse was all the better for it, a fact she appreciated. Poetic justice was about to be served twice over. 

      Stowe explained that he and McCabe would try and enter the house under their disguised identity. If it worked, they would ensure Bashir was neutralised before they called in the back-up. A full breach was too risky as Bashir was not beyond taking his own life. No way would he allow himself to be captured. Each member of the team had been shown a picture of Bashir, just in case. 

      Mooney was looking at McCabe, who was placing fl ash bangs in his bag. ‘Great fl ash bangs,’ shouted Mooney. He loved them. Mooney was known for his ability to sit in a room with only basic earplugs for quantum breach 290709.indd 46
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      protection, have two of these things roll in and just sit there, calm as you like, as if sitting on the toilet. He held the regiment record for withstanding the effects of these fun devices. 

      ‘You are barking mad, but then again, there’s not too much in that bone of yours to get damaged,’ said Smithy. Mooney just smiled and raised a collegial middle fi nger. 

      They agreed that, upon entry, Stowe would request that all of the occupants move into one room so as to avoid the fumigation gas. It was a tall order to expect them to buy it, but the best chance they had of corralling all the terrorists in one place. 

      The next day, Napier Street Bayswater was quiet with only the odd car passing by as the workmen began to cordon off one end of the street with their orange and white cones. A ginger cat now stood in the middle of the road, not understanding where the normal death threats had gone. Just before 1:30 p.m., the nerves of each team member began to tingle; McCabe was rubbing his index fi nger, which Stowe spotted instantly, making him smile. 

      No matter how many times they had done this, fear was always your best friend. In silence, the six men kitted up, each carrying a Sig Sauer P226 9mm pistol holstered on his right hip. Heckler and Koch MP5 

      machine guns hung across their chests, and there were plenty of G60 

      fl ash bang grenades. Mooney and Troy each carried another piece of joy, a Remington 870 shotgun loaded with Hatton shells. These particular types of shotgun shell were designed for breaching door hinges. The Remy hung neatly at their sides on a bit of bungee chord. This weapon would be used to breach the basement door and skylight. They each ran a radio check to ensure they could hear each other. 

      ‘This is Alpha. Charlie, come in. Over.’

      ‘Roger that, Alpha. Clear. Charlie out.’ 

      McCabe and Stowe stood in front of the team for the fi nal briefi ng. 

      ‘Okay, gentlemen, this is it. Let’s make it count, no men down today, please,’ Stowe said in an almost caring voice. ‘Okay, let’s get into position. Move out!’ he commanded. 
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      With that, Bravo and Charlie teams moved out through the front door of the house just a few doors up from the target, carefully pacing down the now closed-off street, each man carefully following the other whilst scanning the road, rooftops and surrounding houses. A timely wrong number phone call was being placed to at least draw any attention away from the main living room windows. 

      Once at Number 72 Napier Street, Charlie moved swiftly down a set of steps leading to the basement door. Alpha Team had gone up through the house in which the team had been based and out onto the rooftop. The houses in Bayswater were all Georgian-style fl at tops, each one being attached. This made it easy for Alpha team to transverse the rooftop like a pair of fat ballerinas and reach the skylight of Number 72. 

      McCabe and Stowe were now outside the front door. They could hear in their earpieces that Alpha and Charlie were now in position. 

      ‘Roger that standby,’ Stowe softly replied. 

      Stowe had given the squad 20 minutes to get in and out only if he issued the ‘Go’ signal. If not, the teams were to assume that he and McCabe had managed to complete the mission or it was a no go! Alpha and Charlie would only breach once Stowe gave the ‘Go’ order; that was the only signal they would react to. Each team was responsible for clearing its assigned fl oor. 

      Alpha would have to clear the top two levels of the house, given they were going in like Santa Claus and his elves. Mooney sat perched like a fat pigeon, poised and ready on the rooftop, staring out through the round eyeglass of his thick rubber respirator, his breathing now heavy. 

      Stowe stepped up to the door, McCabe at his shoulder. He pressed the intercom button, which buzzed loudly. 

      ‘PestoKill here. Hello,’ said Stowe. 

      ‘Standby, standby,’ McCabe whispered into the microphone of his communication set. 

      After a few seconds, a voice came back through the intercom. The speaker was clearly Middle Eastern. 
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      ‘Okay, you hang on.’ After a few seconds, the door opened and a tall, thin man with smartly trimmed beard stood in the doorway. ‘Come in and be quick.’ 

      That was one of the four, but where were the other three, thought Stowe. ‘I’m Barry and this is Jimmy,’ Stowe informed the man. ‘Are you Mr Azul?’ 

      ‘No, I just work here,’ the man responded curtly. 

      ‘Anybody else here, boss?’ McCabe asked. ‘It’s just we need to gas and can’t have you breathing this shit in.’ 

      The man looked annoyed and cautious but said nothing. He gestured for them to follow and walked them to a door at the far end of the marble hallway. 

      ‘You start in basement. That is where the pests are. You no need be up here,’ the man said abruptly. 

      ‘Okay, but we have to gas on this level too, as roaches start from the roof, mate. They fl y in down the vents and chimneys,’ Stowe informed the man. 

      McCabe almost burst out laughing at that one, but bit his lip. 

      McCabe then heard Mooney splutter into the radio and he knew Mooney would be smirking at Stowe’s pathetic attempts to convince the man. 

      The man paused. ‘Okay, you wait here, I check with my boss. We are in this room, no fi replace, we do business, so no gas, you stay out please, you understand me.’ His hands were gesturing for them to stay put. 

      ‘Sure,’ Stowe replied, raising his hand in acceptance. 

      They placed their black canvas bags down on the fl oor, knelt down and unzipped them. Just as Stowe reached inside his bag, he saw the man fl inch; he seemed to be getting suspicious. The man then walked back and stood over Stowe. 

      ‘You show me what is in the bag,’ demanded the man, his fi nger jabbing the air and pointing at the bags. 

      He was now very agitated. Both Stowe and McCabe knew that if he looked inside the bags, he would see the telltale black stun grenades and quantum breach 290709.indd 49
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      shout for his mates. Game over. This man was clearly no fool. But at least they were inside the house now. 

      As he leaned over to inspect McCabe’s black bag, his eyes straining to see what was inside, McCabe felt the velocity blood spatter across his face, just after he heard the cough of the Sig as it spat out a bullet. The man fell back hard against the wall and slumped down, leaving a trail of blood and brain matter as he went. Stowe had slotted him with his Sig right up under his chin. The man’s eyes rolled back, a gush of air expelling from his lungs. 

      Not waiting, McCabe sprang up and pulled out a fl ash bang, his fi ngers deftly pulling the pin. He then stood to one side of the door where he could hear voices. Stowe followed and stood to the other side, his MP5 retrieved from his bag, cocked and ready. They both pulled down their respirators and looked at each other. 

      ‘Go, go, go!’ shouted Stowe, knowing the teams would now move. 

      McCabe stood back and kicked open the door with one swift kick whilst tumbling in the grenades. A second or two, they went off. A bright white fl ash and a thumping bang echoed around the house. Both were fully accustomed to the fl ash bang effects. Any civilian would be completely debilitated, however. 

      Two men could be seen stumbling around in the white smoke. One of the two men held his hands up around his ears. He was screaming in Arabic while the other was swinging around what looked like a Glock pistol. Stowe dropped both with a burst from his MP5. No time to try and secure them. 

      ‘Two terrorists down. Clear!’ shouted Stowe. 

      Upon hearing the ‘Go’ signal, Alpha had breached the skylight, unleashed a few fl ash bangs and Mooney was already sweeping the top fl oor, drawing heavy breaths through his respirator. Charlie team had breached the basement door. The Remington had dutifully removed the pathetic door hinges and granted access, so they were now inside the basement. Doing a quick count in his head, Stowe knew that one more player was loose in the house, if the Intel he had been given was indeed quantum breach 290709.indd 50
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      correct. One thing he did know was that he was not in the room they had just cleared as the fi rst man down had implied. 

      ‘Alpha Charlie, come in, over,’ barked McCabe. 

      ‘Clear,’ came across the air from Charlie team, who had now swept the basement of the house. This meant the last terrorist was somewhere upstairs. Charlie team appeared in the hallway a few moments later. 

      Stowe gestured for them to stand by, and then for McCabe to follow him. They headed for the stairs. Charlie team would remain on the ground fl oor blocking any entry or escape. Just then, Alpha team came up on radio. 

      ‘Clear, come up— we have something.’ 

      As Stowe and McCabe reached the top of the long winding stairway, McCabe could see, through the thinning gas smoke, Mooney with his boot hard up against the chest of a man sitting against a wall, his hands secured behind him in zip tie-cuffs. Mooney had already given him a good battering by the looks of him. He had blood running out of his mouth and a large gash to his head where Mooney had hit him with the butt of his weapon. 

      ‘This dick is for you, I think. It’s Bashir,’ Mooney said, looking directly at McCabe. 

      As McCabe stepped forward, Stowe put his hand in front of him. 

      ‘We need him alive my friend. Interrogate him.’

      ‘Like hell. This bastard killed Kate,’ replied McCabe. 

      After a brief pause, Stowe dropped his arm. 

      ‘Okay! I will give you this one. But you owe me. Come on, ladies, out of here. Leave our man here to dispose of this piece of shit.’ Stowe gestured to the others to follow him. Mooney gave the man a last kick on his way past. 

      McCabe paused for a few seconds, thinking about Kate, then stepped forward and reached inside his overalls. He pulled out a roll of piano wire. Bashir sat on the fl oor looking at him, his eyes defi ant and cold. He then spat at McCabe. McCabe responded by placing a well-aimed boot directly into his mouth, sending shattered teeth and quantum breach 290709.indd 51
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      blood everywhere. Bashir screamed and started to spit out more blood. 

      McCabe was in no mood for being a nice guy. His heart was full of hate. 

      His killer instinct was now entirely in control of his emotions. 

      McCabe wrapped one end of the wire around the banister rail. 

      The other he started to wrap tightly around the neck of Bashir whilst thumping down on him with his fi sts to render him still. 

      ‘This is for Kate Marshall. Remember her? A UN doctor, you piece of shit! She was there helping your people. The good ones, the ones who deserved her.’ 

      He then hoisted Bashir up and dragged him over to the banister rail. 

      Bashir was struggling and muttering in Arabic. McCabe took a step back and brought a boot down hard on his knee, instantly shattering the joint. 

      Bashir let out a blood-curdling scream and dropped to the fl oor. 

      With that, McCabe took a fi rm hold of him and heaved him up and over the banister, watching him drop. As the piano wire drew taut, his body jerked to a halt, the wire slicing through his neck, just stopping at the bone. Blood poured out of his severed jugular vein, bubbles of air expelled from his neck. McCabe then walked calmly down the stairs, pausing for a second and looking up at Bashir, his limp body swinging. 

      McCabe’s face was expressionless. 

      ‘Justice,’ he muttered. He then continued down the stairs and walked directly out of the house. 

      ‘You okay, my friend?’ Stowe asked when McCabe appeared in the doorway. 

      ‘Never felt better.’ 

      McCabe then paused, looking directly at Stowe, his face only inches from Stowe’s. ‘This wouldn’t have been necessary if a certain team had done its job and saved Kate, now would it?’ 

      Stowe was taken aback by McCabe’s comment. ‘A simple “thank you” would have been nice for getting you this opportunity,’ Stowe replied. 

      McCabe just turned and walked off. 
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      The thin steel locker door next to McCabe slammed shut, a result of the heavy-handedness of its user, and McCabe immediately snapped to, almost ready to draw a virtual weapon from its holster. He realised he was still on the wooden bench; he must have drifted off for a few minutes. His sweat now dried, he could tell he smelt rank. Regaining his composure, he got up, undressed and headed for the shower. His knuckles were swollen and sore. They started to sting under the hot water, but the steam on his body felt good. He loved the feeling of the hot water, his muscles relaxing as each minute passed. 

      After drying himself off, he pulled on his jeans and grey T-shirt. He then realised that by thinking back on his last mission, taking out Kate’s killer, he had in a strange way buried a ghost. Justice in his world had been served. It was also the last time he had seen Brian Stowe, almost six years ago. McCabe didn’t even know if Stowe was still alive. Such a man never stopped moving from one crisis to another, often hiding under a foreign fl ag, which was MI5 code for the many identities agents used. 

      Besides, Stowe was a spook. That meant he would always be a man of the shadows. 

      McCabe smiled to himself as he remembered what had brought him out to Asia under a civilian banner. After leaving the regiment in 1993, he had landed a job as a bodyguard, this being the normal path for most ex-troopers. One of his assignments in 1996—he had taken a slight break after Kate’s death—was to babysit a rich banker quantum breach 290709.indd 53
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      with sensitive bowel syndrome, some chairman of a stuffy British bank. 

      McCabe almost laughed out loud remembering how he spent most of his time standing outside of men’s washrooms, often thinking the only threat this guy had was turning himself inside out and vanishing down the toilet bowl. But at least the job had paid him well. 

      It was here in Singapore that he met Simon Jones, a former 42 

      Commando Royal Marine. He recalled how he was out for a quiet beer at Harry’s bar on Boat Quay. This particular bar was semi-famous; among its customers had been Nick Leeson, the very rogue trader that had brought down Barings and inspired his brother Steven’s dinner stories. Boat Quay was one of Singapore’s more popular hangouts for expatriate bankers and tourists. England was playing at home against the infamous French at rugby. 

      As with most bars along the quay, this one was heaving with expat males drinking beer and being rather loud. McCabe learned how Jones had left the Marines and obtained a job as an FX spot trader via an old buddy of his. It turned out that Jones did McCabe the same favour, introducing him to his boss who was himself ex-army, despite McCabe being 32 years old, which for a novice trader even then was considered too old. Six months later and McCabe found himself sitting behind a desk trading foreign exchange. It turned out he had quite a brilliance for it and was making good money—more money, in fact, than he had ever made as a soldier. After a year, he was given his own dealing book to manage. The only downside for McCabe was that it was a desk job. He felt caged, suffocated. He longed for the fresh air and outdoor life, not to mention the danger that had once motivated him despite the risks. 

      As McCabe fi nished dressing, his mind turned to Kate. As he did so, he could almost feel the tears welling up in his eyes, not that he would ever cry in public. After a few moments, fi nally pulling on his boots, he reached into his back pocket and pulled out his battered brown-leather wallet. Reaching inside, he carefully slid out two pictures from one of the folds. Both bore the crinkled signs of photographs that had been looked at many times. 
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      The fi rst was a picture of his daughter Elizabeth, or Beth, as he called her. She was posing in front of his Ducati motorcycle. McCabe always smiled when he saw her. A real beauty she was. Then he looked at the second picture. It was a photo of Kate standing, as so many tourists do, in front of the Sydney Opera House in a girlish pose. McCabe had been on business, Kate had gone with him, and the picture was taken three weeks before she left for Beirut. He couldn’t bear to part with it. His eyes were transfi xed and full of love. In many ways she was still with him. Jolting back to reality, he placed the pictures back into his wallet, slid the wallet into his pocket, bent down and picked up his sports bag and headed for home. 

      The offi ce was once again a swarming pit of stressed-out traders, running around one minute, deathly still the next. Every day saw the fi nancial markets of the world plunge to even lower depths of despair. 

      Just when people regained a shred of confi dence, another bank would announce to the world that it had lost billions of dollars. This news sent the market once again crashing to the fl oor. 

      Ying bounded up with a surprising spring in her step. The atmosphere was hardly one that infused such happiness, but then again, it was a Friday. Her face was beaming, which seemed strange to McCabe. 

      ‘Boss, I sold out that position for you. We are now fl at.’ She looked like a runway model who just made the big time, dressed in an Anthea Chan suit from her Perfect in Black collection. 

      ‘Okay,’ McCabe said in a tone that implied he didn’t really give a shit. It had fi nally hit him last night whilst at the gym that he’d had enough of this sycophantic corporate world. Banking was nothing more than a pool of feeding sharks. He was truly beginning to hate it. 

      In an attempt to shake him out of his dark mood, Ying piped up, 

      ‘So it’s the weekend. What’s on for you, boss?’

      His head turned suddenly towards Ying. ‘I have my daughter for quantum breach 290709.indd 55
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      the weekend. We’re going to see a movie,’ McCabe answered. This acknowledgment at least drew a smile from his earlier deadpan face. 

      ‘Oh, that is so sweet. Oh, by the way, some guy called for you when you were well-zoned out,’ said Ying, gesturing with her hands as if to imply McCabe was a radical hippie. ‘He sounded kind of cold though,’ 

      she remarked. 

      McCabe looked up instinctively, wondering who it was. ‘What did he sound like?’ asked McCabe, just shooting in the dark to try and establish a nationality at least. 

      ‘Oh, he was … very English. In fact, very well spoken. Said he would call back. Didn’t leave a contact number though. Sorry.’ Ying felt a bit useless and wished she had found out more about the caller. 

      ‘Okay, never mind. I’m sure he’ll call back if it’s important. So what are you working on now?’ asked McCabe. 

      ‘One of the new traders in Dubai, some Brit by the name of John, needs some help. It’s their busy time. They’ve requested I go over for a few weeks to help. Is that cool with you, boss? Can you at least give it some thought please?’ Ying bolted one of her cutest looks at McCabe to sweeten the request. She then turned and tottered off back to her desk. 

      In Dubai the heat was reaching 40 degrees Celsius and climbing. The tarmac on the roads was sticky and pools of tar were visible, looking like dark patches of oil on the surface. Fitting, considering that Dubai’s very foundations were built on the proceeds of such a substance. 

      Harish Aziz, a tall, slim, athletic-framed and well-groomed man with tanned olive skin and chestnut brown eyes, was settling down to start his day. Aziz was a salesman for Commodities products, only a few weeks into his new role at the bank. Not much was known about him other than he had been hired locally. He had simply appeared one morning and begun his activities. 

      To the casual observer, he was an attractive man, though not heart-stoppingly so, with a cool, sophisticated air about him. But on the quantum breach 290709.indd 56
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      other hand, he could also look like an arrogant bastard whose slippery appearance would make you puke. Above all, he was an educated man. His linguistic abilities alone were impressive. He was fl uent in four languages: his native Arabic, English, German and Spanish, with a smattering of Burmese. 

      His days at Princeton had rewarded him with a PhD in physics. Not that he used his qualifi cation now. The lure of money had taken him on a very different path. His family was deep in debt from mounting medical bills. His sister was in need of expensive operations and post-surgical treatment to correct a severe spinal injury resulting from a car crash. A UN truck full of soldiers had supposedly jumped a red light and hit her car, leaving her almost paralysed. As such, Aziz hated the UN and all it stood for. 

      Aziz’s natural intelligence was an asset that now served him well. 

      He much preferred keeping himself to himself, never really entering into any of the offi ce banter. His desk was free of clutter other than one family photograph. At that moment, he sat perched on the edge of his chair, intently studying the profi les of several companies. 

      His eyes were focused on the profi le of Tai Investments Corporation. 

      This was the pinnacle of his client’s power. Tai’s pre-tax profi ts were in the high billions. Strange, Aziz noted, given that Tai Investments had only been established about two years earlier and it had then set up a Special Purpose Vehicle, or SPV as it was known in the trade, Moon Star Holdings Limited, registered in the British Virgin Islands. Nothing new there, as this was common practice by companies to best address their ‘off-shore tax interests’—a polite way of saying ‘tax hygiene’, he thought. 

      He then moved on down the Moon Star organisation structure, searching for two specifi c sub-companies. The instructions his shadowy lady boss had given him were explicit and involved the Al Safad Shipping Corporation, registered in the UAE, and TJ Cargo Pacifi c, registered out of Pakistan. 

      Aziz, now happy that he had easily found the two clients he quantum breach 290709.indd 57
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      had been tasked to look for, started to plan a series of deals for each of them. As instructed, he would approach Al Safad, the larger of the two shipping companies, and recommend they buy a forward option in oil, US$20 million to start, the assumption being that oil prices were set to rise. The second of the two shipping companies, TJ 

      Cargo, would also purchase a forward oil option of US$20 million. 

      Furthermore, he had also been informed that both companies would be depositing an additional US$50 million into an account just for him to speculate with. 

      His bosses at the bank would be happy. Three weeks into his new job and it would appear that he had brought in two clients who would place on deposit US$100 million between them. The deal structures he was to initiate seemed straightforward enough. And it should seem so: for a man with his talents, it was simple stuff. Aziz settled back and started to document the terms against which the various oil contracts would be structured. He had all the time he needed, given Singapore was about to start its weekend, so he would not be bothered by requests from the head offi ce. 
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          Monday, September 22, 2008
        
      

      The rain was falling hard that Monday morning in Singapore, the raindrops beating against the window in waves as the wind caught it, the thunder rumbling overhead. Ying awoke gently, slowly opening her eyes and yawning lazily. She turned her head and glanced across at a small clock squarely positioned on her side table: it was 6:00 a.m. 

      Stretching out her long legs, which almost hung out over the end of her bed, she started to sit up and slide out of her warm sheets, her naked body feeling the damp morning air. She always had the window open at night, and the fl oor was now wet as the rain had been driven in by the strong winds that howled around her tower block. 

      Ying shared an HDB fl at on the 18th fl oor with her two elderly parents and grandmother. Her grandmother, Madam Foo, was now a frail 96-year-old. Her quirky nature made Ying laugh. Her father, Harold Lee Hee Jung, was a 60-year-old taxi driver who simply refused to stop working despite the fact that Ying now helped support both her parents and her grandmother fi nancially, as fi lial daughters often do in Asia. 

      Harold was passionate about his knowledge of the island and was deeply proud to be Singaporean. He knew his history, specifi cally the Japanese occupation during World War II. His own father, a journalist who had been taken as a prisoner of war, had passed down his knowledge. 

      The Japanese had looked upon teachers, journalists and intellectuals as quantum breach 290709.indd 59
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      potential British sympathisers or spies, especially if they were Chinese Singaporeans. Harold loved to talk to the many tourists he collected from the airport and ensured they left with Singapore’s full history. 

      Ying’s mother, Patricia Tan Wei Sun, was a part-time English teacher at the local primary school. She loved kids, which led to her yearning for Ying to marry and provide them with grandchildren. Aside from her teaching, her mother loved to cook, believing that only her food was good enough for her family. Pat, as she was known, frowned at the amount of junk food Ying ate. It caused her great concern, thinking she would die young of some form of toxic poisoning. Ying made a point of never bringing home the products of such disdain to her mother. 

      Wrappers of the burgers which were purchased on the way home after late nights of working were always thrown away before Ying reached her front door. 

      To her parents, Ying was the result of over 20 years of hard saving and sacrifi ce. There had been no big holidays or fancy cars for them. 

      Ying’s university education had cost them a small fortune, but they saw it as worth every cent. She made them proud. Pictures of her graduation were framed and festooned on the walls of the fi ve-room apartment. 

      Housing Development Board fl ats were normally comfortable but basic with regards to the facilities. With her generous salary, Ying had helped her parents upgrade to a larger government fl at that was closer to the city and had more facilities. She had made the decision one bright Monday morning, and they had sold their old fl at and bought the new one with a mortgage that she had taken out with her bank. She wanted her parents to have a comfortable life; it was a way to repay their sacrifi ce. 

      Hull University, the source of Ying’s expensive education, had proved tough for the young Singaporean. It was a completely alien culture to the one she had left. In fact, she had never ventured overseas before. Thailand for the odd vacation was about as far as she had been. 

      But using her looks and brains, she soon became popular in university and graduated with honours. 
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      As she emerged out of her bedroom dressed in a crisp white blouse and black trousers, her hair neatly tied up, Ying looked at her mother, who was standing over a wok making chow mien, fried noodles, for breakfast. 

      ‘Morning, mother,’ Ying said in a soft, respectful tone. ‘Morning, grandmother,’ she followed, gently patting the old lady on the shoulder. 

      ‘Morning, girl,’ her mother replied without even looking behind her. She continued to masterfully stir-fry the noodles with a pair of long wooden chopsticks. Ying hated seeing her mother look so tired, always dressed in a simple fl oral dress with her grey hair neatly brushed. 

      ‘Father still asleep?’ enquired Ying. 

      ‘Yes. You know your father. He was up late again last night.’ 

      ‘He should stop, mother, I can afford for him to rest. You, too,’ said Ying in a caring yet confi dent tone. 

      Her mother simply turned round and gave her a knowing look, one that said, ‘Girl, we are okay, stop your fuss.’ To Ying’s parents, asking them to stop working was tantamount to almost killing them. In all their life, they knew only work and sacrifi ce. They longed for the day Ying would meet a suitable young man, preferably a doctor or even a lawyer, someone of good social standing. 

      This type of expected life was not so attractive for Ying herself. 

      She was independent and only went out with men when she was in control. Ying had very few boyfriends. She always described herself as a ‘swinging single’, a term which basically meant she went out with as many guys as she wanted without getting attached. The real truth was she had not yet met someone who fulfi lled her demanding criteria. Ying wanted a practical man with intellect and depth of character, solid and sensitive. These were the qualities she most respected. 

      Ying arrived as she always did at 7:30 a.m. and sat down at her desk. She had barely settled in when McCabe walked over and sat down beside her. ‘Morning, Ying.’ McCabe paused. ‘You know what you need? A change.’ 
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      ‘Really, I do,’ Ying replied. 

      ‘Yup. You need to be exposed to new products. I mean, you have been stuck on the same boring product types for months. Get yourself out to Dubai for a few weeks. As you said, they need the help. It’s their busy time of year.’ 

      ‘Really? Wow. I would love that. You have no idea how much that means to me. Thanks so much, boss.’ Ying started to almost bounce up and down with excitement. 

      ‘Okay, calm down. I suggest you book a fl ight for tomorrow afternoon, no sense in waiting. If I remember correctly, there is an SIA fl ight at 4:50,’ McCabe informed her as he got up and paced back to his desk. 

      Ying then realised she had very little time. Hardly time to pack, she thought, but knowing that staff in the bank were fully expected to leave for another location with very little notice. That was banking: money was money and a social life was a luxury. But she at least wanted to go, so it was no hardship. 

      Ying completed her work early that day. She needed to get home and pack, but more importantly, she wanted to pick up a roast duck at the Crystal Jade restaurant just around the corner from her home. 

      Her parents would love that—a treat before she told them she would be away for a few weeks. Her mother would be most distressed to know she was fl ying off, so the duck would calm her down a bit. She loved duck. Actually, she loved any excuse to have her homemade plum sauce, her favourite. 

      The enticing aroma of roast duck heralded Ying’s return. Her mother was at the door and hugged her as she always did when Ying reached home. 

      ‘Oh my, what have you there, dear?’ her mother said, as if she could not tell. A wry smile on her face gave it away. Her mother also knew that Ying had something to tell them; she only bought food back when she felt guilty. 

      As her mother set the table they all sat down to eat the duck. Ying quantum breach 290709.indd 62
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      looked at her parents as her mother masterfully pulled the duck meat off the bone using only a pair of tablespoons. The smell was so lovely. Ying felt happy, happy in the thought she had such great parents. She also felt good that she could now support them. As they ate the duck, Ying could see how happy her mother was. With her hectic work schedule, Ying did not often make it home for dinner these days. She decided to wait until the next morning to break the news. A family dinner like this was too good to upset. Pat, on the other hand, already suspected some news was coming; such were her maternal instincts. 

      Ying settled herself back into the luxury of her Business Class window seat. Her long legs stretched out in front of her; this was indeed the only way to travel as she sipped her champagne. Economy was the normal class, but McCabe wanted her to be happy and had approved her travel. Ahead of her was the oasis of wealth, ruled for decades by a family of honour, respect and dignity; a fact that fascinated her. 

      As the mile upon mile of rolling sand dunes scorched by the sun started to dissipate, an oasis of blue, gold and silver—represented by triumphs of manmade architecture—punched their way out of the sand skyward, as if to greet her. It excited her to fi nally arrive in Dubai and to know that shopping adventures awaited her in the world’s fi rst shopping resort. 

      After the non-eventful fl ight and a good night’s sleep, Ying stepped out of the taxi in Dubai just outside the plush offi ces of Banning Capital Bank, dressed in a smart grey suit with a light blue blouse, perfectly tailored to her athletic fi gure. It was the beginning of a perfect day in the emirate. The temperature was a soaring 38 degrees. She felt refreshed and excited about her fi rst day here, the chance to learn new products and to meet some of her Dubai colleagues face to face. 

      As she walked in through the revolving doors with a confi dent stride, she was hit by a waft of cool air. She observed the marble and gold decadence and fresh fl owers which sat upon a glass table in the quantum breach 290709.indd 63
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      lobby. The walls were covered with what looked like (and she assumed was) expensive art. She then noticed a wide, sweeping staircase with an escalator to one side that descended down about 20 steps to what looked like an underground shopping mall. Great, she thought to herself, there’s time to grab some coffee. 

      As she stepped off the escalator, almost slipping a little on the polished marble fl oor, she poised herself and headed for a coffeehouse nearby on the left. Her eyes caught a glimpse of a man walking directly past her. His eyes appeared to be scrutinising her from head to toe. Ying could see that he was not an Emirati dressed in his fi nest dish dash, but a Westerner in a grey tailored suit. 

      Probably just a frustrated husband with an overactive sex drive who fancied something Asian to look at, she thought to herself as she walked past, switching her attention to the fi ne jewellery shops and designer boutiques. She bought her coffee, looked for a seat, then settled into a comfortable leather armchair and sipped her skinny latte. She glanced down at her watch to check the time: 8:20 a.m. She had half an hour to kill before it was time to head into the offi ce. Nine in the morning was a luxury for her, but there was no point in arriving too early since she had to wait for John to arrive and settle in before guiding her on where they needed the help. 

      Ying loved to observe people; she loved to take in the various fashions people wore. Settling down, she started to look at the different people who crossed her line of vision. Most looked like offi ce workers or shop assistants. Then she noticed the man who had walked past her earlier. This time he made a point of winking at her as he confi dently strode past, his boyish face revealing only the slightest of smiles. He looked as if he was in his early to late twenties. Ying loved to try and peg a man’s age. She also took in that he looked fi t and strong. Ying could feel her sixth sense telling her this was not a man of mediocrity; he had a presence about him, an air of extreme confi dence. 

      She smiled back, fl attered by the fact he had winked at her and he was just her type: handsome. Ying loved the odd fl irt. Her mother quantum breach 290709.indd 64

      8/24/09 11:10:38 AM

      Mark Powell

      65

      would not approve of such non-traditional behaviour. She smiled, thinking of her mother wagging a fi nger. She gathered her phone and purse, placed them in her bag, then got up and walked smartly out of the coffeeshop, heading in the opposite direction to her admirer. Not wanting to appear obvious, she tried to resist looking over her shoulder to see if he was looking. But the temptation was too much. So slowly and provocatively she turned her head and glanced over her right shoulder. The mystery man was nowhere to be seen. She found herself feeling almost disappointed. That confi rmed it: he must have been just a fl irting nobody and she should forget she had ever seen him. With that, she turned back and walked off towards the offi ce. 

      On entering the Dealing Room, she was escorted by one of the department secretaries, Sophie, a rather chubby yet polite British lady with very poor dress sense. Sophie had secured a role at the bank; her husband was working in Dubai on a building contract and they needed the extra income. 

      ‘You can use this desk for the week, dear,’ Sophie explained. 

      ‘Thanks,’ Ying replied. 

      ‘The pantry and washrooms are on the left, past the glass offi ce. If there’s anything you need, you can fi nd me just over there, dear, okay?’ 

      Sophie explained, pointing to a desk a few yards away from where Ying would be sitting. 

      Ying sat down and powered up the computer on the desk. Each computer in the bank was generic, only requiring a personal password which limited the access rights to the bank’s many systems and applications. 

      Might as well get on with it, she thought. As she entered her computer log-on, John arrived, a young man with clean-cut, boy-next-door looks and a fresh complexion. 

      ‘Good morning. You must be Ying. I’m John.’ Ying spun around and took in the sight of John reaching out to shake her hand. Her mouth fell open. It was the handsome man who had winked at her only a short while ago down in the shopping mall. 
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      ‘It’s you! Oh my God,’ Ying replied somewhat embarrassed. 

      With that, John just smiled. 

      ‘How did you know it was me, and why did you not say “Hi”?’ Ying was now stumbling for answers. 

      ‘Not that many Asian girls around here for one thing. And I thought it would be a laugh, no offence,’ John replied

      ‘Oh, very funny.’ Ying was not amused, thinking, in fact, that he now looked a bit geeky and not so handsome after all. 

      ‘So great that you are here to help. It’s hellish busy here.’ 

      Ying’s eyes were still showing that she was none too impressed by his joke. ‘I’m here to help and learn. I’m specifi cally interested to learn oil and precious metals. So who is best placed to start showing me?’ she asked. 

      ‘Oh right. Yes, of course. Well, I can.’ John’s face showed his keenness to help. 

      ‘Great. Let’s get on with it then. Time is money, right, John?’ Ying replied with a hint of authority and sarcasm. 

      After about half an hour, having logged on to his own computer, getting himself some coffee and chatting to a few guys around him about his previous night out, he fi nally turned his chair towards Ying and started to show her what she had come for. 

      Ying quickly worked out that John was only going over the high-level basics of the products, like the description and basic usage, not the complex pricing and risk calculations she loved. She wanted much more detail. She also worked out that John seemed somewhat out of place, almost as if he was new himself to the trading game, but she could not quite place her fi nger on the issue. 

      Then, out of the blue, John leant over. ‘Would you like dinner later? 

      I can show you the sights.’ 

      ‘Sure,’ Ying replied. She felt almost fl attered by his sweet invitation, thinking this would be fun. She had never been out with a Western geek before. 
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      Harish Aziz jolted as the phone rang on his desk. He picked up the receiver. 

      ‘Morning, Aziz here. How can I help you?’ he said just in case it was an external client calling. 

      ‘Okay I need you to listen,’ the voice on the other end of the phone commanded. Aziz almost froze. He said nothing as he sat waiting for his next instruction. The voice on the other end of the phone confi rmed that Aziz should trigger the deals he had been informed of a few days earlier. The only change was that the deal size should be increased from US$20 million to US$50 million. He was also requested to calculate an oil price for each company, a price that would be alarmingly high for Al Safad. The other price, for TJ Cargo, was to be made acceptable. Just before the phone went dead, he was also asked to run one last check: he was to confi rm when the bank had last validated the board members of Moon Star Holdings, the Tai Investments SPV. As the phone went dead, he slipped it back into its cradle and started to tap vigorously on his keyboard. 

      After a few minutes, his eyes were taking in the details before him. 

      He had found in the company database the background of the two shipping companies, now displayed in front of him. It seemed that the companies were old clients of the bank, prior to their purchase by Moon Star about six months earlier. The fact that interested Aziz even more was that the ‘Know Your Customer’ checks banks use to ensure the legitimacy of the companies they deal with were not being done again post the acquisition. This was a stroke of luck for him: it meant less red tape. It seemed that the structure of the holding company and the two shipping corporations combined would provide the perfect Trojan horse to execute his plan. 

      It was now 4:00 p.m. Ying was happy she had completely absorbed the basic knowledge of Commodities. Sitting back in her chair and tilting her head back, she closed her eyes and thought of her mother. She quantum breach 290709.indd 67

      8/24/09 11:10:38 AM

      68

      Quantum Breach

      would be clattering pans around the kitchen after a busy day teaching 20 noisy children all eager to learn English. Letting out a sigh, she needed to relax for a few minutes. The day had been long and intense. 

      Learning such products was tiring, but she loved it. 

      Just as her eyes closed, the phone rang. She opened her eyes wide and looked at it, thinking she would ignore it and just continue to zone out for a few more seconds, despite the fact the Dealing Room was still very active and noisy. Somewhat reluctantly, she leant forward and pressed the conference button. 

      ‘It’s me, McCabe.’ 

      Ying sat bolt upright and picked up the receiver. ‘Hi, boss. What a nice surprise,’ she said with real excitement. 

      ‘Good. Got settled in there okay, then?’ asked McCabe. 

      John turned his head slightly, as if trying to listen in. He had heard it was McCabe before Ying picked up the receiver. 

      ‘Yeah, I’m great. Really good day so far,’ she replied. 

      After a few minutes of general chit-chat, McCabe closed it off by saying, ‘Okay. As long as you are okay, I will let you get on. Talk again soon.’ 

      ‘Okay, boss. Take care, yeah, and thanks for the call.’ Ying rang off. 

      ‘Who was that?’ John enquired, knowing full well who it was. 

      ‘Just my boss in Singapore, Mark McCabe. He wanted to make sure I got here okay,’ 

      ‘What’s he like?’ asked John, 

      ‘Oh, very cool in fact,’ Ying replied, not thinking too much about it. 

      ‘So what’s his background? Always been in banking, I expect.’ John was more poised in his question this time. Ying noticed this and thought it a bit odd John was so keen to learn about her boss. 

      ‘Why do you ask?’ 

      ‘Just interested in case I need a good boss,’ John responded, sensing Ying was on to him and went back to his work. 
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      Later that evening, John paced up and down the lobby of the Hyatt Hotel, his hands in his pockets, an apprehensive look etched all over his face. Ying appeared from the lift lobby dressed in a short black dress with gold high-heeled sandals, a long string of pearls knotted in the centre hung around her slender neck, her hair down and looking extra silky. John stopped dead in his tracks and almost felt the blood rush to his head. 

      ‘Hi,’ Ying beamed at him. 

      ‘Good evening, Ying. You look great,’ John replied, a certain charm in his voice. He was now very different from the brash young boy Ying had met in the offi ce earlier that day. 

      ‘So where are we going, handsome?’

      ‘The Madinat. It’s a popular tourist spot full of chic restaurants, boutiques and very happening bars. I think you will like it,’ John explained. 

      As they exited the hotel, John hailed a taxi from the waiting queue. 

      As the taxi headed off towards the main expressway, John couldn’t take his eyes off Ying, who was now gazing out of the taxi window at the Dubai landscape which was illuminated by the moon. 
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      As the door swung open, the shadow of a woman entered and grew on the wall, adding to the macabre, gloomy atmosphere of the damp, foul-smelling room. As the woman slowly approached the shivering fi gure of a fair-skinned Westerner, naked and tied to a chair in the middle of the room, no words were uttered. Only the sound of her heels on the concrete fl oor was evident to the man’s now heightened sense of hearing. 

      As she stopped and stood beside him, the man’s head nervously twitched from side to side, trying to locate the direction of the noise. 

      His vision had been blacked out by the dirty canvas bag which had been placed over his head and tied around his neck. He was unaware that the infamous Rain Angel had arrived and was now looking down upon his bloodied and bruised body. He had been worked over by the two Thai men who were standing in the room with her. Their punches had shattered his right cheek bone, broken his nose and severely bruised his kidneys. His cries of innocence had done little to abate their perverse thirst for pleasure. But despite their ability to beat someone up, they had failed their boss. They had failed to extract the exact whereabouts of the missing drug money he had supposedly misappropriated. 

      Abruptly turning towards the two men, both small, sinewy Muay Thai boxers, she spat out a few harshly edged words in Thai. She was asking if they had found out anything at all as a result of the beating quantum breach 290709.indd 70
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      they had given the man. As the hesitant reply hit her ears, she was less than happy to fi nd out nothing. 

      She bent forward, placing her mouth only a few inches from the man’s covered head. ‘Now Clive, I am your friend, your only friend in this miserable world. Where is my money?’ she asked in a soft tone. 

      After a few seconds, his head turning, he replied, ‘I don’t know, I swear I don’t know, boss. Please. I really have no idea.’ His voice was trembling and sounded like a small boy pleading with his mother. 

      Clive was far from being a small boy. He was an American, Caucasian, 36-year-old former shipping logistics offi cer with an international shipping corporation based in Thailand who had fallen on hard times, the victim of the ‘Bangkok freefall syndrome’—meaning he had fallen victim to the many girlie bars with the sorrowful stories of poverty and their need for help. This had only resulted in his every dollar being drained away, followed by his losing his job and becoming virtually destitute. 

      He had been picked up drunk in a backstreet bar one night by a rich Thai woman by the name of Mrs Siraporn. This most elegant of society women was known for her love of white slaves. Clive was for many months used and abused by her for her perverted pleasure. She treated him like a pet dog: he was kept chained up in her house, forced to give her and her friends sexual pleasure and worse. Finally, bored of him, she was about to cast him back out onto the street. 

      As luck would have it, one of her more powerful friends, the Rain Angel herself, could use him. She gave him money, cleaned him up and restored his position at his old company via a number of high-powered, rich and infl uential contacts she had. He was to facilitate, with no questions asked, the shipping and arrival into a number of international ports of large containers of tobacco—which in reality meant opium, the product of the so-called Golden Triangle. He had also overseen the arrival of a very special container, one that contained 20 million in cold, hard US dollar-denominated cash, but it had somehow vanished. 

      ‘Clive, I am your only chance, but I can’t protect you again if you quantum breach 290709.indd 71
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      don’t tell me where my money is. In fact, it is not all mine. My partner is a very unpleasant man. He is the head of the Thai drug cartel and has very little sympathy for people like you. More importantly, he will not be very pleased with me if I have lost the money, and I can’t have that now, can I?’ The Rain Angel retained her calm as she spoke. 

      ‘I don’t know, I swear, please,’ Clive repeated. 

      Hearing this, she stepped back and beckoned with her fi nger to one of the men who was standing somewhat lazily now in the far corner of the room, bored by the fact he could not deliver more punches to the prisoner. He jumped when he saw the signal. Bending down, he picked up a bucket of cold water. As he hurried over, his boss took hold of it and, despite her feminine frame, easily lifted it up and poured it right over the man’s head, sending him into a series of jerky spasms as he fought to gasp air. 

      Clive felt himself drowning as the water soaked into the bag pulled over his head. His lungs were desperate for air but another load of water followed. He choked and spluttered, fi ghting to breathe. It was a process that would continue for the next hour. 

      This form of torture had earned her the moniker Rain Angel. Her approach was at fi rst always pleasant and caring. Then, if defi ant, the victim would be liberally doused with torrents of cold water, simulating the effects of drowning. Most men broke after a few hours. If not, some never recovered and either suffocated or had heart attacks. 

      ‘You have now crossed the line. Where is my money? You alone knew when the container docked and where it was to be stored at the dock. You were the only one who knew the container number, so where is it?’ she said, now extremely angry. 

      Clive just sat motionless, his head drooped forward. He was barely conscious, having had at least ten buckets of water poured over him, the soaking bag over his head almost suffocating him. He was brought back to semi-life by a punch to his head, one that jerked his head violently backwards. 

      After another 20 minutes of water torture, Clive fi nally broke, in quantum breach 290709.indd 72
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      soft, barely audible tones. ‘Please, I beg you—stop. I’ll tell you. 

      ‘It’s in … a container on the west side of the dock, number Z … 

      B … 9778. I swear it. Please forgive me,’ he continued, before fi nally blacking out. 

      Hearing this, the Rain Angel took out her mobile phone and called a local number. Speaking in Thai, she uttered only a few words, enough for the man on the other end to understand her instructions. She then rang off and proceeded to walk around the room like a caged animal, looking at the now still fi gure of Clive in the chair. 

      After 30 minutes or so, her phone rang. She picked up the call and just listened. After a minute, she clicked off the phone once more. The man on the other end had confi rmed that the shipping container ZB-9778 had indeed been found, just as Clive had said. Her cash was now back in her hands. 

      As she started to walk towards the door, she paused. ‘Good boy,’ she said to Clive. 

    

  
She then raised her eyes and looked at one of the Thai men, as if to signal Clive’s doom. Then, without another word, she walked out of the room. As she walked, a small smile appeared on her face, knowing she could now report back to her business partner, Mr Surat. 
Surat was a rather tall Thai gentleman with shiny black hair. He looked distinguished in his usual attire, which was a dark blue Zegna suit and Hermes tie. Surat headed the Thai drug cartel and was an extremely unpleasant man, not known for forgiving those who betrayed him. It was rumoured that in his early years, he personally killed three former members of his own cartel with his bare hands, using only a splinter of bamboo to sever the arteries in their necks. 
This was a man who had nothing when he was born, his family being dirt poor. He had climbed out of a Bangkok gutter and made his own fortune. He could now pay for people to be removed and not dirty his own hands. These days, Surat was more interested in acting as quantum breach 290709.indd 73
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CEO for the many companies he invested in. He had one ambition: to legitimise his own pedigree. That, coupled with the fact he hated Westerners with a deep-rooted passion. His younger brother had been killed in Myanmar in 1993 by an SAS hit squad; Surat vowed revenge. 
The Rain Angel had been introduced to him a year earlier at a society function in Bangkok. Surat had married into a rich Thai family, his wife a society name despite her love for white male slaves. He was now into fi nancing arms deals with his billions and loved the introductions the Rain Angel engineered for him to certain Middle Eastern clients. It was a partnership that worked. Mrs Chamat, if that was indeed her real name, was useful to him. 
As the Rain Angel exited the building and stepped into a waiting limousine, there was no need for her to wait or even worry about what happened to Clive. In the hours that followed, he was literally used as a punch bag and beaten to death for his acts of betrayal. 
As her car pulled away, she instructed the driver to stop off at her hotel, the Sheraton, located on Sukumvit Road. He was to wait for her whilst she collected her luggage and then take her directly to the airport. 
Her next appointment was in Dubai, and she had much work to do. 
The rewards of her pending trip could be the best yet, she thought, as she smiled to herself and settled back in the comfort of her limo. 
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Aziz sat down at a small table located in the back of the café. He was nervous; the beads of sweat on his forehead gave it away. His eyes darted around the café to observe who was around him. His fi ngers were drumming the table in expectation of someone arriving, someone who was clearly late. He glanced at his watch; it was now 8:30 p.m. Looking around the café in expectation of his guest’s arrival, he noticed a man sitting near the door. 
‘Hell,’ he thought. ‘It’s someone from the bank.’
He slowly tried to sink down into his seat as if to minimise himself from view. Just then, a lady appeared in the doorway. She was neatly turned out in a blue dress with an opulent gold necklace around her neck. Her mid-forties age was hidden behind well-crafted make-up and an expensive hairstyle. From her facial features, she appeared to be perhaps Lebanese. She stood there for a few moments as she scanned the room. Spotting Aziz hidden in the back corner, she walked up to him and sat down. 
She started speaking to him in English, to lessen the chances that those at the other tables might eavesdrop. ‘Listen carefully, Aziz, this is important,’ she said in a domineering tone. Her accent was clipped and very British. ‘You must initiate the deal tomorrow, without fail. Do you understand me?’ 
Aziz took in the instructions and simply nodded, accepting everything he was being told. Once fi nished, she got up, turned and quantum breach 290709.indd 75
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walked out of the café, not even bothering to say goodbye or appearing to have known Aziz well at all. Aziz wasted no time waving to the waitress and gestured for his bill. When it arrived, he glanced at the total, and then placed 40 dirham on the small white plate. Not waiting for his change, he hurried out. 
Ying was enjoying John’s company as they sat by the manmade canal with its crystal-clear blue water, eating their meal. Steak with piles of mash potato and thick gravy; not your typical Middle Eastern fare, but this particular restaurant was known for its steak. Ying established that John was well-educated, having graduated from Oxford with a fi rst in economics. Better still, he made her laugh. She asked him what he liked about economics and John replied, ‘Economics is a bit like pissing down your own leg: it seems hot to you, but not to anyone else.’ 
Ying could not help but laugh. He seemed to have so many stories to tell, especially about his childhood. Ying was clearly amused. She liked his intelligence and wit. She found herself liking him, which surprised her, given she had thought him a total prat earlier in the day. 
Once the meal was over, John grabbed her by the arm and took her inside the bar. It was famous, known for its great live music. As they walked in, passionately entwined bodies fi lled the area between the bar and the band. Cuban music was being played, and that was the only excuse John needed to let his hair down. 
John took Ying by the hand, his right arm now gently placed around her slim waist. He then led her expertly around the fl oor. John, it seemed, really knew how to salsa and cha cha. Ying loved it. 
After a few dances, John escorted Ying back to the bar. ‘What will it be, Ying?’ 
‘Oh, just a beer, please,’ Ying replied. She was now sweating and the ice-cold beer felt so good. Leaning on the bar, John decided to slip in a few more questions about McCabe. 
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‘So this McCabe fellow. Come on, tell me more about him.’ He leant forward and beamed a smile at Ying. 
‘Well, he is not all he seems. He was in the army. A tough guy, I think, special forces and all that,’ Ying replied John listened intently and allowed Ying to chat on. After about an hour, he had confi rmed what he needed to and gestured for the bill. 
‘Come on, Ying, time to get you back. Busy day tomorrow.’ 
‘Oh, okay. Sure,’ Ying replied. 
They walked back to the main entrance of the Madinat Market, which, in essence, was a replica of an old traditional Arabian souk. 
The night air was cool. They both walked in silence as if nothing more needed to be said, simply enjoying the walk and taking in the sights of the busy souk, still buzzing with late-night shoppers and tourists. The smell of shisha pipes fi lled the air. Once at the taxi stand, John waved to one of the waiting taxis. It pulled up within a few seconds. John then opened the door and gestured gallantly for Ying to get in. 
‘Hyatt Hotel, please,’ he instructed the driver. ‘Night, Ying. Great time, really. Thanks. See you tomorrow.’ 
Ying was surprised that John was clearly not getting in the same taxi. ‘Oh, okay. Thought you might drop me off.’ 
‘No, sorry. I have to do something. So see you tomorrow, okay?’ 
John then shut the door and waved as the taxi pulled away. Ying settled back in the rear seat, still feeling a bit puzzled about what John had to do so late at night. She looked back over her left shoulder. It was then that she observed John talking to a man; not just any man, a Westerner who looked to be in his early forties and very fi t. Wanting to get a better look, she dropped her focus for a second and turned her body round to get a better look. To her surprise, as if they were ghosts, both had vanished into thin air. There was no sign of them. 
Turning back around, still somewhat surprised at how fast they had vanished, she decided she would be nosy and ask John in the morning who the mystery man was. 
The next day as Ying entered the offi ce, she could see John sitting quantum breach 290709.indd 77
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reclined right back in his chair. As she passed him, she tapped him on the shoulder. 
‘Hey, you. Good morning.’ 
John looked up. ‘Hey, how are you? Get back okay last night?’ 
Ying looked at him. ‘Clearly, I did.’ 
John gave her a sheepish look that confi rmed it was a stupid statement. Ying sat down, placing her bag under the foot well of her desk, and turned to John. 
‘So did you get your stuff done?’ Ying asked. 
‘Yes, thanks,’ John replied. 
‘So who was that guy I saw you talking to as I left?’ 
John looked at her, pausing for a few seconds, his face not showing any signs of surprise. ‘Oh, just some guy who wanted some directions. 
No idea who he was.’ 
Ying looked at his face intently, trying to work out if he was lying. 
His eyes didn’t dip down however, which in her book was Psychology 101 for detecting a lie. 
‘Okay. Just wondered.’ She then turned back to her desk and started to log on to her computer. A few moments later, John got up and walked off in the direction of the pantry. Once inside, he took out his mobile phone and dialled a local number. After a few seconds, he got a response. 
‘Yeah, it’s me. She saw us at the taxi stand, but I covered it off. No worries, she suspects nothing. Over to you as discussed.’ There was a slight pause, as if the person on the other end was now speaking. John then hung up and started to make himself a coffee. 
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McCabe sat comfortably, his legs outstretched as he sipped his coffee, a skinny latte with no sugar. The café, only a short walk from his offi ce, was his favourite. It was situated down a small alleyway known as Change Alley, aptly named on account of the number of money changers that had chosen it as their location of business. The café served authentic Australian meat pies, an indulgence McCabe found hard to resist, particularly after a night on the beer. The contents of their renowned black pepper beef pie seemed to have medicinal properties, vanishing the most stubborn and severe of hangovers. 
He was about to bite into the thick, fl aky, light-brown pastry when his mobile began vibrating violently on the table. He glanced down with deep irritation in his eyes; the phone had caused his moment of pleasure to be suspended. He could see from the display that it was an unknown number. Reluctantly putting down his pie, he picked up the phone just in case it was something important about a trade. 
‘McCabe.’ His tone was short and abrupt. 
‘Well, that’s a fi ne way to greet an old friend. How are you, tough guy?’ 
On hearing this voice, McCabe paused for a few seconds; he knew now exactly who it was. ‘Stowe, of all the people to ruin my meat pie, it would be you.’ McCabe heard a laugh on the other end of the phone. 
‘Listen, McCabe, I know this is out of the blue, but I need to talk to you. It’s work related.’ 
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‘Well, I didn’t think it would be entirely a social call, but good to hear you’re still breathing,’ McCabe replied, his tone now light with hints of sarcasm. ‘Funny thing, just the other day I was wondering where in the world you were.’ 
‘I’m in Dubai, actually.’ 
‘Dubai?’ McCabe blurted out, struck by the coincidence that he would be in the same place Ying was now working. 
‘Quite a young lady you have there. Ying, isn’t it?’ Stowe then paused and waited for the reply. 
A long pause followed. 
‘So you know I have someone called Ying working for me, do you? 
Go on, I’m listening. You’re a spook after all, I’m sure it was simple for you.’ McCabe was not at all surprised at Stowe’s ability or methods to fi nd him. 
‘Okay, I confess I’m a sneaky bugger,’ joked Stowe. ‘Truth is, I have a man on the inside of your bank right now. His name for now is not important. MI6 has brought me in to lead this operation, some bullshit about me having the international experience they need, a test to see if I measure up is more the truth. They’ve even assigned me this newbie to see if I can train him. My guess is MI6 are looking to take me on if I do well and not screw up. 
‘Anyway, let me get to the point. Oh, and by the way, I have had this line secured, you can’t be too careful. You remember Afzal Jihad?’ 
Upon hearing this, McCabe grunted, making clear his disdain for even the mention of such a name. 
‘Well, it’s like this: we may have terminated the guys in London who were responsible for Kate’s death, but the masterminds of the organisation are still very much alive and very active. Big stuff now though: they have expanded into drug traffi cking and money-laundering to fund their cause, and we are talking billions of dollars here, not small change. In fact, we fear they’re maybe planning something right now. 
‘I heard through the grapevine a few months back that you were working for Banning Capital, so given I now have a vested interest in quantum breach 290709.indd 80
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BCB, I decided to investigate. I wasn’t absolutely sure it was you at fi rst, so my man on the inside confi rmed it for me via Ying, and here we are talking.’
‘So what’s of such interest in my bank that MI5 are poking around? 
And given you are now onside with 6, that must be hell for you, knowing how much you guys distrust each other.’ 
Stowe smiled to himself, seeing that McCabe had worked out with no effort at all that MI5 and 6 would be acting like spoilt kids over this. They were not the best of bedfellows. ‘Anyway, our person of interest right now is a man by the name of Harish Aziz, a Lebanese national. We know for sure that he has just started working for BCB as a commodities sales trader out in Dubai. MI5 and 6 have been tracking him for some time now over money-laundering activities in the UK and Thailand. We suspect he’s been hired now by Afzal Jihad to run some kind of fi nancial scam, but have no proof as yet. Our top informer, the Rain Angel, you remember her, has for some strange reason drawn blanks, no leads at all. 
‘Anyway, this man Aziz has used the name Harish Mohamed and Khalid Husain before, so Aziz, we believe, may be just another cover name. Thing is, he is smart, way too smart for our liking; a Princeton PhD, no less.’ Stowe paused. 
‘Most importantly, we need to keep this undercover for now. Only the bank’s top brass know we are tracking him. We need to know for certain if he is indeed linked to Afzal Jihad or not, and, if so, who’s pulling his strings. Bottom line is, I need you in there, McCabe, on my side.’ 
‘Need me?’ McCabe was taken aback by Stowe’s sudden request, unsure what he meant exactly. But something in him stirred, a bolt of excitement ran through his veins. He had not felt this level of thrill in six years. 
‘Yes. I need you as our main inside man. You are perfect for this, you know that. The chap I have now is just a boy. He can’t handle this alone if it turns bad. Anyway, how soon can you come over so I can explain quantum breach 290709.indd 81
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everything in detail. What do you say?’ Stowe then paused, and waited for McCabe’s reply. 
McCabe’s head was now in overdrive. Here he was sitting in the bank feeling threatened and insecure, maybe about to lose his job, wishing for his old life back. He missed the action and Stowe was now offering it to him on a silver platter. 
McCabe drew a breath and replied, ‘No. Piss off, Stowe.’ There was a dead silence on the other end of the phone, but after a few seconds … 
‘Great. I’ll see you soon in Dubai then.’ The phone went dead. McCabe smiled and went back to eating his now somewhat cold pie. 
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As Aziz tapped away at his keyboard, he felt happy. He had the perfect structure against which to unleash his plot. The instructions he had been given were very explicit. He only had two weeks to complete his task, or else, as the lady with grey hair had informed him, he would have to face the men who ran Afzal Jihad. And they were not nice men. They had no tolerance for fools; fools were dealt with and it was never pleasant. As Aziz mulled this over, the very lady who had informed him of such a delightful exit from his earthly presence was seated in a nail salon, having her nails painted an apt blood red. 
Aziz then focused his attention on an email from the global head of sales. It read: 
In these harsh times, we must focus on our key clients and drive
business. Liquidity is king and, as a team, we all need to engage in
new business. 
This was an email that played right into Aziz’s very hands. Seeing this, he knew that the bank would welcome his seemingly safe transactions. They would be seen as driving up the bank’s liquidity, and that was good for him. It also meant that they would start to turn a less scrupulous eye towards the fi ne details of his trades, just seeing the upside to the client, who would be banking more cash. 
Cash in these times is king, he thought. His mind then turned to the operational aspects of the deal. Given he needed US dollars to fund his quantum breach 290709.indd 83
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clients’ forward oil contracts, he needed a forex options trader. He sat upright in his chair and started to search the internal directory of traders for those listed as FX options traders. He then paused for a second. It could not be a senior trader, as they would ask too many questions. 
He would need to fi nd a junior trader, one competent enough to be left alone by the senior guys, but junior enough not to challenge him, he thought. 
He then remembered hearing about a new trader’s arrival in Dubai; but where had he heard it? Then it dawned on him, as he looked up over his screen. He could see Ying sitting at her desk. Perfect, he thought, an out-of-towner and a new trader. He recalled overhearing John’s conversation in the pantry last week about Ying’s arrival. Ying was the perfect choice on two points. First, she was in Dubai to learn new products. This meant he could use her to enter his oil forward contracts. She would not question much on account of her limited knowledge. Second, she was useful given she already understood how to enter FX options to buy US dollars, and now she was in his cross-hairs. 
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McCabe stepped out of the taxi, thankful he was wearing a light linen shirt. The warm desert air hit him, a very different heat from the humid variety he got in Singapore. He stood for a few seconds, taking in his surroundings as the attentive hotel porter lifted his bag out of the taxi and carried it inside. 
Stowe stood a short distance away, hidden by the thick foliage of the hotel’s lush gardens, somewhat of an oasis considering the concrete wilderness that surrounded the hotel. Observing McCabe, he was impressed with how fi t his old friend still looked. 
McCabe then turned and headed up the marble steps and into the hotel lobby, pausing for a few seconds inside the entrance to further observe his surroundings. Old habits die hard: training had taught McCabe never to simply walk into a building and not be aware of anything that seemed out of place. Once happy, McCabe walked up to the check-in desk. 
Stowe, who had now moved into the lobby via a side door, continued to observe his friend, smiling as he noticed the all-too-familiar operating mode McCabe had just followed. He watched McCabe check in and head for the lift lobby, smiling broadly when he saw McCabe wrestle his bag from the hotel porter who was trying to carry it for him. 
You haven’t changed a bit, McCabe, he thought. Still the tough guy. 
Anything to avoid giving a tip. 
Stowe then slipped out of the hotel and into a waiting car. 
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McCabe unpacked his clothes, a few shirts and a pair of jeans, and then, as he always did, checked the balcony doors and locks, carefully observing how the curtains were positioned. He then picked up his mobile and called Ying. 
‘Ying. Hi, it’s me, McCabe,’ when she answered. ‘Just fl ew in. Meet me for a drink tonight, 7:30 sharp, at a bar called Trader Vic’s. It’s located in the Madinat souk. See you; have to go.’
‘Boss, you are here, but––,’ replied Ying. 
McCabe had already rung off and was heading out the door. He glanced at his watch. He had a couple of hours before he had to meet Ying, so he could get himself familiar with the surroundings. He hated not knowing where he was and his training meant he always studied an area before meeting anyone. 
Later that evening as McCabe entered Trader Vic’s, he could see Ying sitting at the bar, nursing what looked like a fruit cocktail: a large glass of peach juice with fruits hanging out on all sides. He walked up to her and tapped her on the shoulder. 
‘Hey, Miss, have you seen my camel?’ 
Ying spun around on her stool with some surprise. Seeing that it was McCabe, she threw her arms around his neck and hugged him. 
‘Hey, steady tiger,’ McCabe responded. ‘You okay?’ 
‘Yes, I am. I’m so pleased to see you. Hey, why are you here? I had no idea you were coming. It’s such a surprise.’ 
‘It’s okay, I’m not here on offi cial business, just a few days off.’ 
‘You came just for me, boss? Wow!’ Ying replied beaming. 
‘Don’t push it, Ying. I wanted to do some shopping,’ McCabe responded, not too convincingly. 
Stowe, never too far away, sat across the bar observing his friend. 
‘So tell me, really, why are you here? Please tell me,’ Ying excitedly enquired. 
‘I told you, shopping. Also, an old friend is in town, so I thought what a great opportunity to meet him and see how you were doing at the same time. Pure coincidence, I can assure you.’ McCabe hated quantum breach 290709.indd 86
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lying to her, but there was no way in hell she would understand the real reason at this point. McCabe himself had to learn more from Stowe. 
‘Come on, let’s go outside where I can tell you more about him. 
He’s an old army buddy, doing some business in Dubai.’ 
They left and selected a corner table by the edge of the water. 
McCabe could see everything from here; even Stowe, should he decide to show his ugly face, which McCabe fully expected. 
After about half an hour, Ying sat right back in her chair, her eyes and mouth wide open. ‘Holy cow, boss, I had no idea you had such an action-packed life,’ she exclaimed. McCabe had just given his life history, including the lowdown on Brian Stowe. What McCabe did not tell her was that Stowe already knew who she was. 
‘God, he sounds so hunky, boss,’ Ying enthused after hearing all about Stowe. 
‘Yeah, and a stone-cold assassin when he wants, Ying, so be careful. 
Not a man to mess with.’ McCabe then gestured for the bill. ‘Come on, let’s head back to the hotel.’ 
Ying sighed and reluctantly followed. She wanted to know more about Stowe; he excited her. 
When they entered the hotel lobby, Ying stopped. 
‘Listen, boss, I’m glad you are here.’ 
McCabe smiled and walked her to the lift. 
As they waited for the next lift, McCabe said with a smile, ‘Did you know that one in four people end up mad?’ 
Ying laughed. ‘No. New one on me, boss. That means a quarter of the offi ce is crazy.’ 
They both laughed. As they reached Ying’s room, McCabe said, 
‘Okay. Well, have a good day tomorrow. Maybe we can meet for dinner. 
Not sure what my plans are yet. Night, and sleep well.’ 
‘Okay, boss, sure. Goodnight, and thanks for seeing me … and the drinks.’ With that, Ying went into her room and closed the door. 
The lift arrived and McCabe stepped in. The doors had started to close when a foot jammed itself between them forcing them to re-open. 
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McCabe instinctively lurched forward, grabbing the man’s arm and hurling him in and back against the side of the lift hard. 
‘Easy, old boy,’ said a familiar voice. It was Stowe. 
‘Jesus, Stowe,’ said McCabe. ‘What the hell?’ 
Before McCabe could gather his thoughts, Stowe said, ‘I will explain all over a whisky.’ They both headed back down towards the lobby in search of the bar. They had much to talk about. 
Seeing Stowe again reminded McCabe of the old days, the missions, the danger and the thrill. McCabe felt happy for the fi rst time in ages. 
He felt alive, his entire body was waking up and he knew it. Just seeing Stowe seemed to have triggered an emotional change. The positive feeling did not last long. Looking at Stowe he felt a slight anger well up inside him. Had Stowe really done all he could to save Kate? he thought. He would one day have to have that debate with Stowe, but now was not the time. 
They each drew up a bar stool. McCabe ordered two Irish whiskeys. 
He knew Stowe also loved Irish whiskey. In his view, it was worth giving Stowe a token of goodwill in order to gain some further insight into the operation he wanted McCabe to get involved with. 
Their whiskeys clasped fi rmly in their hands, they sat at the bar and Stowe shared what he knew about the operation. 
‘Well, from what we can gather, Afzal Jihad are now into industrial espionage. We have reasons to believe that they want to use the current fi nancial crisis as cover for some illegal funding of their operations. 
We’re not sure yet what specifi cally they are up to, but when people like Aziz, with his track record of money-laundering for drug cartels, come on the scene, we start to get very interested. We suspect, because of Aziz, that there may be a link to a drug cartel in Asia. Not sure of the full facts as yet,’ Stowe said
McCabe was pondering the connection. ‘Drug cartel? Now that’s interesting, don’t you think? Why would Afzal Jihad be wanting drug connections?’ 
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at their disposal. They want to make it work for them, I guess. The more political unrest there is in certain countries, the better for them. 
It takes the focus off the drug running, not to mention they can fund attacks on governments that are less tolerant of drugs. It’s the perfect partnership. 
‘Furthermore, the cash these cartels have is dirty, very dirty. They need to be able to clean it through the global banking system. Groups like Afzal Jihad have people who create the havoc and destruction these cartels wish upon governments. The cartels have been moving money around for decades, so sharing of criminal information is now big business amongst these bastards.’ 
Stowe started to tell McCabe all about Afzal Jihad, the fact they were now bigger and more active. Not so much into hijacks and bombs: they were currently more focused on a regime of undercover espionage and sabotage, targeting politicians and fi nancial institutions. McCabe was captivated. He found this interesting and, for once, was learning something new. 
‘So this Aziz chap, where does he fi t in? You say he works in my bank?’ 
‘Yes, he does. A salesman for Commodities. We’ve been tracking him for the past three years. At one point he lived in London, so MI5 
were all over him. He popped up on our radar when he was caught in a money-laundering scam for a Thai drug lord, a bastard by the name of Khun Surat. I came across his brother once, in Myanmar.’ Stowe paused. 
Hearing this, McCabe shot Stowe a glance, knowing full well what he meant, but allowed Stowe to continue. 
‘Anyway, he was opening up corporate accounts to house their dirty money before investing it in property funds, all a part of the layering process used to clean money and cover its original source. We wanted to see who his masters were but he evaded arrest and vanished without trace about two years ago. MI6 picked him up again via a CIA tip-off when he entered the US via Canada on a British passport. He surfaced quantum breach 290709.indd 89
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in Oman last month, and now here in Dubai. He’s changed his name at least twice that we know of. We suspect he is now a sleeper for Afzal Jihad, waiting for his instructions before he becomes active. Our guess is more money-laundering, but who knows.’
Stowe took a breath and lit a cigarette before continuing. ‘I have access to an informer, the same lady in fact that led us to Afzal Jihad last time. The Rain Angel, you remember her? I told you on the phone.’ 
McCabe frowned. 
‘Anyway,’ continued Stowe, ‘my hope is that she may have information on Aziz or what Afzal Jihad is up to. For now, I need you in there checking to see if this guy is active. Or if, by some small miracle, he is now legitimate, which I doubt. Anyway, this is where you come in. We need you to track him on the inside. It’s a perfect situation. Do you not agree?’ 
‘Yeah, I’m in, Stowe. Thanks.’ McCabe was pleased and his face showed it. ‘Who is your boy on the inside now?’
Stowe looked at him. ‘Don’t miss a trick, do you, McCabe?’ 
‘No, I don’t.’ McCabe was almost surprised Stowe would think he would. 
‘It’s a fellow called John. He works next to Ying. We poached him right out of Oxford. A very bright young lad.’
‘Okay, I won’t blow his cover … yet.’ McCabe winked at Stowe. 
‘Right! Time for some sleep, so see you tomorrow, Stowe.’ 
McCabe got up and headed for his room. 
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The sun was again high in the sky, its rays poking through the morning smog above Dubai. The shafts of sunlight that managed to carve their way through now bounced off the towering glass skyscrapers located in this desert oasis. 
Aziz arrived at work as he always did, by car, driven by his own personal driver. It dropped him off right outside his offi ce at 8:00 a.m. 
on the dot, which was quite a feat given Dubai’s hellish traffi c. He made his way into the building and on up to his desk located on the third fl oor. He had a view over the Emirates Hotel and the sky-reaching tower blocks just visible in the brown smog. 
Aziz took out his water fl ask and carefully positioned it on one side of his desk. He then proceeded to log on to his computer and open his sales system. He was intently focused on the two very special deal structures he had to craft and execute: one for himself and one for Ying. 
After a couple of hours, content he had the structure correct, he started to complete the mandatory term sheets, carefully entering the client’s name, duration of the contract and the price. The deal would be the fi rst of a two-sided transaction between his two shipping corporations to purchase forward oil contracts. 
As he reached the data fi eld that required him to place his own name as the marketer of the transaction, which by default indicated that he had validated the credit limits, he deliberately left it blank. Aziz wanted quantum breach 290709.indd 91
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to see how smart Ying really was. Would she notice it was missing, given the next step was, in fact, to enter her name as the designated trader? He typed in ‘Ying Lee’. 
Carefully, for the last time, he validated the trade details. It was going to be two forward oil contracts. The fi rst trade, for TJ Cargo, would purchase a forward contract in oil, worth US$50 million at a price of US$135 a barrel. He knew the price was set to move to at least US$145 by the end of the day. The second trade would be for Al Safad: this time he would buy a US$50 million contract using an infl ated price of US$175, knowing the price was expected to be lower. In addition, he would play the US dollar currency market, expecting the currency to move 20–40 basis points. The whole deal should create a nice loss for Al Safad and a handsome gain for TJ Cargo. 
Once checked, despite his little oversight and trick on Ying, he made sure that he did, in fact, check the credit limit for each client, making sure it was within the agreed boundaries, as to breach this limit within the bank would trigger an internal enquiry—and he could not afford that. Given this was the fi rst pair of deals, he kept the notional amount small, set at US$50 million only. Once fi nished, he smiled to himself, thinking that his unoffi cial bosses would be very pleased with him: their fi nancial regime was now off and running. He hit the ‘Enter’ key. The deal was now on its way to Ying for deal entry. 
A few moments later, given the real-time nature of the sales and trading systems within the bank, Aziz noticed that Ying had picked up the trade out of the pending work queue. This meant she would be preparing to book it. 
Across the room, Ying was indeed studying the transaction. She noticed immediately that Aziz had omitted his name from the trade details. Ying was wise to this old trick; many a salesman had tried to pass that one off, too lazy to check limits, and the trader got the blame. 
People tended to get fi red if credit limits got breached and she knew it was Aziz who had the responsibility to check. Not wanting to risk getting fi red for letting it go uncorrected, she rejected the deal. Not all quantum breach 290709.indd 92
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traders were as diligent as Ying, and they often never bothered to really check. The sheer volume, sometimes hundreds of trades a day, made it impossible to check every one carefully. The smell of commission often clouded their vision to such details. In addition, the bank’s systems were not STP (straight through processing), which meant manual checking and validation. 
Aziz immediately saw the reject message appear on his screen. His eyes were smiling as he realised Ying was indeed on the ball. 
He re-opened the transaction and entered his name and sales code, then hit ‘Re-send’. Seconds later, upon seeing the amendment, Ying smiled and booked the transaction into Tradex. The deal was done, at least barring any validation downstream by the bank’s Middle Offi ce department. They were one of the last lines of defence in the trade’s life cycle. But Aziz had that covered: his close friend was now working there. His job was to make sure the details were correct, as entered by the trader against the salesman’s term sheet. 
Aziz smiled when he saw the deal confi rmation message pop-up on his screen. He carefully noted down the transaction number and then proceeded to make a phone call to a local number. A woman answered the phone with a blunt ‘Yes’. 
‘It’s Aziz here. The pigeon has fl own.’ He then hung up the phone. 
Immediately afterwards, he made a second call, to an internal number. 
A man answered. ‘Aziz here. The pigeon is in fl ight.’ Not waiting for a reply, he hung up. The rest of the day was spent doing research. He was preparing for many more trades to come. As the day drew to a close, he shut down his computer and headed out towards the lift lobby. 
Aziz exited the lift on the ground fl oor and hurried out of the front entrance. He was a man in a rush, sweating and looking very agitated. 
As he waited for his driver to pull up, he noticed a man casually leaning against a pillar just a few yards in front of him, off to the left, reading a newspaper. He felt uneasy about this man; something about him made him feel wary. He deliberately turned away and looked for his driver. As his car pulled up, he opened the door and jumped in, not waiting as he quantum breach 290709.indd 93
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normally did for his driver to open the door for him. 
‘Take me to the Dusit Hotel, quickly,’ Aziz commanded. 
Stowe watched him leave and waved to his own driver parked only a few yards away. As he got in the rear seat, Stowe shouted, ‘Follow him!’ 
His car pulled out and followed Aziz at a safe distance. 
After 40 minutes of tailing Aziz through the streets of Dubai, they fi nally arrived at the lobby of the Dusit Hotel. 
‘Drop me off here and park around the corner,’ Stowe ordered his driver and got out. 
His driver found the large sandy car park around the back of the hotel, a plot of land that had been turned over as temporary parking. He parked and prepared to wait. Stowe walked casually up to the entrance and in through the doors. There was no sign of Aziz in the lobby, so Stowe instinctively headed for the café situated towards the back of the hotel. He had been there a few times over the past month. 
Stowe peered through a small iron-grilled window at the entrance to the café, made to look like a souk, an old Arabian market. Scanning the room, he noticed Aziz sitting with his back to him, a few tables in. 
Aziz was not alone, however. Sitting opposite him was a well-dressed woman. 
‘And who may you be?’ Stowe muttered to himself. 
She was in her early forties by the looks of her, wearing a grey suit and with very neat silver-grey hair. A hard face, but still attractive, he thought. Aziz pulled out a fi le from his briefcase and set it in front of her. 
‘Can I help you, sir?’ a voice came from behind. 
Stowe slowly turned around, not wanting to expose his position and hoping to appear as if he was just a tourist looking for his friend. He was greeted by a beaming McCabe. 
‘McCabe, what the fuck are you doing here?’ 
‘Following you, old mate. What are you doing?’ 
‘Come here. Look.’ Stowe gestured to McCabe to peep through the grill. ‘It’s Aziz, third table up, off to the left.’ 
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McCabe peered through the metal frame and took a good look at Aziz. 
‘Ah, so that’s the pompous little prick. Who’s the woman?’ 
‘No idea, but we need to fi nd out.’ 
McCabe grunted in agreement. 
Stowe then took out his phone camera and snapped a picture. 
‘Now let’s see if you appear on our database, shall we,’ he muttered to himself. 
As McCabe turned around to speak to Stowe, he found him gone. 
Looking around, he noticed Stowe casually walking inside the café to get a better look. ‘Jesus!’ McCabe thought, as Stowe walked up to an empty table about 20 feet from where Aziz was sitting. Aziz continued with his conversation. He was animated and explaining something obviously important to the lady. To Stowe’s annoyance, he couldn’t hear the details above the noise from the other diners. They were talking in Arabic, which Stowe only understood the basics of, but he could make out the word ‘shipping’. 
Then, suddenly, Aziz stood up and turned, directly facing him. 
Stowe looked nonchalantly past him, as if trying to attract the attention of a waiter. Aziz paused as if to consider Stowe’s face, then turned and walked out, right past McCabe, who was now sitting in a chair reading the paper. 
The lady who had been with Aziz gathered up the papers she had been given and stood up. Moments later, a waft of perfume caught McCabe’s nostrils as she strode elegantly past him. He was either getting too old, and was no longer attractive to women, or she had simply failed to notice him, slumped in that chair reading his paper. 
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McCabe and Stowe stepped outside the hotel and into the warm night air. Stowe waved to his driver who had parked a few yards away, down the hotel’s parking ramp. The navy blue sedan pulled up. Stowe and McCabe climbed into the rear and the driver headed off down the driveway. 
The silence lasted only a few seconds, as Stowe turned to McCabe, his face showing a slight smile. ‘So you followed me, huh, McCabe?’
‘Someone has to keep an eye on you, Stowe,’ McCabe responded with a wry smile. 
As their car pulled out on to the busy slip road leading to the main Al Fadan highway, the driver stared into the rear-view mirror, his eyes sharp and focused. Stowe glanced over the driver’s shoulder to look into the side mirrors. He saw the refl ection of the car trailing behind them. 
Without warning, their driver accelerated slightly and pulled out into the stream of traffi c and behind a truck. Then, with another controlled burst of acceleration, he pulled out to the left and overtook the truck, sharply pulling back in front once he had passed it. 
The atmosphere in the car suddenly grew very tense as Stowe had drawn his 9mm Browning from his shoulder holster. McCabe was also staring intently into the rear-view mirror. An old white Mercedes, the 1980’s model built like a small tank, was running up the outer side of the truck. It dipped slightly as it braked when the driver noticed Stowe’s blue sedan neatly tucked in front of the truck. This was all Stowe’s quantum breach 290709.indd 96
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driver needed to observe. He accelerated fast and pulled out into the outer lane of the freeway. 
‘In there,’ shouted Stowe, pointing to the armrest on the back seat. 
It was the type that had in-built storage. McCabe lifted the padded armrest to reveal another 9mm semi-automatic Browning pistol. He took it out and primed the weapon. 
The driver was busy swerving in and out of traffi c, much to the annoyance of the other drivers who were honking their horns in protest. 
The white Mercedes was gaining on them in pursuit, meaning that they were obviously being tailed. 
‘Who are they, Stowe?’ McCabe asked, his eyes fully dilated. McCabe felt his adrenaline levels rising. He secretly loved it. No amount of currency trading could ever give him the same buzz. This was the drug he loved, and his body craved it. 
‘No idea, but they clearly want us.’
‘Nope, just you. How would they know me?’ McCabe commented back sarcastically. 
When they reached an off-junction, Stowe’s driver swerved the car over to the extreme left at the very last second, the car’s tyres screeching against the tarmac as they accelerated off into the slip road, lightly scraping the crash barriers. The white Mercedes skidded behind them, smoke coming off the tyres as its driver hit the brakes and followed in pursuit. McCabe observed that there were two occupants, both seated in the front of the car. 
A few seconds later, the back window of Stowe’s car shattered with a loud crack. Shards of glass showered in on both Stowe and McCabe as they ducked their heads instinctively and crouched down behind the back seat. Stowe peeped up behind the back seat to fi re a shot which took out the offside wing mirror of the Mercedes. This was followed quickly by another round, which struck home in the left shoulder of the man in the passenger seat. 
The Mercedes swerved unsteadily on the road to avoid being hit again. 
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‘Go, go, go!’ shouted Stowe at his driver, who weaved their car expertly through the traffi c to avoid getting hit in return. The two cars were now barrelling down a small off-road which headed towards the sea. 
McCabe cracked off a shot which narrowly missed the front tyre of the Mercedes. Their car had now accelerated to 80 mph. The white Mercedes, being a heavier car, was losing ground, its headlights shattered by the rapid fi re now being put down by Stowe and McCabe. Steam started to billow out from the radiator. But for some unfathomable reason, the Merc was not backing off. The moonlight was strong enough to still see, even without headlights. It was as if the driver was determined to ram them from behind and push them into a crash barrier. 
Stowe noticed that the man seated in the passenger seat was out of action. He had slumped forward. The wind was howling in through the back window of Stowe’s car, bits of glass still fl ying in and stinging McCabe’s face. Stowe ordered his driver to slow down as he wanted to draw the other car in. It was risky, but he wanted to know who these guys were. 
At the next corner, the driver took the opportunity: the sharp corner sloped down with steep banks on either side. Surrounding them was a construction site. There were cranes and heavy earth-moving equipment parked under the dim night-lights. Heavy clouds of dust were sprayed into the air by both cars as they roared down the narrow road. Stowe’s car slid around the corner, two of its wheels edging off the road surface and onto the gritty sand, sending dust and grit spewing into the air. Stowe’s car then braked hard and skidded to a stop just around the bend. 
As the white Mercedes loomed up and around the corner, it stood no chance at all. McCabe neatly blew out the front offside tyre with a single shot from his Browning. Stowe followed with a shot which struck the driver hard in the chest. The man’s eyes rolled back as he fl ew back against his seat and then slumped forward over the wheel. The Mercedes barrelled out over the edge of the road and down the steep slope, fl ipping over several times, its doors fl ying open and windows quantum breach 290709.indd 98
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shattering before it came to rest on all four wheels at the bottom of the slope. Clouds of dust and grit billowed into the night air. The fuel tank had struck a steel girder lying in the sand; fuel was now beginning to leak out. 
McCabe and Stowe charged down the slope towards the car, wanting to see if anyone had survived. Stowe reached in the driver’s door window which had shattered, and felt the driver’s neck for a pulse. 
He was dead, his neck broken by the steering wheel. With the chest wound that was centre-placed, he had no chance. The passenger was barely alive. McCabe dragged him out and away from the car. Black smoke and fl ames were beginning to lick up the sides of the car; the leaking petrol had ignited and the tank was about to blow up. 
‘Come on, let’s get out of here!’ shouted Stowe. 
‘Wait!’ McCabe shouted back. His instincts had guided him over to the boot of the car, which was buckled and half open. Inside, through the billowing smoke, McCabe could see a body. Holding his breath, arching his arm in front of his face to protect it from the growing fl ames, he reached inside and lifted out the man, dumping him hard on the ground. McCabe then dragged him over towards the bank. 
Only seconds later, the car blew up, sending fl ames and steel into the air. Both McCabe and Stowe were fl ung back by the blast. Stowe’s driver had already handcuffed the passenger and started to drag him up the slope towards the sedan. McCabe and Stowe sat there looking at each other, both out of breath, their hearts pounding, beads of sweat dotting their foreheads. There was a slight cut on Stowe’s head, which was weeping blood—a shard of glass had caught him when the rear window had shattered. 
‘Oh Christ!’ said Stowe as he kicked over the body of what looked like a young man in his late twenties. He had clearly been beaten up badly. His throat had been cut. 
‘Who is it?’ McCabe enquired. 
‘It’s John, my plant, the guy we had working with Ying at your bank.’
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‘Jesus,’ McCabe responded
‘Come on, let’s get out of here before the area swarms with police,’ 
Stowe said. ‘We need to interrogate this bastard,’ he continued, pointing to the man now being loaded into the boot of his car. 
It was getting close to 9:00 p.m. by the time they pulled into an underground car park located beneath a four-storey building in Dubai’s Old Town. Stowe and McCabe got out and went to the back of the car. 
The boot popped open and they lifted the lid. The driver pushed in past McCabe and started to lift out the man. The man’s eyes showed no fear, only defi ance. He knew he would be interrogated. 
‘You don’t have to be a part of this, McCabe,’ Stowe said. 
‘Like hell, Stowe. I’m in. Ying could be in danger and I want to know how these fuckers got on to us. Can you use me here?’ asked McCabe. 
‘Of course. I need all the experienced hands I can get.’
They entered a door off to one side of the low-lit garage, walked up a narrow staircase and into a room off a small passage. The room was dull with only a table and two chairs inside. McCabe looked around. It was once a storage room by the looks of it; the remnants of steel racking was stacked up in one corner. 
Stowe’s driver sat the man down on a simple steel chair and re-cuffed each of the man’s wrists to the arm of the chair. He then left the room. 
Stowe walked up to the man, grabbed hold of his hair and yanked his head back. 
‘You know the drill: you may not talk, but I will have fun trying to make you.’ 
The man looked defi antly up at Stowe and spat in his face. Stowe wiped it off with the sleeve of his jacket and paced around the table. 
‘So you understand English,’ Stowe remarked. 
McCabe stood back in one corner just observing. Stowe’s driver returned with a small red toolbox, placed it on the table and fl ipped open the lid. Inside was a basic set of handyman’s tools. McCabe knew what they would be used for, and not mending the kitchen sink. At this quantum breach 290709.indd 100
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point, he stepped outside and called Ying. The phone rang several times before she picked it up. 
‘Boss?’ she answered. 
‘Hey, you okay?’
‘Yes, fi ne. Why?’
‘Good.’ McCabe was short and direct. 
‘What’s up? And what is that dreadful noise?’
Hearing the man in the background, McCabe needed to go. 
‘Nothing. Just checking you’re okay. I’ll swing by later.’ McCabe then hung up. 
Stepping back into the room, McCabe observed Stowe at work with a pair of old pliers wrenching out one of the man’s front teeth very slowly. The screams of the man were only subdued by the fact his mouth was full of blood, which was burbling out through his lips. The man sat, moaning and straining in the chair, the handcuffs rubbing the skin of his wrists. McCabe stayed silent. He knew better than to disturb Stowe, who was doing what he thought he had to do in order to extract information. McCabe knew that no amount of slapping the man around the head would make him talk. Extreme measures were required. 
Stowe stood back and shouted at him. ‘Tell me, you bit of shit, whom do you work for?’
Stowe’s driver translated what Stowe said into Arabic just to be sure he understood. The man slumped forward, his mouth dripping with blood, which he spat out. As Stowe went to hit him, he started to plead in broken English for mercy. He was beginning to crack. 
Observing this, Stowe turned and ambled over to one corner of the room, bent down and picked up a long thin piece of steel rod, McCabe following him with his eyes. The rod looked like it was once a part of a shelving structure, but Stowe clearly had another use for it. He walked back to the man, raised the rod and jabbed one end fi rmly into the bullet wound on his left shoulder. The man immediately let out a blood-curdling scream and started to jerk around. Stowe leant on the quantum breach 290709.indd 101
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rod, applying pressure and making it bend as it penetrated deeper. 
The man screamed in pain. 
‘Whom do you work for?’ Stowe held the man’s jaw with his right hand and shook his head violently from side to side, slapping his face to stop the man from passing out. He then withdrew the rod and dropped it on the fl oor. It clattered as it hit the concrete, the sound echoing around the empty room. 
‘Tell me! Tell me now, or it gets shoved up your arse next,’ Stowe demanded. 
‘A woman, that’s all I know, a woman. Rain …Rain … ’ The man’s English, now sharpened by his ordeal, was clear. 
Stowe shot a glance at McCabe, his eyes showing that they were getting to the point of interest. 
‘Rain, what are you talking about? Explain!’ Stowe now bellowed into the man’s left ear. 
Stowe then took out his pistol, placed it hard against the man’s left kneecap and pulled the trigger, the sound nearly deafening the room’s occupants. Even McCabe fl inched as the bullet shattered the kneecap of the man. The scream that followed was heart-wrenching. The man’s knee was now a bloody mess of shattered bone and sinew. 
Stowe continued to interrogate the man for another hour, but got nothing more out of him. Knowing he was spent, Stowe fi nally called it quits and decided they should all leave. 
‘What are you going to do with him?’ McCabe enquired. 
Looking back at McCabe with a blank stare, showing no sign of emotion, Stowe replied, ‘The rats can have him.’ 
As he and Stowe left the room and walked back down the stairs towards the car, McCabe heard the unmistakable thud sound of a silenced Sig, a single shot. Stowe’s driver appeared in the doorway a few moments later and walked to the car. McCabe cast a glance at Stowe and shook his head, showing that he knew what had happened. 
‘No point in leaving live bait for the rats,’ Stowe quipped. 
They all got back in the car and drove off. As they sat in the car, quantum breach 290709.indd 102
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nothing was said. Stowe knew that McCabe would have dealt with it very differently, perhaps even handing the man over to the authorities. 
But Stowe had another code, complete with its brutal tactics. 
As the car continued on towards McCabe’s hotel, Stowe called his team in Thames House, the MI5 HQ in London. Despite the early hour, his team, ‘D’ section, were all hard at work in the offi ce; they would remain on call 24 hours if required, especially when an operation was in full swing. Using his mobile phone, Stowe fi red off the photo of the mysterious woman who had met with Aziz in the cafe. He was hoping there was at least an Interpol fi le on her. 
Stowe also knew that the fi rm in London would be less than happy to hear that John, the young MI6 agent assigned to him for fi eld training, was now dead. Specifi cally because Stowe was 5 and under observation, the fact that he had screwed up was embarrassing. Hardly a glowing example of Stowe’s ability to train, no way 6 would take him now. His death would more than cause a few ripples amongst the MI6 top brass when his body arrived back in London. The sad fact was John’s family would be told an outright lie. They would be made to think that their only son had died as a result of a freak car accident, with no medals or ceremony that indicated he was, in fact, serving Queen and Country. A cover-up, pure and simple; such was the MI6 code. 
As they listened in on Stowe’s account of the night’s events, the combined MI5 and MI6 team in London were taking the approach that Stowe had been compromised. They would assume Afzal Jihad were behind the assassination of John, and, as such, were on to Stowe. 
But they wanted to believe that Stowe’s new seconded team member, Mark McCabe, had not been compromised. 
McCabe had now been fully cleared by the British Secret Service to join the covert team, but strictly as an observer. He was not to enter into any operational encounters, which meant killing anyone. Trent was very clear on this point. Stowe was to be held fully responsible. McCabe was to remain undercover as a banking employee, which in truth he was, his mission to confi rm if Aziz was indeed working for Afzal Jihad, and what quantum breach 290709.indd 103
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connections they had, if any, to the Asian drug cartel. The Operation was to be codenamed ‘Snow Wolves’. 
Stowe’s boss, Malcolm Trent, a 30-year veteran of the British Secret Service, aka MI5, a small bull of a man with a ruddy face, the result of too much port wine, thought it highly amusing that one of his most important operations was now in the hands of two 45-year-old warriors. Snow Wolves, he thought, was an apt name given they were both greying. But he also knew that, despite any outward appearances that may suggest they were past it, both men were well-experienced operatives, still very fi t and very dangerous. 
Much to Stowe’s annoyance, Trent did not seem overly surprised at John’s death. He seemed to dismiss it as a matter of trivial fact. Very unusual, given MI6 will dine out on that fuck-up from their brothers for many months, Stowe thought. He knew Trent hated giving ground to those cocky bastards. 
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As the car pulled up outside of McCabe’s hotel, he turned to Stowe. 
‘Call me tomorrow. You can fi ll me in on where we go from here,’ 
McCabe said, and got out of the car. 
Stowe nodded before signalling to his driver to move on. McCabe stood there, sullenly observing the blue sedan as it moved away down the driveway. He then turned towards the hotel as he drew a deep breath of the warm night air and trotted up the marble steps and into the hotel lobby. He instinctively paused when he entered the lobby area and stood there looking for anything that seemed out of place. McCabe observed several Arab men smoking and drinking coffee in the lobby café; a few men who looked like they had just arrived were checking in, and hotel porters were running around with bags. All seems to be normal, he thought, before he headed off towards the lifts. 
A knock came on the door. Ying, who had been watching a movie on TV, had fallen asleep with the TV on. Startled by the knock, she stirred and got up off the bed. She carefully walked to the door and peered through the spy hole. She could just make out the dark, broad fi gure of McCabe standing directly in front of her door, despite her eyes being still blurry from sleep. McCabe knew she would be peeping at him through the spy hole. He heard the door chain release and the door slowly inched open. He squeezed his way past Ying and entered her room. 
‘Hey, come in, why don’t you,’ muttered Ying. She was dressed in quantum breach 290709.indd 105
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a white T-shirt and track pants, her hair loose and messy. McCabe sat down on the bed and clasped his hands in front of him. 
‘Sit down, Ying. I need to explain a few things.’ 
Ying sat down on a small armchair next to her bed, and leaned forward to listen expectantly to what McCabe had to tell her. McCabe knew that he had to at least alert Ying to what was going on, but not tell her too much: she would be of no use to him scared. But he had to protect her and this was best served by telling her, in part, what was going on. 
Oh well, here goes, he thought to himself. For the next hour, he calmly told Ying all about Stowe and how they knew each other, this time in more detail. He also fi lled her in on Afzal Jihad and how they operated. He then paused and related the car chase earlier that evening and how John was found dead. 
On hearing this, Ying looked up, clearly shocked at what McCabe had said. ‘John? What has he got to do with anything?’
‘He was an undercover British Intelligence offi cer working with Stowe.’
‘You mean he was watching me all that time? But why?’ she asked with a slight tone of anger. 
‘He was sent to observe a man called Aziz. Aziz works in our bank as a salesman. MI6 don’t know for sure if he is in any way connected with Afzal Jihad, but he has had such dealings in the past. They want to know what he’s up to now.’
Ying sat dumbfounded by all that had been said to her, just staring at McCabe, her mouth wide open. After a few minutes, she stood up and walked over to the bed and sat next to McCabe. 
‘So what are we going to do now?’ she asked. 
McCabe looked at her. ‘Well, you will do nothing; just carry on with your job. I’m going to stick around and see if I can’t fi nd out what this Aziz is up to.’
Ying’s face lit up. ‘I can do it, boss. He wouldn’t suspect me, but you, you stand out like a … ,’ she paused, ‘what you say, sore thumb.’ 
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McCabe knew she was right, but there was no way he could expose her to such danger. He stood up and looked down at Ying. 
‘Get some rest. We can meet in the morning and discuss more then.’ 
With that, McCabe walked to the door and opened it. ‘Lock your door and do not let anyone in. Good night.’ He then closed the door behind him and walked off towards the lift. 
Ying remained seated, motionless on the edge of her bed, trying to digest all the information McCabe had entrusted her with. So much was now whirling around in her mind. She reminded herself that her boss was not a middle-aged Mr Soapy. That was Ying’s term for a boring expat who looked like the only excitement he had in his life would be taking the kids to the park. He was an ex-Special Forces soldier with a very dark past. Her emotions were confused and then excitement started to consume her. 
Suddenly, her thoughts passed to John. The poor guy was dead. 
Despite not knowing him well, she felt sad. Then it clicked: Aziz, of course! She had booked some of his deals today. Oh my God, she thought. It was then that Ying knew she could help McCabe; she would convince him in the morning. She climbed under the bed covers, reached over and turned off the light, snuggling down in the duvet, her mind still racing. How on earth could she sleep now? 
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The next morning as Ying descended the marble steps to the hotel cafeteria, she had a clear view of the café. Scanning the tables, she noticed McCabe talking to a mystery man. Maybe it was Brian Stowe, the man McCabe had mentioned. They were both engaged in a heated debate judging by their hand movements. As Ying approached, Stowe looked up. 
‘Good morning, Ying. I’m Brian, a friend of Mark’s,’ he greeted her with his best imitation of a smile. 
‘Good morning, Mr Brian Stowe. Yes I have heard all about you,’ 
Ying responded with an exaggerated emphasis on the ‘Mister’. McCabe observed Ying’s smile and the exceptional feminine grace displayed as she approached them. McCabe knew her well enough to spot that she was on the hunt, but Stowe might be a prey too big for even Ying’s seductive talents. 
‘Well it’s nice to meet you, Brian. So what’s good for breakfast?’ 
Ying enquired. 
McCabe had just polished off a plate of sausages and egg, washed down with three cups of coffee. ‘It’s all good,’ he replied, not even glancing at her. His eyes were fi xed on a page in the local paper. 
Ying placed her expensive Miu Miu handbag, an item that had cost her a small fortune, carefully down beside one of the empty chairs and strode off in search of food. Once Ying had gone, McCabe looked up at Stowe. 
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‘Have you seen this?’ he asked. 
Stowe glanced down to look at the page McCabe had placed in front of him and saw the photograph of a burnt-out car wreck at the bottom of a steep slope. 
‘No problem. We told the local police to explain it as a simple accident, brake failure.’ Stowe was calm and confi dent in his explanation. 
‘The British Embassy has already alerted the local authorities, told them to cover it up.’
‘And they went along with that?’ McCabe asked with a note of scepticism. 
‘They’ve been most accommodating, in fact. They don’t want such terrorist activity to dampen their tourist numbers,’ Stowe explained. 
‘It’s not so much them I’m worried about. What if this chap Aziz sees it headlined in his morning paper over his cornfl akes?’ 
‘Well, if he does and he is implicated, it may fl ush him out. Just what we need, in fact,’ Stowe said and looked directly at McCabe, as if pleased the incident could, in fact, be turned nicely to their advantage. 
‘Good point. We need to get on him right away and establish his involvement, if any. It seems very coincidental that we observed him in that café with a mystery woman, and the next thing we have is an attempted hit on us, don’t you think?’ McCabe paused. ‘Plus, the survivor of the crash told us he was working for a woman,’ McCabe concluded. 
‘Yes, it means we may be getting close.’ Stowe was now looking more serious. The two of them looked at each other as if some kind of sudden inspiration would descend upon them. 
Ying sashayed back to the table carrying a plate of eggs and bacon which she set down carefully as she placed herself between the two of them. Before she had even taken her fi rst bite, McCabe gave her instructions. 
‘Ying, I want you to go to the offi ce as per normal today. I will come with you.’
‘You know this Aziz guy, right, a salesman?’ Stowe looked intently at Ying for her response, somewhat surprised at McCabe’s direct order. 
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Ying carefully placed her fork down. ‘Yes, I do. In fact, I book all of his deals.’ 
McCabe and Stowe looked at each other, both now thinking of the implications of what Ying had said. 
‘Is there a problem?’ Ying enquired. 
Taking the risk that Ying was clean and not knowing McCabe had already briefed her, Stowe jumped in. ‘No, not a problem, Ying, but I need you to do something.’ Stowe then glanced back at McCabe as if to say ‘Hold off, buddy, and let me fi nish.’ Stowe knew McCabe would not like Ying being dragged into this, especially since John, the last undercover plant, had all too recently rolled out of the boot of a burning car with his throat cut. 
Stowe was aware that what he was expecting Ying to embark upon was risky. John at least was a trained MI6 operative; Ying was just a 26-year-old Singaporean with no formal training as an agent. Ying sat motionless at the breakfast table, intently listening to Stowe. 
‘Now here is what I need you to do: follow my directions to the letter. Do not deviate from the plan, got it?’ Stowe spoke in a calm yet authoritative tone. ‘I want you to just observe Aziz. Let McCabe or me know if he leaves his desk for long periods of time, how many deals he asks you to book … just general stuff for now. Okay?’ Ying just nodded. 
‘If it helps, each time I record a deal Aziz makes, I can let McCabe know,’ Ying said. 
‘Okay, good, but just observe him, okay? No heroics. He won’t suspect you,’ Stowe replied
Ying nodded again. She was almost disappointed there was not much more to it. ‘Will I get a gun at least?’
Both McCabe and Stowe looked at her in surprise. ‘Oh, that would look just great hanging out of your designer suit. Ying, get serious, this is no joke,’ McCabe growled at her. ‘Can you go wait for us in the lobby? I need a few words with Stowe in private.’ McCabe was fi rm in his tone. Ying was slightly embarrassed by her own joke. She gathered quantum breach 290709.indd 110
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her things, got up and strutted off towards the lobby area. 
Turning immediately back to Stowe, McCabe had anger in his eyes. 
‘Have you gone mad, Stowe? She’s just a kid!’
‘Listen, McCabe, she is the best hope we have of getting close to this guy and fi nding out why he’s in your bank,’ Stowe spat back. ‘Does it not puzzle you that a known terrorist associate is working right under your nose?’ 
‘Okay, okay, but we have to play this very carefully, Stowe.’ McCabe sat back, knowing Stowe had a point, but he still did not like the turn events had taken. The pair of them then paid their bill and walked off towards the lobby. They found Ying pacing up and down in the foyer. 
‘Ying, you come with me to the offi ce,’ McCabe instructed her. 
‘I will meet you both here at eight this evening. Stay safe and you can let me know what you fi nd out,’ Stowe said, then vanished through the hotel doors. 
‘Come on Ying, let’s grab a taxi. We have a lot to do.’
On the way over, the pair of them sat silently. McCabe was deep in thought. He rubbed his fi ngers as his eyes stared out at the road ahead. As they drew towards Building 1 at the DIFC, McCabe turned to Ying. 
‘Okay, here we go. Natural and everything as normal. Just observe him, okay?’
‘Sure, boss. Got it,’ Ying replied, slightly annoyed by the authoritative nature of McCabe’s instructions. McCabe himself could sense this. 
‘Ying, you don’t want to end up in the desert with a hole in your head. These people can get very nasty, so no nonsense.’ 
Ying’s face dropped. She knew he was serious. Ying could feel her stomach beginning to knot up. When they entered the offi ce on the third fl oor, they walked up to where Ying sat. 
‘I need to go say “Hi” to a few folks, let them know I’m here for the week,’ McCabe said. 
‘Sure. I’ll just get on, and, by the way, thanks for breakfast, boss,’ 
Ying responded, knowing that Aziz was within earshot. 
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McCabe turned and looked at her. He thought that was very smart of Ying to say. It made their arrival seem all the more real. He turned and walked towards the glass offi ces situated on the other side of the long Dealing Room. 
‘Good morning, Aziz, I’m Ying.’ 
Aziz looked up, slightly startled by Ying’s approach. ‘Ying?’ he replied with some surprise as well as annoyance at being interrupted. 
He deliberately wanted it to seem as if he did not recall who she was. 
‘Yes, I book your deals. I’m one of the traders.’ 
It was then that Aziz made it seem he had recalled her name. He remembered how Ying had rejected one of his trades and forced him to tag his identity to the deal. But he admired her for being on the ball there. Not wanting to show any great surprise, he calmly acknowledged her. 
‘Ah yes, of course; Ying. But I thought you were based in Singapore?’
‘I am normally, but I’m here for a couple of weeks helping John as he was so busy.’ 
Ying then looked intently at Aziz, trying to observe his reaction to her reference to John. Aziz paused for a few seconds, though his dark eyes continued to hold their steady gaze on her. 
‘Ah yes, John. Not seen him this morning. Maybe he is unwell?’
Dead, more like, Ying thought to herself. Just before she could respond, she heard a voice behind her. 
‘Excuse me—Ying, can we talk for a moment, please?’
It was McCabe, standing right behind her. 
‘Sure, boss.’ She turned back to Aziz. ‘This is my boss, Mark McCabe. 
Boss, this is Mr Aziz, one of the local salesmen for commodities.’
McCabe paused; Ying had now forced him to respond. He gave a polite nod. ‘Pleasure, Aziz. We should catch up some time.’
‘Sure, that would be good. But I do have a very busy day. Another day perhaps. Now you both must excuse me, I have to fi nalise some deals. Your girl here can book them for me later.’ Ying was taken aback quantum breach 290709.indd 112
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by his use of the term ‘girl’, as if she was now some cheap lackey to do his bidding. 
‘Fine. Come on, Ying, Mr Aziz is busy.’ 
McCabe was pleased that Aziz appeared not to have reacted awkwardly to meeting him. This meant he might not have been aware of the attempt on him and Stowe the night before. Either that or he was one extremely cool character. 
As Ying and McCabe entered the pantry, McCabe shut the door fi rmly behind them. 
‘What were you thinking, Ying? We said observe only, and I fi nd you talking to the man. And you’ve now compromised me to the very man we’re investigating.’ McCabe was angry, his tone curt and blunt; his eyes were cold. 
‘Boss, it is part of my job. I book his deals. I was just trying to help. 
Besides, he will notice you soon enough. You work in the same bank.’ 
Tears welled up in her eyes. 
The door of the pantry opened and a small man entered the room. 
Observing that the two people already there were clearly in an argument, he turned sharply and left as suddenly as he had appeared. 
‘Okay, stop that Ying. I’m just looking out for you.’
Then with a direct tone, which took McCabe somewhat by surprise, she said, ‘Okay, I’m in this now, like it or not. So quit trying to keep me out. I’m no fool. I can handle this.’
Ying raised her head. The tears had vanished and her steely stare was directed straight at McCabe. ‘I may not be a tough guy like you or anything, but I know my trades and I can help you. This guy has been booking weird trades with the same counterparties each day for the past few days, large amounts. I think he is up to something. I can help work it all out, okay?’ She then turned deftly on her heels and walked over towards the other side of the small pantry, as if waiting for McCabe’s angry response. 
McCabe stood there for a few seconds pondering. ‘Okay. You have a point. Luckily for you, he seemed not to know me. Play it safe and let quantum breach 290709.indd 113
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me know what you fi nd out. And … I’m sorry about anything hurtful I might have said there.’ McCabe then opened the door and walked out. 
Christ, I’m in, Ying thought to herself. She then followed McCabe out. He had gone off to a desk on the other side of the room. She walked back to her own desk, thinking about what she had let herself in for. 
As Ying resumed her place at her desk, she could see that two deals were in her work queue, an alert was fl ashing on her screen, and both deal instructions were from Aziz. Ying could feel her heart begin to race. 
He had taken the bait, or at least not suspected anything. She opened up the details on her system and studied the transaction carefully. 
What are you up to, Aziz? she thought to herself, as she studied every detail of the term sheet. Something seemed very wrong. From what Ying could tell, the two companies, both very large shipping companies, were going to buy oil forward options valued at US$50 
million each. The deal structure seemed normal other than it was structured to suggest that the oil price would move down from US$145 
to US$135 and the chosen FX would move up from 20 to 40 basis points. This meant Al Safad would lose considerably on the deal but TJ 
would make a bundle. Ying continued to wrack her brain for anything that would make sense of this deal. She reclined back in her chair and closed her eyes for a few seconds, desperately trying to think. Al Safad! 
What was the connection? she thought. 
She jumped as someone tapped her on the shoulder from behind. 
Swinging around, she saw it was Aziz. 
‘You book my deals yet? Sorry, but I need them done today, okay. 
And no mistakes.’ He turned and headed back to his own seat. 
Slightly shocked at his sudden appearance, Ying took a couple of deep breaths. After a few seconds, and feeling calmer, she lifted up her body by pushing down on the arms of her chair. Straining to look over the row of desks in front of her, by craning her long neck, she could just see Aziz sitting back at his desk. He was picking up the phone and about to call someone. Relaxing her arms, she slumped back down into quantum breach 290709.indd 114
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her chair. It was clear that Aziz was okay using her to book his deals, so that was good. She might be able to help McCabe and Stowe work out what this man was up to after all, she thought. 
After getting a cup of chamomile tea, Ying returned to her desk, her head busy trying to work out if the deal Aziz had structured was in any way wrong. It all seemed okay, other than the fact that the price at which Al Safad was buying the oil option seemed very high, higher than market, in fact. The name Al Safad kept bouncing around in her head. She had heard it before, but simply could not recall where. Ying collected the printed term sheets off the printer and tucked them into her handbag. 
McCabe was busy at his computer scanning the internal contacts directory and internal organisation charts, building up a view of whom Aziz reported to and whom he worked with. As far as he could tell, Aziz had only one direct boss, Khaled Patel, Regional Head of Sales. 
McCabe made a mental note of the name; not that he really thought it would be of any use, unless his boss was also in on the action. I will have Stowe check him out though, he thought. 
McCabe then cast his mind to what Stowe was up to. Probably in a souk somewhere, sipping Arabic coffee thick enough to stand your spoon in, observing a shady suspect, he thought. 
McCabe then checked his watch, a nice chrome Omega Sea Master. 
It had the words ‘To the man I love, Kate’’ engraved on the back. Four-thirty, he noted. He had almost had enough for the day. He selected another page of the internal website and started to look at the company share performance. He had a very specifi c interest in how they were performing, given his last two bonuses were made up of a 40% share option allocation. 
Christ, he thought. It was dropping like a stone. As his eyes scanned the share price, he could see that the value had dropped from £14 per share to £12.40. His heart sank at the thought that that was at least 
£30,000 he had just lost off his pension fund. 
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by Aziz. The same type as before, oil contracts, but this time, Al Safad Shipping was going to buy oil from TJ Cargo at what seemed to be a very high price, almost US$170 a barrel, and this time the amount was much larger, US$70 million. But again, it was in favour of TJ Cargo. 
Ying hit ‘Print’ and got up and walked over to the printer to retrieve the details. As she reached the printer, she observed Aziz staring at her from his desk, his eyes just following her. She felt his eyes drilling into her intensely and felt shivers running down her spine. 
After she collected the printed copies of the term sheets, she turned sharply and looked directly at Aziz, expecting to see him jump and turn away, as if spotted by his prey. Instead, Ying saw an empty seat. He had vanished. 
Where are you, Aziz? she thought, her eyes scanning the room to try and spot him. As she approached his desk, she observed he had turned off his screen; he must have left for the day. Heading back to her own desk, she decided to call McCabe. As she dialled his number, it just rang out. 
Oh God, where is he? she thought. Putting down the receiver, she went back to studying the last transaction Aziz had placed in her work queue. 
‘What are you up to? There has to be something not right about your deals,’ she muttered to herself. 
McCabe was outside, carefully leaning against one of the marble pillars just outside the offi ce entrance. He watched as Aziz stepped into his white Mercedes, his driver obediently holding open the door. After his driver had walked around the car to the driver’s door, he paused to scan the area to see if anyone was looking. That told McCabe he was no ordinary driver. He appeared to have been trained in counter-surveillance, most likely a bodyguard. Though clearly not that good, as he had not observed McCabe watching him. 
Interesting, McCabe thought to himself. What would you, Mr Aziz, a so-called salesman for a bank, need with such protection, ha? As the car pulled away, McCabe followed it with his eyes, carefully noting quantum breach 290709.indd 116
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down the number plate. He then called Stowe. 
‘It’s McCabe. Run this number plate: 33336.’
‘Roger that.’ Stowe hung up and McCabe headed back into the building. 
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As Stowe entered the lobby of the Hyatt Hotel just before 8:00 p.m., he paused after a few steps and stood still, scanning the foyer. McCabe, who was seated just inside the lobby café, observed Stowe with a wry smile when he saw him enter. He found it interesting to observe a fellow operative at work. To anyone else it would have gone unnoticed, just a man getting his bearings upon entering a hotel lobby. 
But to McCabe and other masters of the covert craft, Stowe was looking for anything that seemed out of place. Where was the exit in case he had to run for it? What obstacles were in his way? What cover could he use in a fi refi ght? Who looked like they did not belong? These were the observation points of any spook entering a building. At that moment whilst observing Stowe, McCabe remembered what Stowe had once taught him: ‘Never go into a building without knowing how you can escape.’ Sound advice, he thought. 
Stowe then looked at McCabe, having spotted him seconds after his entry into the hotel. As he approached, Ying appeared from his right and to McCabe’s surprise, greeted Stowe with a kiss on the cheek. Stowe seemed unaffected by the gesture and simply smiled back at her. 
‘Come on, darling, let’s grab a drink, shall we?’ Stowe jested. 
‘Don’t mind me, you two,’ said McCabe. ‘Shall I just move to another table?’ 
‘Yes, that would be great. Ying and I have business to take care of.’ 
With that, Stowe burst out laughing. 
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‘Hey, no fi ghting boys, I can handle the two of you just fi ne.’ Ying beamed at them both and elegantly slid herself onto the red velvet stool to the right of McCabe. She then, as she always did, placed her handbag carefully down by her side at her feet. 
‘By the way, I managed to trace his car from the registration number you gave me. It’s owned by a shipping company by the name of Al Safad.’ Before Stowe had fi nished speaking, Ying piped up. 
‘What? That’s the company Aziz just did a deal for.’ 
McCabe looked at Stowe. ‘Interesting. What is Aziz doing driving around in a client’s car? So tell us about the trade, Ying. Every detail. 
Oh, and make it simple so Stowe here can understand.’ 
‘Very funny,’ Stowe jibed back at McCabe. 
‘Well, he has brokered two deals, basically forward oil option contracts at an agreed price, one for each of the shipping companies. 
Al Safad will be buying a forward option worth US$50 million at an expected price of US$175 a barrel. The thing is, they appear to be paying too high a price. Other than that, it seems very normal. 
‘TJ Cargo is also buying a forward option at US$50 million. Their price per barrel is an expected US$135, but their price seems to be pegged to the market. The odd thing is Al Safad would appear to make a loss as the oil price is expected to drop from US$145 to US$135.’ 
Stowe looked at McCabe. ‘So what do you think this chap is doing?’ 
‘Too early to say, but the trade seems straightforward enough, perfectly normal. The price does, however, seem a bit odd. Best we just keep an eye on him.’
As the three of them sat chatting around the small table, they were unaware of the elegant lady with neat grey, shoulder-length hair sitting just a few tables away. She sat sipping her Earl Grey tea, occasionally glancing up at them with her dark brown eyes. She would not have stood out; her navy blue, perfectly tailored suit looked totally in keeping with the hotel clientele sitting around her. She gently raised her hand and waved to a man standing at the back of the open café as if signalling quantum breach 290709.indd 119
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to him, then sat back and returned to her cup of tea. 
Aziz, meanwhile, had returned to the offi ce. He was sitting at his desk mapping out another string of deals for his two clients, only this time the deal size would be signifi cant. His eyes were smiling when he saw that his two clients had, as promised, deposited US$100 million each into the bank’s accounts, despite the fact Al Safad had just overpaid to the tune of ten million for its oil. Conversely, TJ Cargo now had a handsome profi t sitting on its books; it had made US$5 million against the drop in oil prices. Aziz had a powerful idea: he would structure a hedge to protect Al Safad from losing next time, and this would make his fi rst transaction look even more legitimate. 
‘I want you all over this Aziz guy, Ying. Let me know every deal he initiates. I’ll get the tech guys to track his emails and phone calls.’ McCabe was now thinking hard about how to track this guy from within. 
‘One strange thing I have noticed,’ Ying said. 
‘What’s that?’ McCabe said
‘Well, every now and then he takes a portable back-up device out of his bag, seems to download stuff onto a CD and then place it back in his bag.’
‘Well that sounds pretty signifi cant,’ Stowe said. 
‘Yes it does. Okay, thanks Ying. Guess we need to just track his movements,’ McCabe injected. 
‘I’ll head off now and make a few calls to London. I want to try and get more men out here to help track Aziz and look into this Al Safad lead,’ Stowe said. He then stood up, stretched out his arms and gave Ying a light kiss on both cheeks, then turned to McCabe and shook his hand. He wanted to give the impression they were mere acquaintances who had just concluded a business meeting rather than a group of spooks. Realising this, McCabe half-smiled. If only people knew that they were really a bunch of spooks trying to save the banking industry, he thought. 
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Stowe then turned and walked towards the hotel entrance. As he sauntered out across the large open foyer, a man suddenly rushed from Stowe’s left side and brushed past him. Stowe, reacting instantly, grabbed the man’s arm and twisted it up hard and around his back. The man let out a moan of pain as his arm was wrenched back. Stowe’s other hand was now forcing down on the man’s neck. Onlookers stopped in their tracks, alarmed at what was going on. Within seconds, McCabe rose from his chair and was halfway towards Stowe when Stowe’s eyes and a slight shake of his head caught his attention; it told McCabe to back off. 
McCabe, seeing this, immediately changed direction and walked off towards the front desk as if this had been his intended path all along. 
McCabe grabbed a tourist leafl et from the counter and headed back towards Ying, who was still sitting in the café. When he reached her, he calmly sat back down. Ying, however, was quite agitated. 
‘Don’t move, just stay cool,’ McCabe whispered. Meanwhile, two hotel security guards who looked more accustomed to guarding a building site than a high-end hotel were descending like rats after a bit of cheese on Stowe across the foyer. 
‘Hold up, fellas. This man just tried to lift my wallet.’ With that, Stowe let go of the man’s arm and deftly reached into the man’s inside right jacket pocket. ‘Here you go: my wallet.’ Stowe had, in fact, faked the wallet being taken via his sleight-of-hand movements; he wanted to see how he would react. What he did know was that the man had deliberately bumped him. 
‘Stand still, sir,’ shouted one of the guards, who then snatched the wallet from Stowe’s hand and opened it. After seeing a photo of Stowe inside, he carefully looked Stowe up and down. 
‘Okay, you can go,’ the guard muttered, handing back Stowe his wallet. The guard had clearly not noticed that the picture of Stowe was on an offi cial British Government identity pass. He and his partner then took hold of the man and marched him off with not even a struggle or swear word. Stowe observed this reaction with interest. 
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Thank God he didn’t search me down and discover the Browning pistol, Stowe thought. With that, he headed straight out of the lobby, not turning an inch to look at McCabe and Ying. 
‘What happened there? You could have helped him.’ Ying was shocked and fi dgeting on her stool. 
‘You still have a lot to learn, my girl. Stowe warned me off as I was heading in. That was a clear set-up to show how Stowe would react, or to discover if Stowe had help around him.’ 
‘What do you mean?’ Ying was looking confused. 
‘Someone wanted to draw out Stowe’s help; me, for example, thinking I would wade in and help him—and they would have been right. We would have all been exposed. Someone is on to us.’ 
‘Oh, my God!’ Ying slumped back in her chair and just stared at McCabe. 
‘Come on, you get to bed. See you in the morning, yeah?’
‘Okay. Night,’ Ying said. 
‘Oh … and Ying —’ 
Before McCabe could fi nish, she jumped in. ‘I know: lock my door; don’t open to anyone. Right, boss?’
‘Right,’ McCabe responded with a wry smile. 
As Ying headed off towards the lift lobby, McCabe watched her. 
He then turned and headed out of the hotel entrance. He needed some night air to clear his head. As he entered the revolving doors, he narrowly missed bumping into a lady, elegantly dressed in a blue suit. 
‘I’m sorry,’ McCabe immediately responded; he was always polite despite his ability to be hard and oblivious to such pleasantries. 
‘That’s quite all right, my dear. My fault,’ replied the lady. 
McCabe, thinking no more about it, continued on out of the doors and turned left down the marble steps. He had walked about 50 yards when he noticed two men sauntering up the driveway towards him. 
Both men were dressed in white shirts with blue jeans; not local Emirati, but Middle Eastern for sure by the looks of them. An Emirati would not be dressed so casually at that time of the evening; he observed that quantum breach 290709.indd 122
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neither of them was carrying any bags, so they had not been shopping, nor did they have any kind of backpack or briefcase to signify they had come from work. 
Though McCabe kept walking towards them, his instincts were now on overdrive. Sensing that something was wrong, he prepared himself—
just in case they jumped him. His adrenaline was now rushing through his veins, his heart starting to beat faster. 
Ten yards and closing, McCabe thought, counting down the paces in his head. Just as they were about to pass each other, McCabe tightened up his body and noticed the two men lift their heads at the same time. At the very moment he was about to turn in to them and defend himself, a blue Chrysler pulled up suddenly alongside him, its window rolled down. 
‘Get in!’ It was Stowe. McCabe, taken somewhat by surprise, opened the rear door and jumped in. The driver then pulled away sharply and headed off down the drive. McCabe looked back at the two men, who were now just standing dumbfounded by the road side watching them drive off. 
‘You okay?’ asked Stowe 
‘I’m fi ne.’ McCabe was out of breath. He had been expecting a fi ght and primed himself for it. ‘They were going to jump me, I just know it.’ 
McCabe felt his heart still pounding in his chest. 
‘I suspected as much. After that attempt on me, I fi gured they may also know who you are, so I waited to see. You see, McCabe, I knew you would pop outside, I know you too well. This means they are on to both of us. There’s a leak somewhere. We have to fi nd it and fast.’
Hearing this, McCabe knew that they were about to enter a game of cat-and-mouse. 
‘Christ! Ying!’ McCabe suddenly remembered Ying was alone in the hotel. What if they had followed her? ‘We have to go back, Stowe. Ying is alone.’ 
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side of town. We will be safe there.’ Stowe then took out his mobile and made a call. ‘Room number?’ Stowe asked. 
‘Uhh … 508,’ replied McCabe. Stowe informed one of his men to collect Ying, then hung up. 
‘Just like the old days, huh, McCabe? Come on, we have some planning to do.’ 
It was 10:00 p.m. by the time the car pulled into the driveway of the safe house which Stowe had arranged via the British Embassy. The local authorities were also being very helpful. Relations between the two countries were good, mainly due to the fact British Intelligence was providing training to a few Emiratis on maritime security, now a big issue in the seas of the Gulf. As McCabe stepped out of the car, his nostrils were fi lled with the sweet scent of frangipani and orchids. 
His past experiences with safe houses were less pleasant, more often the scent of old socks and blocked toilets fragranced the air. McCabe was a practical man, so it made no difference to him if the safe house was clean or dirty; it was not his home. 
Stowe eased out of the car and walked up the driveway towards the villa. McCabe stood for a few more seconds just pondering. He felt alive, and he loved this life despite its perils and nomadic nature. 
‘You okay, mate?’ asked Stowe. 
‘Yeah, I am. In fact, I’m good.’ McCabe patted Stowe on the shoulder and went in search of food. Stowe knew McCabe was a cold hard warrior; his instincts were the best he had seen. McCabe was a man of iron will; no better man to have working with him. 
The fridge door slammed shut as McCabe emerged with a folded bit of bread with what seemed to be layers of ham hanging out the sides. No time for fi nesse and neatly cut sandwiches; eating was a luxury when on alert, and both Stowe and McCabe knew that it would not be long before things started to accelerate. Both had already escaped several attempts to bump them off. 
‘You hungry?’ mumbled McCabe with his mouth full. 
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to the front of the villa. From there, he would be able to see anything that dared to approach unannounced. The road was well-lit; no sign of any cars or people, only one parked car in the street about 40 yards away. 
‘Get some rest. I’ll keep an eye on the road. I’ll let you know when Ying arrives, okay?’ 
‘Okay. Thanks,’ McCabe muttered 
‘Besides you have to work tomorrow,’ laughed Stowe. 
‘Ha, bloody ha,’ said McCabe, as he lay down on the sofa and closed his eyes. 
‘God, you can sleep anywhere,’ said Stowe. 
Seeing McCabe lying there made him recall a time when he and McCabe were pulling stag as part of a four-man SAS operation in Ireland. It made him suddenly realise how much the two of them had been through, and how close they in fact really were, each man having saved the other’s life more than once during their friendship. 
The events of that night would in fact remain etched in both Stowe’s and McCabe’s memories. It was a bitter cold night in November; the wind was howling above their heads as they lay hidden in a shallow drainage ditch, full of rotting leaves and the odd dead rabbit, observing a small farm cottage 300 yards in front of them, just on the southern border near Tyrone. 
The cottage was a suspected IRA safe house, often used for cross-border gun running. The rain could be seen driving hard across the open farmland just in front of their position. Despite the rain, McCabe lay fast asleep in an inch of muddy water; he could have been tucked up in a king-sized bed by the looks of his relaxed face. It was only when Stowe smacked his face hard with a wet branch that McCabe came to, instantly focused and alert. 
The fi refi ght that followed was not such a comical affair. McCabe and Stowe had edged their way around the perimeter of the fi eld under the cover of darkness and the driving rain towards the house. 
Their quarry had arrived back home and the lights were on. Stowe now quantum breach 290709.indd 125
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recalled vividly the events of that night: McCabe had edged his way around the small cottage, lying fl at against the wet stone wall, water pouring down over him from the rusty gutters above. 
Meanwhile, Stowe had crept around the other side heading towards the back door leaving McCabe to peer through the kitchen window. Through the yellow-stained lace curtain, he had seen two players sitting at the kitchen table and detected two Kalashnikovs on the far end of the table; this confi rmed the prey as IRA gunmen and clearly not farmers. 
It was then, as McCabe started to walk back to the fi eld, that both heard the crack, McCabe’s left leg burning from the bullet that had just struck him. A player had been taking out the ash from the fi re and come out of a hidden side door just on the other side of the kitchen. 
McCabe had not noticed the door which was hidden by a pile of logs and old bath tubs. 
McCabe was waiting for a second shot to fi nish him off when Stowe returned fi re. As if in slow motion, the man’s eyes rolled back, his white pupils facing the moon, as a bullet passed through the side of his head and exploded out the other side. The man dropped to his knees like a sack of shit and fell face forward over a small wire fence which surrounded what looked like an old vegetable patch, the blood from his head spilling out over the muddy ground as the rain diluted it into a river of pink. 
The two other players who had been sitting in the kitchen then appeared out of the side door. Stowe took only a few seconds to dispatch them: a burst from his MP5 sent the pair of them fl ying back against the door opening and into the house. They had clearly just bolted out having heard their fellow player’s gun go off and, not having heard the silenced Sig Stowe had used to kill him, they had stupidly rushed out, only to be met by Stowe’s welcoming hail of bullets. 
McCabe owed Stowe for saving his arse that night, but no words of thanks were ever spoken. It was a mental debt, one that Stowe well understood would one day be repaid. 
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It was midnight when the car arrived back, its headlights sweeping past the villa window. Seeing this, Stowe went outside to meet them. 
As the car came to a stop on the steep driveway, the rear door opened and Stowe could see two long legs appearing from under the rear door. 
Ying climbed out and walked up the drive towards him. She looked very tired, dressed only in a grey T-shirt and baggy track pants, her hair loose around her face and shoulders. Stowe took in the sight of this innocent woman who had now been thrown into what seemed to be a growingly complex situation. Stowe’s driver lifted out her luggage from the boot of the car and slowly followed her. 
‘Here, let me give you a hand.’ Stowe put his other arm around her waist. ‘You okay, Ying?’
‘Yeah, just a bit shocked when your man came knocking on my door. I was half asleep. He took ten minutes to convince me he was from you guys.’ She sounded tired and a bit down. 
‘Sorry, I should have called you, but things got busy for a while. 
McCabe almost got taken out by a couple of guys, and what with that incident in the hotel lobby, we can’t take any more chances.’
As Ying entered the villa, she could see McCabe stretched out on the green sofa just inside the living area. He was still fully clothed, sleeping like a baby, his head resting on his right arm. He almost looked peaceful, not like the tough warrior she was now beginning to realise he was capable of being. 
‘Leave him be. Come on, I’ll show you to your room.’ 
Stowe took her by the hand and led her down a small hallway to a room on the right. ‘You will be safe in here. I will have a couple of guys arriving tomorrow. They can help take care of you.’
‘My own bodyguard, Brian. Wow! Thought you and McCabe would protect me.’ Ying passed a wry smile at Stowe. 
‘We will, of course, but we have to get to the bottom of this. That means we may not always be at your side, Ying.’ Stowe was soft and for quantum breach 290709.indd 127
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the fi rst time sounded as if he cared. 
‘I know. Don’t worry about me. Goodnight, Brian, see you in the morning.’
Ying leant forward, placing her hands on his shoulders, and kissed him on the lips. Stowe looked right into her eyes and showed no emotion. 
To him, a kiss was just that; it had no effect other than lust on him. 
He wished he could feel a connection, a warm feeling in his soul, but who was he kidding? I don’t have a soul, he thought. 
Ying’s eyes were like dark pools of rainwater, the moon glinting in the middle. Stowe felt nothing as she pulled away and slowly walked backwards into her room, not breaking eye contact with him. As her door closed, she blew a kiss at him and shut the door. 
McCabe opened his eyes and saw the fan above him whirling around. As he slowly woke up, he sensed his back was killing him. The sofa was no place for his poor spine. He slowly sat up and rubbed his eyes. He stood up, feeling like he had been hit by a train; every bone in his body was protesting. As he entered the kitchen, Stowe was sitting at the table with one of his men. 
‘Morning, mate. Sleep well?’ 
‘God, I must have needed that kip, but, hell, has that sofa given my back some issues.’ 
‘Sit down, I’ll get you some eggs and bacon.’ Stowe got up and went over to the cooker. ‘Tony, can you excuse us.’ 
‘Sure, boss.’ With that, his man got up and headed out the back door. 
‘He’s a good guy, Tony, on the ball.’ 
‘Sorry, what?’ McCabe muttered as he rubbed his neck and started to drink the remains of Tony’s tea. 
‘Never mind, you just sit there and wake up.’ 
‘Where is Ying?’ McCabe said loudly, suddenly remembering that the last time he had seen her was at the hotel. 
‘She is about ten yards away, in the rear bedroom. She arrived late last night, so don’t panic.’ 
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‘Oh God, I must have been so out of it.’ 
‘Yeah, you missed Ying and I going at it. God, she is great in bed.’ 
Stowe waited for the reaction. It came in the form of an extended middle fi nger on McCabe’s right hand. Stowe laughed as he stirred the bacon, which was now spitting fat. 
‘Good morning, boys.’ Ying bounded into the kitchen, dressed in a grey skirt and white blouse, her hair neatly tied at the back. ‘Something smells good.’
‘Yeah, and it’s not McCabe,’ commented Stowe. With that, Ying burst out laughing as she took in the sight of McCabe sitting rather dejectedly at the far side of the table, his head in his hands. 
‘You two are so the comedians,’ he muttered. ‘Okay, let’s get to it. 
We have to decide on the plan of action today. Clearly someone is on to us. It’s a case of knowing who. We have to assume it’s Afzal Jihad.’ 
‘Should I stay here today?’ Ying was now serious and a look of worry began to appear on her face. 
‘No, we must carry on as if nothing has happened. It’s going to be important we fl ush out Aziz, if indeed he has anything to do with this at all.’ 
Stowe was now sitting down at the table, having slid the plate of greasy food in front of McCabe. Picking up his knife and fork, McCabe began to eat his eggs: nice and runny, just how he liked them. 
‘I’ll go in with Ying, a normal day. Okay?’ McCabe, now fully awake, responded. 
‘Okay, boss,’ Ying replied. Ying was now sitting down and enjoying McCabe’s bacon, as she stole it off his plate. 
‘I want you to just book his deals as if nothing has changed. Just print them out and inform me if anything looks strange, okay?’ McCabe then took another mouthful of bacon before Ying fi nished it off completely. 
‘You want some?’ McCabe grunted as if a dog guarding his bowl. 
‘No, thanks. I rarely eat breakfast.’ 
Stowe wanted more decisive action. ‘What are you hoping he will do, McCabe, stand-up and put his hands in the air?’
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‘Listen.’ McCabe put down his knife and fork and looked directly at Stowe. ‘We have to get solid proof against Aziz, work out what he is doing with these trades. They look strange. As such, they most probably are. He is doing it for a reason, and today I will fi nd out why.’ Stowe settled back in his chair. ‘If these trades are in some way funding an Afzal Jihad operation, we need to get all the details, so quit the sarcastic comments.’ McCabe had an angry tone in his voice. 
‘Okay, come on guys. I have no wish to interfere, but I’m the one who has to work with this man, so I think I have more cause for alarm. 
So who will look out for me?’ Ying was now being assertive, and both men looked at her with an element of surprise at her bold tone. 
‘I will, simple,’ McCabe responded. 
‘Yup, I will be in the area too, with Tony. At 3:00 p.m., I’ll need to run out to the airport to meet two more guys, okay?’ With that, Stowe got up. ‘Okay. I’m heading off, have to go to the British Embassy and square things there. The Emiratis will not like the fact MI5 and 6 are running around unannounced with guns. You okay to take a taxi?’ 
‘Sure; think we can manage that,’ McCabe replied. 
As Stowe left, McCabe turned to Ying. ‘You sure you are okay to do this? We can stop it now, you know.’ 
Ying hesitated for a few seconds before replying, ‘No, I have to do this, boss. Else people could get hurt, right? I’m in.’ 
‘Okay, then good, and I will be with you every step of the way. Now, if you will excuse me, I think I need a shower.’ 
Ying followed him with her eyes as he left the kitchen. Reaching into her handbag, she took out her mobile and called her mother in Singapore. 
‘Hi mum, it’s me. No, I’m fi ne, just been so busy, okay. Wanted to let you know I am okay and nothing to worry about. How is dad? 
Okay, great. Hey, I will call you later, promise, but I am okay. Love to dad, okay? Bye.’ 
As McCabe and Ying stepped into the taxi, Ying felt anxious, her stomach was knotting up. McCabe, sitting beside her, was dressed in a quantum breach 290709.indd 130
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navy blue suit and tie Ying had arranged for him via one of the offi ce assistants. It fi tted him perfectly, despite the fact McCabe looked very uncomfortable in it. It was a more acceptable form of dress code in Dubai than his normal jeans. He looked every inch the banker now, she thought to herself. 
As the taxi moved off, McCabe looked out of the side window. His training never left his side: he was looking for things that did not belong. 
His face was calm, his eyes darting around the landscape, and every now and then they appeared in the rear-view mirror. He could also observe the driver’s face from there, looking for any out-of-pattern glances from the driver. After a while, he settled back and looked over at Ying. 
‘So, Ying, ready for work?’ 
‘Hardly normal work, boss, dealing with a suspected … ’ McCabe put his fi nger to his lips and shook his head. Realising what she almost said, she changed her sentence to include the word ‘jerk!’ It was then that Ying realised how serious a game she was now playing: she even had to be careful about what she said in a taxi and to whom. This is going to be hard, she thought to herself. 
As the taxi pulled up outside of the DIFC building, McCabe got out fi rst and walked around to Ying’s door. He opened the door and helped her out. It was not that McCabe suddenly wanted to be the perfect gentleman, more a case of him having 30 seconds to survey the area. He paid the driver through his open window and they both walked into the building through the big revolving glass doors. 
Ying stopped abruptly. ‘Just one second, boss.’ She took in a deep breath and settled herself. ‘Okay, I’m ready.’ 
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Ying walked as she always did, with an elegant stride, her long legs accentuated by her black heels. She was fully aware of the eyes that followed her. She loved to look good, stylish and well groomed. As she approached her desk, she could see Aziz sitting over to her right, hunched over his computer keyboard. She actually found Aziz quite attractive; his dark olive looks made him appear somewhat mysterious and exotic. But he also had an air of caution about him, something that read ‘nasty if opened’ on the tin. 
Okay, here we go, she thought as she drew a deep breath. After sitting down, she placed her handbag carefully on the fl oor just inside the foot well, easing her chair under her desk. 
‘Morning, guys!’ she greeted the other traders at the desk with a big beaming smile. 
‘Morning,’ Colin responded without even taking his eyes off his screen. Colin was new in town, having been fl own over from London to help out, given that John had mysteriously disappeared. Most folks on the dealing fl oor had concluded that John had simply had enough and left, not an uncommon situation, as traders blew their brains out all the time. Only Ying knew the absolute truth. Seeing Colin sitting in John’s seat, she suddenly felt very sad and her emotion erupted. 
Colin, who had now bothered to look over at Ying, noticed her eyes were wet with tears starting to stream down her cheeks, creating the telltale black streaks of black mascara. 
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‘You okay?’ he asked somewhat apprehensively, in case he was intruding on a personal moment, which he indeed was. 
As Ying looked over, she quickly wiped away her tears with a tissue, not wanting anyone else to witness her moment of sadness. ‘Yes, I’m fi ne, just miss my family,’ she said in an attempt to hide the truth. 
She proceeded to enter her password and her screen fl ashed into action: twelve trades were sitting in her queue and two of them were from Aziz. Ying clicked her mouse on the fi rst of the two trades from Aziz. She could see that it was another deal for the Al Safad Shipping Corporation. But this time the deal size was for US$150 million. Ying’s face registered the shock. Then, after reading the trade details more carefully, she noticed the same oversight Aziz made with every set of instructions: his name was missing as the marketer. This meant that if the credit lines were breached, or the deal turned bad, they would come and look for her, not Aziz, because Ying would be seen as the trader who executed the deal. You shit, she thought. 
Across the other side of the room, McCabe was intently focused on his own computer screen, his eyes scanning the information in front of him, unaware of the noise and panic around him as traders were busy closing out bad positions. The market had moved down overnight and caused some big exposures. He could hardly believe his eyes: the bank’s market capital value had fallen overnight from US$55 billion to US$30 billion. 
‘Jesus,’ he muttered. 
Then his eyes moved on to another section of the screen where there was an announcement highlighted in a green box on the same bulletin page. This announcement informed the bank’s management that one of its shareholders, Tai Investments, was offering to buy more stock by investing £500 million. The statement, presented from the bank’s non-executive chairman, Christopher Fleming, read: We are pleased to announce, subject to regulatory approval, that
in these turbulent times, Tai Investments Ltd, a new shareholder of
the bank, is off ering to inject 500 million pounds in capital. Th
 is 
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capital injection would come at a time when the bank would benefi t
from having a higher level of capital to sustain its leading market
position. Th
 e board members and I will be considering the proposal
and will make an announcement in due course. We would like to
thank Tai Investments for their continued support.’
McCabe sat back in his chair, his mind racing to try and assimilate the information. Who were Tai Investments? He then started to think about the suspect transactions Aziz had been booking. Suspect from a price perspective, that is, but they were existing bank clients. 
So was there a connection between the shipping companies and Tai Investments, and, if so, what was that connection? 
Just as he leant back in his chair to ponder this, he was interrupted. 
‘McCabe, my offi ce now.’ 
Helen Brown, the head of the Dubai Financial Markets division stood in her offi ce doorway. Brown was a pasty, fat Brit with calf muscles that resembled upturned bowling pins and the breath of a Viking warrior. Rumour had it she was promoted and sent to the Dubai offi ce to help grow the market expansion into the Middle East as a result of sleeping with the group head of Human Resources. McCabe hated her with a passion; to him, she was just a rude, overpaid lard bucket. 
McCabe slowly lifted himself out of his chair and ambled over to her offi ce. Brown walked back inside like an expectant spider that had just seen a fl y and settled herself into her large leather chair. 
‘McCabe, one of your traders, this Ying Lee, seems to be making big profi ts, almost fi ve million to date. How can this be in such a short market?’ 
McCabe just sat on the other side of Brown’s desk looking directly at her, his face set in a deep frown. As Brown sat back, her fl abby arms resting on the arms of the chair, McCabe leant forward. 
‘Okay, Helen, listen. There is an internal investigation going on, the details of which I cannot share at this time and, even if I could, I am not sure your tiny brain would understand. Ying is helping me investigate.’ 
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Brown looked at McCabe with some surprise, her mouth now gaping open as she took in McCabe’s fi rm and direct tone. 

‘I will try and arrange for you to get a call later today from Christopher Fleming’s offi ce, explaining that I can’t tell you what is going on, but for you to back off. How does that sound?’ McCabe then sat back, still glaring at Brown. He was hoping she would swallow the bullshit he had just fed her. 
‘What the hell are you talking about? Have you gone completely mad, McCabe? Should I contact your boss in Singapore and tell him you have lost it, you insolent thug? I have heard nothing from audit about such an investigation.’ 
Brown was glowing bright red, her chubby cheeks almost exploding. 
She was not known for her polite tact, which was why McCabe hated her so much. No matter how senior you are, courtesy costs nothing; in her case she deserved no respect at all. 
McCabe stood up and leant over her desk, his knuckles placed fl at down on Brown’s desk. ‘I told you to wait and listen. Now how hard can that be to understand? Even for you. As I have said, there is something going on, an investigation far beyond your shallow world and authority, and I am on the case, but I’m not at liberty to share with you right now. 
So just chill and go with the fl ow, okay.’ 
Brown didn’t fl inch. She remained frozen in her chair. Brown was more accustomed to giving the verbal beatings, never being on the receiving end. After a few seconds, she piped up, ‘McCabe, I have no idea what is going on here, but if I don’t hear from London, today, I will make sure you get fi red, got that? I can assure you of that.’ 
McCabe continued to stare at her, then he winked and stood up. 
Very calmly, he strolled out of her offi ce and back to his desk. In his own mind, he knew he should have shown more control, but the opportunity to put Brown in her place was just too good a blessing from the gods to ignore. 
As McCabe settled back down into his chair, he could see out of the corner of his eye that Brown was still collapsed in her throne. He had quantum breach 290709.indd 135
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waited a long time to put the fat cow in her place. In his view, she was an arrogant bitch who thought she knew it all and managed by fear. No wonder banks were in such a mess, having parasites like Helen Brown leading them. As he started to refocus on his screen, his phone vibrated. 
He picked it up and answered. 
‘McCabe.’
‘It’s Stowe. My boys have arrived. Meet me at the safe house later. 
Say 8:00 p.m. Okay?’ 
‘Sure, but wait. Good that you called. Can you get your boss to have a gentle word with Fleming? I need cover and fast. They need to get Fleming to call Helen Brown here in Dubai. Just tell her to leave me the hell alone, matter of the uppermost bank importance, something like that, yeah?’ 
‘Sure. Helen Brown, is it? I will have a word with Trent and arrange cover fi re for you. She’ll be one of those queuing up to kiss your arse after this.’ With that, Stowe hung up. McCabe then sat back and smiled. 
It was going to be an interesting day, he thought. 
Ying completed entering the deals Aziz had instructed and then got up and walked casually over to the printer. It was situated across the room in a little side room off the main Dealing Room. As Ying collected the four pages of trade instructions from the printer tray, her wrist was suddenly grabbed. Startled, she spun around: it was Aziz. He gripped her wrist hard. 
‘Listen to me, girl. You do as you are told and say nothing. You just entered my name against those deals. You think I don’t know?’ His eyes were cold and dark. 
‘I have to. It’s policy. Now let go of me before I scream the place down and you have a ton of angry traders on you.’ Ying’s tone was fi rm and very serious. 
‘You do that and you will regret it. Just book the deals and keep your nose out. Don’t forget that you are making good commission out of my deals, girl.’ 
With that, he let go and walked off. Ying stood there in shock. She quantum breach 290709.indd 136
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felt herself shiver. After a few seconds, she composed herself, took out her mobile and dialled McCabe. 
‘Boss, it’s me.’
‘What’s up? You okay?’ McCabe could sense she was sounding a bit uneasy. 
‘It’s Aziz. He grabbed me in the printer room, told me to do as he said, else I would be in for it.’
‘Did he now? That means he’s starting to have some suspicions of his own. That’s it. I need to pull you out.’ McCabe’s eyes were now themselves cold and showed an intense focus. 
‘No! No, if you do that, all will be lost. I can handle it. He just thinks I’m a meddling brat because I made him enter his correct details against a trade. I’m sure he was just pushing his weight, that’s all.’
‘Remember, this man could be dangerous, Ying. Be extra careful. 
Okay, I’ll see you later. I have to do a few things. See you back at the safe house, okay? Stowe will send someone to collect you. Are you sure you’re okay? I can walk over now if you want?’
‘No, I’m okay, just being a wimp, I guess. See you later.’ Ying sounded more positive now. Hearing this, McCabe hung up. 
As McCabe hung up his mobile phone, so did Ying, a coincidence that Aziz had just carefully observed. He went back to his desk and picked up the phone. His fi ngers punched out a number frantically. 
When the woman answered, he said, ‘It’s Aziz. I think I may have compromised myself. I tried to place the frighteners on one of the traders to make sure she did my deals on time. I’m pretty sure she has just complained to her boss.’ He then waited for a response. 
‘You idiot, are you trying to get yourself discovered before we can complete the operation? As it stands, they can’t prove anything yet. All you have done is book a number of deals that look normal, aside from the pricing which lost Al Safad money. You can claim poor decisions if anyone comes snooping around. That is, unless you scare up like just now. You wait and, next week, we execute the Trojan horse. You understand me? Hang on and do not fail me, Aziz.’ 
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‘Yes, I hear you,’ Aziz confi rmed. 
‘Maybe I will arrange to scare this young lady of yours, to see what she is made of. Remember Aziz, I have men watching you at all times. In fact, I have a man right outside your building. You can’t sneeze without me knowing. I know what she looks like. I have seen her, so leave it with me. Do not lose sight of the fact that we are very powerful, Aziz.’ The phone then went dead. 
Aziz quickly started to back-up some fi les on his computer as a precaution, just in case he was discovered. 
As Ying walked back to her desk, she looked over towards Aziz. She could see him at his desk, typing away feverishly. 
‘I will get you, Aziz.’ Ying had a determined look on her face as she walked back to her desk. 
An hour later, Ying stood up. ‘I think I will head out for a late lunch. 
See you boys later.’
She picked up her Miu Miu bag and headed out towards the lifts. 
As she stood in front of the lift, she couldn’t help but feel proud of her efforts. She was helping to trap a worm. The lift doors opened and she stepped in. Time to go shopping, she thought Aziz, however, had seen her leave. He hurriedly dialled a number on his phone. ‘Okay, she is coming out.’ He then hung up. Given the issue he had almost caused by trying to strong-arm Ying, he decided he would also fi nish for the day. So he, too, gathered his things—in particular, his treasured CD on which he had saved all his work—and headed out. 
As he stared blankly at the lift doors, his mind momentarily relaxed. 
His thoughts ran to his family and what they would be doing. His sister would most likely be watching Oprah re-runs, her only entertainment since she became wheelchair-bound after her accident. He snapped out of his reverie as the lift jolted to a stop, and positioned himself to make a fast exit from the lift. The few seconds it took for the doors to open seemed like eternity. They fi nally slid open. Aziz walked out and turned right towards the main entrance of the offi ce building. As he emerged quantum breach 290709.indd 138
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into the bright sunlight, his eyes were blinded by the glare. He stopped in his tracks and waited for his eyes to adjust. 
‘Sir, over here!’ His driver was waving at him and hurrying over to take his briefcase. Aziz followed and climbed into the back of the car. 
As the door shut, his driver looked to see if his boss had been followed. 
Satisfi ed that he had not been, he got in and shut his door. 
‘Home, sir?’ 
‘Yes, and hurry,’ Aziz stared at him in the rear view mirror, then sat back and closed his eyes. 
McCabe stopped in his tracks when he saw Ying’s desk was empty. 
Shit, he thought. With that, he boldly walked up to Colin, who sat next to Ying. 
‘Excuse me, have you seen Ying? I need her urgently,’ McCabe asked. 
‘No, mate. Oh, she said something about going off shopping, late lunch. You only just missed her, about fi ve minutes ago.’
‘You sure?’ McCabe asked, seeking confi rmation. His face was now looking fearsome. 
‘Yes, I’m sure. Not that I’m her mother.’ 
With that, McCabe spun around and headed out towards the lift lobby. Instinct was telling him something was wrong. On the way out, he reached inside his pocket and took out his phone, hitting the speed-dial for Stowe. After only two rings, he got a reply. 
‘McCabe, what’s up?’ 
‘Listen. No time to explain, but Ying has gone for a walkabout. I need some help down here to fi nd her. It’s important. I think she may have been compromised.’ 
‘Okay, give us 40 minutes. I’ll be there later.’ With that, Stowe hung up. 
McCabe stepped in, the doors closed and the lift started to head down. He was trying to imagine where Ying would have gone. It was almost 3:30 in the afternoon, so his guess would be that she had headed for the Emirates Shopping Centre. 
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As Ying entered the Emirates shopping mall, a man dressed in a scruffy grey suit followed not too far behind her, his eyes focused on her back. Ying stopped to look in the window of Prada. 
Now that is a bag, she thought, her eyes taking in a small, black goatskin clutch bag with the ‘Prada’ logo embossed in leather on the side, a gold chain strap neatly draped over it. 
Ying was so focused on the bag, she failed to notice the man brush past her and continue walking up the mall. She made a mental note of the bag and turned, looking directly down the row of other high-end boutiques that awaited her attention. She glanced at her watch. Yes, I can afford an hour or so, she thought, and with that, she paced up the black-and-white tiled marble fl oor towards the next shop. 
Just then, she remembered what Stowe and McCabe had told her the evening before: ‘Look around, observe your surroundings, see who does not belong.’ She smiled to herself and took in the many people who were buzzing around the mall, walking like her into the odd shop for a look. Not that I can tell who is real or not, she thought. 
Then her eyes caught sight of what to her was a haven of pleasure, a shoe shop. Ying walked straight in and started to browse, her eyes catching a pair of high gold evening shoes. As she picked one up off the glass shelf for a close inspection, she did not pay much attention to the man next to her. Not until she turned and looked at him, as if instinct had told her to. 
He seemed very out of place. He was dressed in a light-grey suit, his shoes were very dusty and worn, and they were covered in scuff marks. 
Ying took particular notice of a man’s shoes. She believed it said a lot about how he cared for himself. As her eyes stared at his shoes, she felt uneasy. This was odd to her. She had never before seen a man in such a high-end women’s shoe shop when his own shoes were so scruffy. 
Thinking that she, too, would learn from the advice Stowe and McCabe had given her, she concluded that he seemed wrong and out of place. She placed the shoe back on the shelf, and with that, she turned and headed for the door. As she stepped outside, she turned right quantum breach 290709.indd 140
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and started to walk fast towards the exit. She turned around: the man who had stood beside her was now following her. Her heart was now beginning to pound in her chest, her throat grew dry. 
Oh my God, I was right! Her head was now spinning. 
She could feel herself starting to break into a jog, her heels slipping on the marble. She reached inside her bag for her phone, fl ipped it open and hit the speed dial number for McCabe. Her heart sank as she could see that there was no signal … the main entrance was now only a few hundred yards away. 
She looked back over her shoulder and saw that the man was gaining on her fast, pushing aside shoppers who walked in front of him. Now out of breath, she tried to walk faster, not looking where she was going. 
She ran straight into a woman who emerged from a doorway and they both went crashing to the fl oor. 
‘Look where you are going!’ the Emirati lady said, not at all happy that Ying had collided with her. 
‘Sorry, very sorry. It’s just that that man is following me.’ With that, Ying pointed in the direction of the man. He was nowhere to be seen. 
Ying got up and brushed herself off. She picked up her purse and phone which had spilled out of her bag when she had fallen over. Her knee was now throbbing, as she must have hit it when she fell on the fl oor. She fl ipped open her phone and looked at the signal bar. Full signal. She then dialled ‘3’. 
‘Ying, where the hell are you?’ McCabe sounded angry as he answered immediately. 
‘Emirates Shopping Centre, I … ’ Ying paused, suddenly thinking that maybe she was wrong. She didn’t want McCabe to laugh at her, to think that she was paranoid. She decided to play it cool. ‘I … was shopping; sorry.’ 
The phone was then snatched out of her hand and two burly men took her by each of her arms. ‘What the hell?’ Ying then stopped. 
‘McCabe, it’s me, Stowe. I have just run into Ying. See you back at the safe house.’ 
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Relieved to hear this, McCabe just replied, ‘Okay.’ With that, Stowe hung up. 
‘You okay, Ying?’ Stowe was calm and a slight smile appeared on his face. 
‘Yes, I’m fi ne. Sorry, just been rushing around. But you scared me.’ 
‘Sorry, no harm meant. I was just out with the guys here, also shopping,’ Stowe said, not wishing to alert Ying to the fact McCabe was worried about her. ‘Where are my manners? This is Ryan and Geoff. 
Both work for me. Out here for a spot of sun and sand,’ Stowe joked. 
They both looked at Ying. 
‘Afternoon, madam,’ they both said, as if on cue. 
‘Come on—let’s get you out of here and back to the safe house. You can take the rest of the day off,’ Stowe quipped. 
They all walked off towards the mall exit, Ying looking fragile with the two agents on either side of her. 
The lady looking out from a nearby shop window was expressionless, her dark brown eyes staring at Ying. She emerged from the shop and walked off in the opposite direction, her casual stride not hurried, no sense of urgency was evident. She looked elegant in her suit and neat grey hair and seemed like any other shopper to be found in such a high-end boutique mall. As she emerged into the daylight, the door of a green Rolls Royce was opened for her and she gracefully climbed in. 
A thin Lebanese man in a grey suit and dirty brown shoes, the man who was, in fact, supposed to scare Ying but had failed in her view, sat next to her on the rear seat. 
‘You failed me,’ she uttered in a stern but calm voice. 
The man turned to her. ‘Sorry, madam, I will not fail you again.’ 
Upon hearing this, she lifted her hand and slapped him hard across the face. ‘No, you will not, let me assure you of that.’ 
The man winced as his face stung from the hard blow. He then turned and got out of the car and closed the door. 
‘Drive on,’ she ordered the driver and settled back in the luxury of her Rolls. 
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The thin man observed her drive away, then he walked off towards the car park where he had parked his car on the third fl oor. As he stepped out of the lift and walked the few yards to where he had parked his car, he noticed that the light above his parking space was fl ickering. 
After a second or two, it blew out. Thinking nothing of it, he reached inside his jacket pocket, took out his car keys and pressed the button. 
His car beeped and the doors unlocked. 
He climbed in and sat for a few moments behind the wheel, thinking about how the lady who had hired him had slapped him. 
The sudden slap across his face from a woman was almost too much to stand; his pride dented. One thing he did know, he would not allow her to do it again. 
He hardly had time to fi nish his thought when the wire around his neck began to bite. He felt his eyes bulge and pop as he gasped for air, his hands frantically pulling at the wire around his neck, his legs thrashing at the fl oor trying to push his body back to ease the tension, twisting and arching to fi nd any means of escape. 
The hands that started to pull the garrotte tighter around his neck were strong. As the wire started to saw, blood spurted out from his severed neck, his windpipe and jugular now cut like a piece of soft cheese. His limbs fell limp and he slumped forward as the wire was released, blood and air bubbling out from the deep gash. The assassin, who had so patiently waited for his mark to return, calmly climbed out, shut the car door and walked away. 
As the green Rolls Royce gracefully pulled up outside of the Burj Al Arab Hotel, the door was opened by a doorman who greeted the occupant with a polite ‘Good afternoon, madam.’ It could have been a scene from the Savoy in London. As the lady with neat grey hair stepped out, she had a knowing look upon her face, as if already aware that her last instruction had been carried out in full. She liked obedient men and did not tolerate failure. This was a lady who didn’t grant many second chances. 
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hearing it was carried out as per her instructions, she hung up and walked off into the hotel. For her, an evening of fi ne dining and wine lay ahead. The new CEO of Tai Investments, her long-time business partner Mr Surat, was eagerly waiting for her in the plush restaurant. 
Surat had been self-appointed as CEO given his now excellent track record in delivering large profi ts. He had bought his way onto the board. Tai Investments was now strategically important to him. It was already a shareholder of BCB. The outgoing CEO had mysteriously been found dead in his London home; suspected suicide. Surat knew bettter. His conglomerate of investment companies was now the owner of Tai Investments. His self-appointment to CEO was the fi nal act in his strategy of control. 
As she entered the restaurant, Surat stood up. 
‘Good evening, nice to see you again,’ he greeted her, before sitting back down. 
‘Good evening, Khun Surat. We appear to be doing well,’ she said with an air of confi dence. 
‘Yes, but we must make sure that Tai Investments remains clean and is not seen to be too close to these shipping deals. I cannot afford for this to leak out, are we clear?’ Surat said fi rmly so that the intent could not be mistaken. 
The lady half smiled and nodded her head, not liking his tone. But he was more powerful within the group. His was the money that funded the cause and without him, Afzal Jihad would be back to blowing up rubble and buses, so she had to take his lead. 
‘Good. I want the fi nal stage of the project to be completed by next week. I want to pump some cash into Banning Capital and stake our claim, so no mistakes. I also want those British Secret Service guys dealt with. It’s personal, and I want it to hurt, so tell your people to get it done right this time. You know why.’ Surat paused, his eyes momentarily cold and dark. 
‘Have you spoken to our dear friend in MI5 recently?’ she enquired. 
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‘Yes, indeed I have. He is still on side and knows what to do. Not that he has much choice in the matter if he wants his dirty little secrets to stay buried. He must keep you informed of their every movement,’ 
Surat responded. He then paused and took a sip of water, 
‘Understood. I will make sure it gets done,’ she replied
‘Good, now let us enjoy our dinner.’ With that, Surat poured some wine and they settled back to enjoy dinner. 
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As the car pulled into the driveway, McCabe was already standing at the top of the drive like an angry father whose daughter had arrived back home in a police car. Ying stepped out of the car, followed by her two new guard dogs, and she looked up at McCabe. 
‘I just went out for a while. I didn’t want to get you worried.’ She broke a smile at him, hoping it would subdue his look of anger. 
‘I’m not angry, just glad you’re safe. However, the rules of the game have now changed greatly. These two chaps will be your shadow from now on.’ With that, McCabe took Ying by the arm and led her inside. 
As Ying sat down on one of the chairs in the living room, her mind started to whirl: something inside her was beginning to connect the toxic dots. Clients, one makes money, the other loses. Oil prices, facts and fi gures were now colliding in her brain as if trying to fuse together. 
‘Oh my God!’ Ying sprung up from the chair she had just sat down in. 
‘What is it?’ Stowe reacted fast to her tone. 
‘The loss exposure! That’s how he’s doing it.’ Ying felt a rush of excitement as it dawned on her how Aziz was structuring the trades. 
‘What is it? Ying?’ McCabe felt himself freeze dead in his tracks. 
Ying was now deep in thought. ‘Okay, sit down the pair of you, let me lay this out.’ Both McCabe and Stowe sat on the sofa, their faces expectant of an explanation from Ying. 
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good and one bad.’
‘What do you mean?’ Stowe piped in. 
‘Hang on, Brian. The bad side, Al Safad in this case, deliberately pays too high a price for its oil contracts. Why? To deliberately force a loss which is large enough to affect its capital. Clear?’
‘I’m still not with you.’ Stowe was looking confused. 
‘The parent company, Moon Star Holdings, has to pay in more cash to cover the loss Al Safad Shipping has just made. The objective being the cash injection is most likely dirty money, made from drug deals, prostitution, whatever, right: money laundering!’
Ying was now smiling. ‘That’s brilliant, Ying,’ McCabe now piped in. 
‘Hang on, there’s more.’ For the fi rst time, Ying felt she was adding some real value to the operation. She even felt a little in control. 
‘Okay, now for the other company, TJ Cargo. They buy oil at a low price. This is where Aziz uses his talents: they make a profi t based on the fact the oil price goes up, and the currency they use also goes up in value, more for their dollar. 
‘Now—and here is the smart part—TJ uses the capital made to pay up the chain, and they put this into the banks in the form of stock. TJ 
also buys the options from Al Safad at a knock-down price, and later uses this to sell into the market at a higher price.’ 
‘That is bloody brilliant, Ying.’ McCabe and Stowe were both looking at each other. 
‘Well, one small issue. It’s only a guess and we don’t know who owns Moon Star Holdings, but maybe it’s Tai Investments? Now that would be big news.’ Ying was now really beginning to think. 
‘It sounds very plausible to me,’ McCabe said. 
‘We need to fi nd out who owns Tai Investments. Maybe it’s Afzal Jihad,’ Stowe said. ‘Then we have the bastards.’
‘Yeah, but that’s not all. Boss, thinking about it, Aziz knows that the bank is about to propose a rights issue across the existing shareholders to build up cash reserves, so he may have hit the timing perfectly.’
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‘Bugger me,’ McCabe said. ‘Ying, you stay on him and continue to book his deals like all is normal, okay? Stowe, did you speak with Trent about getting the CEO to call Brown?’
‘Yes, all done. They will inform her you are helping them with an internal audit issue,’ Stowe said. 
‘Great, that means London will be calling Brown in a while and that means the offi ce here will be off our backs, and we can start to unwind this web of deals, get to the bottom of what is going on. It appears our friendly Al Safad Shipping Company is up to no good, and Aziz really is the executioner of doom.’
‘No, your Aziz is just a puppet, believe me. There is someone else behind this with even more brains and a real edge, you mark my words.’ 
Stowe’s eyes were dark and his face bore a serious frown. 
‘Who is it, Stowe, any thoughts?’ McCabe asked as he took a bite out of an apple he had carefully selected from the fruit bowl. 
‘That’s just it, I don’t. And given that it is the more serious aspect to focus on, we are pretty much in the dark. Not a good place to be, people.’ Stowe sat down at the kitchen table. 
Ryan had now placed a steaming cup of tea in front of him. ‘Maybe that’s why Aziz is off. It’s a diversion, they expect us to follow him.’ 
McCabe now joined Stowe at the table. 
‘Come on, you lot, put your heads together. I think there has to be a connection.’ Ying sat in the armchair, her eyes staring up at the ceiling fan as it went round. 
‘A mole of some kind,’ McCabe speculated. ‘Someone who is trusted by the Afzal Jihad group, or is a major player within, but also has a line into MI5 and 6. That’s the only explanation. After all, they seem to know our every move.’ He turned with an impish look on his face as his tone shifted into a more playful register. ‘It’s not you, Stowe, is it?’
Stowe jerked his head towards McCabe; his look said it all. ‘Not funny, McCabe. But you have a point. It is the description of whom we need to fi nd.’ 
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for the solution to pop up. After about 15 minutes, Ying got up and walked into the kitchen. ‘Anyone hungry? I can cook. I want to take a shower fi rst and freshen up though. Then I’ll whip up something for dinner, okay?’
‘Great,’ said Ryan. Stowe and McCabe just nodded and went back to their thoughts. Faces past and present were fl icking through McCabe’s head, each face being processed by his subconscious brain. It was as if he was processing every face he had ever seen in the hope something would stick. 
Stowe got up from the kitchen table and walked out of the living room and down the narrow corridor. He wanted to get some cigarettes from his room; the odd smoke helped him think. As his hand grabbed the door handle to his room and opened the door, he turned. Ying was standing right behind him, draped in only a white towel. 
‘Shush,’ she said and motioned with a fi nger to her lips to stay silent. 
As she stepped forward, she pushed him back into his room and placed her arms around his neck. 
‘Ying, what are you … ’
Before Stowe could fi nish, her tongue was in his mouth, her lips now fi rmly against his. Stowe felt any possible resistance melting. Ying’s soft lips tasted great; her tongue working its way around the inside of his mouth. As he opened his eyes, he could see Ying’s half-open eyes looking right back at him. He was lost; her cat-like eyes just grabbed his attention. He felt her knee rise up and nudge gently into his groin. By now, he was hard. Even Stowe had urges and there was no way he could resist Ying. Her hand lowered and started to stroke his groin. Stowe moaned as her lips continued to kiss him. Ying unfastened his belt and deftly undid his trousers, her hand now working its way inside. 
As he broke the kiss, his eyes were now wide open. ‘Ying, we can’t!’ 
Her fi nger was quickly placed against his lips. 
‘I want you, Brian. Please,’ Ying pouted at Stowe and he felt himself weaken and his animal instincts take over. 
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As Stowe walked somewhat casually into the sitting room, his mind was not as focused as it should have been given the magnitude of the operation they now had in play. Instead, his mind was focused on the time he had just spent making love with Ying. Ying had fucked him to within an inch of his life. He was feeling so good, and he had, in fact, never felt this close or erotic to anyone before. As if his walk were not enough of a clue to say he was not his normal self, his face had a big smile splashed all over it; McCabe spotted it instantly. 
‘You okay, Stowe?’ McCabe said, his own face showing a somewhat concerned expression. 
‘Yeah fi ne. Just had a lie-down and a smoke.’ McCabe instantly knew this was bullshit: Stowe never took a nap, and certainly not when critical thinking had to be done. McCabe decided, however, to ignore it for now, not so much because he actually liked seeing Stowe happy for a change, but because he needed Stowe’s head back in the game. 
A few moments later, Ying appeared dressed in her track pants and a baggy grey T-shirt with the words ‘Bite Me’ printed in big black letters on the front. 
‘Hi, guys. Okay, who’s for food?’ 
McCabe looked at her. Her actions, combined with the way Stowe had just looked at her as she entered the room, confi rmed his fears: they had just had sex with each other. 
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‘What?’ Ying asked in response to that knowing look McCabe gave her. 
‘Nothing. Just thinking.’ With that, McCabe got up and walked out into the garden. Ryan and Geoff were also outside making sure the house was secure, each one pacing around the garden. Stowe also headed outside. 
McCabe was now sitting on the stone wall that surrounded the swimming pool. He looked up, ‘Stowe, you remember Beirut, when Kate was killed?’
‘Yeah, of course I do. Why?’ Stowe replied, somewhat surprised at the question. There was even a note of defensiveness in his voice. 
Having now sparked up a cigarette, he fl icked his ash onto the grass. 
‘The informer, a lady I think, the one who told you who did it. 
What was her name?’ McCabe paused. Stowe now just gazed into the swimming pool. 
‘Rain Angel. Why?’ 
‘Ever thought that she could be our leak? I mean, she has the access to all the information and that guy from the car chase—you know, the guy you so artfully interrogated—did say the word “Rain”.’ 
‘You think she’s our mole?’ Stowe turned sharply, knocked fully off stride by McCabe’s thoughts. 
‘Well, it’s plausible, right? She knew Hezbollah, right, now Afzal Jihad, and is an informer for MI6 to boot. She defi nitely fi ts the bill.’ 
‘Yes. But that’s like saying a dozen or so other informers could also fi t the bill.’ Stowe was clearly trying to get his head around the idea. 
‘Well, it’s just a hunch, that’s all. So how do you account for the 
“rain” comment from the guy who is now rat food?’ McCabe went quiet and just sat on the wall. 
‘No one has ever seen the Rain Angel, no idea who she is. All we know is that she is a woman, always dealt with via a handler, but you have a point, McCabe.’ Stowe said instantly, his mind now buzzing, whilst at the same time very concerned at the possible leak. 
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other blankly and went inside. Sitting down at the table, they were presented with a steaming bowl of spaghetti, which in fact smelled fantastic. Seeing the glances Stowe and McCabe were shooting each other, Ying sarcastically quipped, ‘What were you expecting—chicken rice?’ Stowe then laughed. Even McCabe cracked a smile. 
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As Christopher Fleming, the bank’s Chief Executive, sat at the boardroom table, it was clear he had to make a hard decision. The bank needed capital, and fast: the losses they had incurred via the credit crunch had resulted in the bank being hit for US$350 million. 
Whilst to some institutions this was a drop in the ocean, for Banning Capital, it was the difference between staying alive and collapse. The bank had securitised a loan for a US mortgage provider; a very bad decision, as it turned out. His fellow board members were all looking at each other, as if some divine intervention would save their jobs. 
Fleming looked at the fi nance executive and nodded. 
‘Good. Trigger the rights issue. We need at least £500 million to cover ourselves, so I suggest we try and raise one billion, issued at £5 
a share, and only offer it to the bank’s existing shareholders. In fact, Tai Investments, one of our newest shareholders, has already expressed interest in buying more stock. I don’t want us being bailed out by the government, is that clear, gentlemen?’ He paused. ‘I also want this to be presented well to the media. Just say we are issuing the stock to ensure we are well capitalised, not that we need it.’ 
With that, he looked around the room. Each of the board members was busy writing his instructions down, or nodding like an obedient puppy that had just been given permission to pee on the lawn. After the meeting had been adjourned, they all left the room, scurrying off to prepare the rights issue and the media packs. 
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Just over 3,000 miles away in Dubai, and four hours deeper into the working day, Aziz sat, as he always did, hunched over his computer keyboard. His face had the look of someone who was very pleased with himself, evident from the wry smile as his eyes scanned the numbers now presented to him on screen. His two best clients had deposited a further US$100 million with him. His eyes only left the screen when his phone rang. 
As he picked up the call, the smile that had been evident now drained. ‘Aziz, get ready to execute the fi nal deal. And no mistakes, okay. 
And make sure you execute from India.’ The voice on the other end was fi rm and cold as usual. As Aziz listened intently to that voice, he could not help but think he was being treated like an idiot. He resented the harsh tone this woman always used with him, especially when he had made so much money for his clients. Just as she had fi nished speaking, Aziz made his move. 
‘I want US$20 million deposited into an account of my choice. 
Then I will execute the fi nal deal,’ he demanded and then paused. An awkward silence now greeted him. 
‘Hello, are you there?’ Aziz enquired. 
‘I will get back to you,’ she replied. The lady then hung up the phone. 
Aziz knew from her tone that she was not happy, but he had to take care of himself now. He knew that his work was almost done. As he allowed himself to relax for a few moments, he worked out in his head that after three weeks of activity, US$500 million in funds would have been cleared by his efforts alone, and close to US$12 million in revenue made. Tai Investments should be very happy with him. 
However, he now drifted back to wondering if his lady boss would deliver on her end of the bargain; he wanted his bonus. He also recalled how the phone had fallen silent when he presented his terms. She was clearly not amused. 
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Damn it, he thought, she had no choice, and she should reward him, especially given the fact that he had eight other salesmen placed at other banks now copying his exact same model. He had put together a network of salesmen all beavering away in eight different banks that, it appeared, had the same lapse of controls and the deal structure was simply working. Aziz had created a spreadsheet that contained every salesman’s name, client’s name, client account number, deal type, revenue, currency, contract expiry date; it was all there in black and white. As extra protection, Aziz took a back-up copy every evening as the information was fed to him. 
As he sat in his chair, staring out the window at the afternoon sun, Aziz cast his mind back about two years, to his last similar job. There he had made a small fortune, having successfully laundered US$200 
million for his employer, a Burmese drug cartel based out of Bangkok, where all their international sales took place. It was in fact the head of that cartel, Mr Surat, a ruthless man who took pleasure in personally shooting anyone who betrayed him, who had recommended Aziz to his new boss. 
He then remembered his assistant, Mr Nuru, a slight Egyptian man with very badly pockmarked skin and a rather annoying habit of chewing tobacco, which he duly spat out into his wastepaper bin. 
Nuru’s only responsibility was to ensure that the clean money that Aziz had painstakingly laundered through a series of property purchases found its way to the correct holding accounts, held with a number of banks across the US and Asia. Unfortunately, Nuru had decided to try and siphon a few hundred thousand dollars off into his own account and Aziz had spotted it whilst reconciling the transfers. 
Knowing his boss would not be a happy man, and not wanting to be associated with such a stupid deed, Aziz had informed Surat. The timing was somewhat poor, given Surat had just lost his brother, killed in Myanmar; as far as Aziz could remember, in a drugs raid by British Special Forces. 
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around in a chair, his hands and feet tied, a polythene bag pulled over his head. It took 20 minutes for him to fi nally die, his breath, at least what he had left in his lungs, steaming up the inside of the bag, before his lungs desperately tried to suck it back in again. With the polythene bag drawn tight against his now white face, his eyes were popping out of his skull. 
Aziz couldn’t forget the image of that face gasping for air, like a goldfi sh suffocating in its fi sh bowl. He recalled how Surat had sat in the room laughing, thinking it more fun to see such a stupid man suffocate to death than to give him a quick end. Aziz was quite aware that Surat wanted him present so that he could see for himself what happened to all those who cheated or double-crossed the cartel. 
Whilst Surat had an unpleasant side, he did at least reward loyalty and hard work: he gave Aziz US$3 million in cold hard cash for his efforts. Why couldn’t his latest boss, heartless bitch though she was, be as generous? 
It was then that he realised he actually had no idea who the big boss was. He knew he took orders from this woman, but he also understood she was just another foot soldier; she wasn’t the organisation head. Aziz then made a mental note to fi nd out. He wanted to know whom he should be talking to about getting paid. 
Ying was sitting at her desk, her eyes intently focused on her computer screen. The steady stream of deals from Aziz was keeping her very busy. Each deal was just like the last, but interchanged between buying individually, and one company selling to another because they had bought too many oil contracts at too high a price. As Ying sat back in her chair, she felt a tap on the shoulder; Aziz stood over her. Startled by his sudden appearance, Ying immediately sat forward. 
‘Hi, Ying. How are you?’ Aziz seemed polite, almost friendly. 
‘Aziz. I’m fi ne. How are you?’ Ying replied, the look of shock on her face clearly evident. 
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Seeing this, he said, ‘Relax. I’m very happy with your work. But I need to go to India. The client has a special need for me there and I can set up a deal for them out of our Mumbai offi ce. Can you come?’ 
Ying almost choked. ‘You want me to come?’ 
‘Yes, you are the only trader I trust enough to book and execute my big deals.’ 
‘I will have to check with my boss. Uh, let me get back to you.’ 
Aziz smiled at that. ‘Sure. But soon, yes?’ He then walked off. 
Not wasting a second, Ying called McCabe. 
‘He did what?’ McCabe spat. He then calmed down slightly. ‘Okay, we will discuss this later with Stowe. I don’t like the sound of this. Not one bit.’ 
Ying packed up for the day, turned off her computer then walked towards Aziz, still ensconced at his desk, and said, ‘Mr Aziz, I will see my boss in the morning. So I’ll have a reply for you then. Is that okay?’ 
She was hoping to seem normal, knowing that he knew she was working for McCabe. But why he had not stopped or bolted was a mystery. Knowing they were on to him, how come he was still here, acting so cool? He must know the bank would be tracking him, she thought. I guess it all comes down to proof, and whilst his deals seem odd, they’re not illegal. 
‘Yes, okay. Thank you, Ying,’ he replied before turning back to his work. 
Just as she was about to turn and walk away, she noticed a data CD 
on his desk. His hand rested on it; it seemed important to him, given his hand was so intent on covering it up. 
Ying took a deep breath. ‘Oh, is that music? I’m a music lover myself. What group?’ she asked, trying to sound cool. Aziz turned and looked at her. 
‘What?’ Aziz seemed confused by her question. 
‘The disk. A CD, is it?’
‘No, it’s just data,’ he replied bluntly, his hand sliding the disk away from her sight and into his top drawer which he then closed sharply. 
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‘Oh, okay. Sorry.’ She then turned and hurried off. 
As Ying stepped out of the lift, McCabe greeted her. ‘Come on, the car is waiting. Let’s go.’ He grabbed Ying by the arm and led her out and towards the waiting car. 
As Ying settled in, she turned to McCabe, the request Aziz had given her still buzzing around in her head. ‘So what do you think about me going to India with Aziz?’ 
McCabe turned, his face showing clear concern. ‘I don’t like it one bit. But it seems we have little choice at this point. We need to stay close to him and prove your suspicions. The bank is now on alert via London. They have given us one week to obtain proof.’
‘Okay, so I will plan to go. But I need you and Brian with me,’ Ying said with an air of nervousness in her voice. 
McCabe knew that this would be high risk, but if Aziz was moving his operation, they had to follow. 
Later that night, McCabe and Stowe made plans; they would go with Ying to Mumbai. The BCB offi ce there was in the heart of the business district. Stowe had also been granted approval to have two MI6 
offi cers dispatched. This would provide ground cover in a city neither he nor McCabe knew well. They would base their operations out of the British High Commission, providing them the communications and safe environment they needed. 
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Christopher Fleming was seated in his offi ce when the group head of audit, Paul Jones, walked in. Fleming’s chief of staff, Tony Morris, a small weasel of a man who looked like he had been with Banning since the doors opened 60 years ago, was seated to his right. He would scribble down any notes he thought necessary. Fleming liked everything he said on record. 
‘We have a situation brewing. It appears we have a rogue salesman by the name of Aziz in our midst. He has a dirty past, I am told. So shady, in fact, the British Secret Service is on to him.’ Fleming then paused and took a sip of tea. 
‘How do you know this, sir?’ Jones interjected
‘Two reasons, man. The fi rst being a golf and Oxford alumni buddy of mine is the head of MI5. The other is, it appears we have an ex-Special Forces chap inside, McCabe I think his name is, who is now working with MI6 to investigate this chap. All very troublesome.’ 
‘I see, sir.’ Jones shut up at that point. 
Fleming then stood up and started to pace around his offi ce, a large spacious offi ce with views across the City of London. ‘The thing is, we do not have any tangible proof yet that this chap has breached any rules. 
These fellows in Dubai and Singapore are trying to sort it out. Now I have a large rights issue to worry about, can’t be doing with this fuss, so be a good chap and keep an eye, will you? Make it go away.’ Fleming then sat back down. 
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‘That’s all, thank you. On your way,’ Fleming concluded. With that, Jones scurried off. 
The next day, Aziz smiled as Ying broke the good news to him. 
Once she had walked off back to her desk, Aziz picked up the phone. ‘It is Aziz. I will, as planned, fl y this evening to Mumbai. The girl is going too, so once I have completed the transaction, you can have her.’ His voice was now more confi dent, even disrespectful. 
‘I do not like your tone, Aziz. Be very careful.’ 
‘I will do my job. You just make sure you deliver my money, as I requested. If you cannot, then please tell me whom I should speak to.’ 
This time it was Aziz who rang off fi rst. Immediately after the call had ended, the lady, who was sitting comfortably by a swimming pool at her rented villa enjoying some sun, pondered what Aziz had just said. 
He was almost complete, his work done, she thought. She then called an international number; a man answered. 
‘It’s me.’ The man on the other end of the phone knew exactly who she was. 
‘I want a cell mobilised and in full operation in Mumbai, no later than tomorrow night. Logistics and attack resources.’ She paused. ‘I also want a man by the name of Hajj in place. You can fi nd him in a bar called Jemar Lebanon. Make it happen. I will fl y out myself tomorrow.’ 
She hung up. 
The second call she made was far more polite. ‘Mr Surat? Yes, we are almost ready to execute the fi nal deal. You may wish to fi nalise your offer to buy stock now.’ She now had a smile on her face. 
‘Okay, good. I will have my lawyers confi rm the deal. Good work,’ 
responded Surat. The Rain Angel then hung up and settled back on her sun lounger and closed her eyes. She was now thinking about how best to settle a very personal matter with Aziz. 
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Aziz was sitting at his desk. He was now certain his latest deal structure would provide the results he needed. He would structure the two-sided oil contract between Al Safad and TJ Cargo for $100 million each. He would also ensure that Al Safad lost big-time on the oil price and FX fl uctuation. This time, however, he would structure the deal to incorporate a hedge: his bank would offer the hedge on the basis that the oil and FX prices would not fall. Aziz smiled to himself, knowing that the oil and FX prices would be skewed and very much go against both companies and create a massive profi t and loss exposure for the bank, forcing them into a capital crisis. Aziz had sleepers in the credit risk department, ready to do what they needed to cover things up. 
Perfect, he thought, knowing that tomorrow the bank would launch a rights issue and be thirsty for capital. What Christopher Fleming would not realise is the amount of capital he would actually need. Aziz closed his fi le, having saved it to his CD. He now had everything he needed, and it was time to prepare for the Mumbai trip, knowing he would not be back. He even knew that Surat his old boss was the Tai Investments CEO. Now he had the power over this bitch, he thought. 
As McCabe and Stowe sat around the kitchen table, going over the fi nal plans, they both felt prepared. Stowe was his normal blow-in-and-chuck-in-a-few-hand grenades self. Despite all his spook training, he actually hated planning; he was much more a man of instincts. 
McCabe, on the other hand, was more interested in the fi ner details of planning. McCabe knew that planning was a necessary part of any operation. Even if things never, in fact, went to plan, it forced a discipline on you to consider and prepare for all the risks. In essence, planning was a method by which he could run through the various aspects of the operation. In a strange way, they both complemented each other’s weaknesses: McCabe the deep thinker and the more sensitive, Stowe the no-hesitation killer who would execute with ruthless vigour. 
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The plan was to follow Ying to Mumbai, where she would continue to work with Aziz. This, they hoped, would provide the fi nal evidence they needed to trap him. The bank had been placed on full alert and was told to allow his trades to pass through the system. British Intelligence worldwide had been informed and the two shipping companies were being tracked. The one remaining fact they needed to close was who else within the Moon Star corporation was involved. MI5 in London were busy looking into the organisation to uncover who was really in charge there. 
Whilst the two Wolves pondered over their plans, Ying was busy packing up her stuff. She had found time to call her mother, who as always was delighted to hear from her. She was also worried about Ying going to India; the food, she said, would make her ill. A number of friends and family members had told her the food there was not healthy. 
Happy they had prepared, Stowe got up and sat down on the sofa, stretching himself out and grabbing a few minutes’ shuteye. McCabe, on the other hand, remained seated at the table. He was still not satisfi ed that he had acquainted himself enough with the Mumbai street map; typical of him, he wanted to know every detail. In particular, McCabe liked to know the main streets and where the main landmarks were, just in case he found himself in a car chase; no blind alleys for this man. 
As Stowe lay on the sofa, he thought of Ying in her room. He would love to walk in there right now, but he knew McCabe would not take kindly to it. At least that was his excuse. In reality, he felt too old, a bit cheap going after such a young ‘babe’. God, am I going soft? 
he thought. 
His mind started to think about his past loves and acquaintances; true love had, to date, evaded him. Ying was only the second woman to have such a serious effect on him. Stowe had locked his heart away, the action of a man who had been deeply hurt. And hurt he had been. 
It was August 1990. He had taken some leave, the aim being to surprise his then girlfriend, Joanne Lane. He had met her in a pub one quantum breach 290709.indd 162
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evening in Hereford. The attraction was instant: she was blonde, slim, toned, topped off with a smile that made him melt. To her, Stowe was hard, rugged and arrogant, and it seemed she liked those traits. He also recalled how McCabe didn’t like her: something about her face, he said, her lips being too big for the rest of the face. 
The moments they shared over the course of a year were special; she allowed him enough freedom to be himself, his missions not bothering her in the slightest. But she was there when he needed her. Stowe had been bitten. The 1.5 carat diamond ring he had paid a month’s salary for was a big statement. Stowe was never one for splashing out money for no reason. 
When Stowe let himself into his fl at, he was excited at the thought of surprising her. Joanne had moved in two months earlier, another giant step in the relationship direction for Stowe. 
As Stowe walked into the front room on that day, he was greeted by Joanne. But not as he had expected, with open arms and a big smile, but with her face deep down in between another woman’s legs. That alone was too much for Stowe to bear: his women were real women, not lesbian dykes. He never let on; to have done so would have caused him untold grief. Not even McCabe knew. 
As he now refocused, he decided to do what he wanted, and with that, he got up and walked off in the direction of Ying’s room. McCabe, seeing this, just tut-tutted and went back to his street maps. 
The next day as the team, which they now felt they were, headed for the airport, there was an uneasy calm in the car. Ying sat listening to her music, the slow steady beat being just audible to the others in the car. 
McCabe sat in the front with the driver, a large local man employed by the British Embassy. Stowe was sitting in the back seat with Ying, his face showing the signs of a happy man. 
‘You okay in the back?’ McCabe enquired, his eyes looking for a reaction in the rear-view mirror. Only Stowe returned the gaze; it was a gaze that said, ‘Yes, fi ne.’ 
Knowing the next few days might be hectic, McCabe took out his quantum breach 290709.indd 163
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phone. The one voice he wanted to hear now belonged to an eight-year-old girl, the only female McCabe would put fi rst above anything else. 
He was greeted by ‘Hi, dad.’ Those words alone were enough to relax him. The next hour McCabe was lost in a world which he protected with his life. 
As McCabe and the group headed for the airport, British Home Secretary Jeremy Haden was sitting at his oak desk in London. He had just gotten off the phone from speaking with Malcolm Trent at Thames House. The conversation had not been a pleasant one. Trent had urged him to try and leverage his relationship with Mr Elias Chamat, a Lebanese diplomat stationed in London. 
Mr Chamat had a number of political connections in high places and was very much a generous supporter of effective diplomatic relations. Their relationship was perhaps all the more sensitive given that Mr Chamat’s brother was married to Haden’s wife’s sister Mary, a marriage that had caused some concern in government circles. Added to this was the fact that Mr Chamat’s wife, alias the Rain Angel, was an active MI6 informer—which was exactly why Haden now needed Mr Chamat’s help. Trent wanted more information on Afzal Jihad, and any possible connection with Aziz. Madam Chamat’s actions and extensive network of contacts had led to a number of arrests in the UK 
over the past few years. Subsequently, her tips had averted a number of terror attacks planned for London. As such, she was seen by a few top government offi cials as a heroic fi gure. 
However, there were a few within the halls of Thames House that suspected she was not completely clean. It was said she often got involved in her own less-than-ethical transactions, drugs and extortion being amongst them. British Intelligence tended to turn a blind eye to these sidelines on account of her other uses. But given this rumoured dark side to her character, a connection with the Home Secretary, if she ever turned rogue, would be of the uppermost embarrassment to the quantum breach 290709.indd 164
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Cabinet. Trent had almost ordered his own boss to cut ties given the suspicions, but his warnings had to date gone unheeded. 
Haden wasted no time. He buzzed his assistant: ‘Get me Elias Chamat on the phone, can you? Thanks.’ After a few minutes, Chamat came on the line. 
‘My dear friend, how are you?’ Chamat sounded his normal happy self. 
‘I’m fi ne, thank you. And how is your lovely wife?’ Haden asked. 
‘She is well. Off on some trip or other. You know how it is.’ 
‘I see. Well, ask her to please take care. We must only shop within the limits of our means.’ Haden hoped that Chamat would catch his drift. 
‘My friend, is there an issue? I know she can be, shall we say, in on a few borderline things, but this is how she gets her contacts, no? You value her help, I am sure. I will try and call her, calm her down, yes?’ 
‘That would be most welcome. Thank you, see you soon.’ With that, Haden hung up. 
When the lady, now comfortably seated in a green Rolls Royce, picked up her phone, she was not expecting her husband to be on the other end. 
‘Yes, my darling, what is it?’ 
‘Where are you, my dear? I need you to come home, yes?’
‘I’m in Dubai. I’ll be back in a few weeks, my dear, okay? Soon.’
‘Okay. Our special friends here are asking after you. Please take care. 
See you soon.’ Chamat then hung up. 
Hearing this warning, Madam Chamat’s face changed. She had to move fast now. She could sense that the net around her seemed to be closing fast. Time had become the key factor. She then instructed her driver to make more haste towards the airport. 
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Christopher Fleming had now instructed the rights issue for £1 billion to take place. The lawyers were rubbing their hands, pleased since this meant money for them, given the amount of paperwork that would be needed. 
The bank’s external board members were still not aware of the pending threat, and what appeared to be happening at the hands of Aziz. 
Stowe had issued a formal report, which had, via Trent, made its way to Fleming. Trent and Fleming were very good friends, having studied at Oxford together. But somehow the report had not yet been issued to the board. Fleming did not want what could be nothing more than a hoax to distract his rights issuance, until solid proof was on the table. 
Only the group head of audit was informed, but he had conveniently forgotten what he was supposed to look into, taking the view that some chap called McCabe would sort it out with MI5, given it all sounded way too hard. In truth, pictures of Jones and an underaged boy engaged in a lewd act had turned up mysteriously at his London home. 
The warning was clear. Jones was to lose the report on Aziz or the Financial Times would get the pictures. 
As such, the bank’s shareholders were not aware of the hit that was about to be made on their stock by the organisation Aziz was working for. 
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The taxi pulled up in front of the Taj Hotel, standing majestic and prominent in front of them, with white fl oodlights emphasising the old-world charm now etched into every brick. It would be hard for any guest upon arrival not to be impressed by this 105-year-old temple to opulence, character and power. Many of the world’s rich and famous had also arrived as McCabe, Stowe and Ying were now doing, to lodge in its charmed rooms. 
As the three of them got out of the car—a silver Mercedes that had been sent to collect them from the airport, courtesy of the British High Commission—they each stood for a few seconds, simply taking in the surroundings. Stowe noticed the warm breeze that was now blowing in off the water, passing through the Gateway to India, a renowned monument to India’s history. 
Colonial born and shaped Bombay, now more aptly named after the goddess Mumba Devi, sits just off the coastal mainland of India. 
The life force that pumps the heart of the city is fed by its primary money-making veins, in the form of industries that span oil, gas, textiles, technology and frenetic docks. Perhaps this is why the city boasts the world’s largest stock exchange. The fi fth most populated city on earth, its wealthy half of population enjoyed a vibrant cosmopolitan lifestyle—top class hotels and restaurants, boutique shops, and affl uent apartments, and its very own tinsel town of Bollywood. The other half lived in squalid slums, tainted beggars of the street. The choking density quantum breach 290709.indd 167
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of people and traffi c 24/7 presented a daunting environment to fi nd one specifi c person. 
McCabe and Stowe had slept throughout the entire fl ight, much to Ying’s annoyance. No sooner had they sat down, both of them nodded off. Ying got thoroughly bored; her only relief was to watch a movie. 
Not that she really recalled what it was about, something relating vaguely to a runaway bride. Given it did not hold her attention, she studied the old man sitting in the aisle seat to her immediate right. He spent almost the entire fl ight rocking very slightly forwards and back, a slight hum coming from his lips. Clearly not in a perfect mental state, she thought. The poor man was just using his time to meditate, clearly not in a style that even Ying, who was Asian, could detect. 
As they headed into the hotel lobby, McCabe turned to Ying, who was behind them, struggling with her suitcase. Despite her busy time in Dubai, she had somehow managed to buy loads of new shoes and clothes, which had now been stuffed into what seemed to be a very heavy suitcase. The airline had even tagged the bag with an orange label advertising the fact. The hotel porter, Raghu, a 19-year-old native of Mumbai who had just landed the job at the hotel and was mustard keen to earn some tips, descended upon her eagerly to take the load off her hands. His arrival came as some relief to not only Ying, but also to Stowe, McCabe and the High Commission driver. None of them wanted to be seen entering the Taj Hotel with a large pink, hard-shelled suitcase on wheels. 
‘You know where we are heading tomorrow, Ying, right? The offi ce is only about ten minutes away, number 90 MG Road, just behind the Mumbai High Court,’ McCabe informed her. He had obviously benefi ted from studying the street maps of Mumbai whilst Ying and Stowe had been studying each other back in Dubai. 
‘Okay, shall we meet for breakfast?’ Ying asked. 
‘Sure, unless you have anything to discuss, Stowe, 7:00 a.m.?’ 
McCabe responded. 
‘No. I have a few calls to make, but nothing I can’t handle. See you quantum breach 290709.indd 168
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both tomorrow.’ Stowe then gestured with a wink to Ying. McCabe, having caught this poorly concealed signal, decided to ignore it for now. 
After checking in, Ying and McCabe were given rooms on the third fl oor, Numbers 309 and 315. Stowe had been given a room on the 5th fl oor, Number 503. McCabe spent only a few minutes unpacking. He then changed into a fresh pair of jeans and a plain grey T-shirt. Before heading out the door, he did not forget to carefully place his Sig 9mm pistol, with suppressor and fully loaded clip, into the waistband of his jeans. Stowe had thankfully managed to get the weapons fl own over in the diplomatic pouch from the UK. The High Commission driver duly handed over these most effective of weapons to the experienced hands of Stowe and McCabe when he met them at the airport. 
Since McCabe was technically on an intelligence operation, he didn’t want to take any chances and get caught without a weapon. After all, these are not schoolboys we’re dealing with, he thought. 
As he stepped out of the hotel, the noise, heat and smell of the night air hit him. He had forgotten how bad the pollution could be in Mumbai, where fresh air seemed to be an absolute luxury. Not that any other major city these days was that much better, but still, he wanted to get a feel for the streets around him, so he had to put up with the noxious air. The traffi c buzzed around him like frantic bees. 
Beggars were already tugging at him for money. McCabe knew how to brush them off fi rmly, but always with dignity. As he strolled along the pavement, he was glad Stowe wasn’t with him: he would probably be slapping the beggars around the head or worse, he thought. 
He remembered the time when both he and Stowe were in Africa on a mercy mission. A few kids had come running up and started begging for food. Stowe just backhanded one of the poor kids around the head; the other kids quickly ran off. When McCabe tried to educate him in the ways of sound child care, Stowe just looked away and shrugged, as if he had no other choice really, then trudged off. McCabe attributed this hard-heartedness to Stowe’s having had a real bad childhood; his own quantum breach 290709.indd 169
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father administered frequent beatings when he was young. 
As he paced along, McCabe started to observe the number of small side streets, alleyways and main roads, each one dark and intertwined with the next, full of people, cars, trucks, tuk tuks, all racing haphazardly around these packed byways. Movement was constant, the city never still. Whilst vibrant, these could also be dangerous streets. McCabe knew that any assassin or mugger could easily vanish down any one of these perfect escape routes in a fl ash and be gone in seconds. 
Whilst McCabe was busy pounding the streets and getting familiar with the territory, not to mention getting grimy and sweaty in the oppressive heat, Stowe was hard at it in bed with Ying. They found each other sexually irresistible, more an animalistic appeal. At least that is how Stowe saw it, lust pure and simple. Ying was nothing more than a new fl avour of woman and he wanted to fuck. The passion between them was mutual, however: fi erce and intense. Stowe, much to Ying’s surprise, was in fact a great lover: strong and very dominant, which she liked, while his stamina was, in her mind, outstanding. She could feel every thrust Stowe made into her, it penetrated deep and hard, almost making her feel she would tear open, she was not used to Western men, but she loved it, stroke after stroke simply drove her insane. When Stowe fi nally came inside her, she was exhausted. She could feel her legs shaking as her muscles tried to recover from the violent yet pleasurable sex. 
In the more rational part of his brain, Stowe knew that this was a no-go zone: to take his mind off the operation even for a second was not good practice, not to mention Ying was half his age. Trent would have a blue fi t if he ever found out. But Ying had simply been too powerful a temptation to resist. 
Once Stowe had fi nished making love to Ying, he rolled off and lay beside her on the bed, her long slim body now stretched out beside him, her eyes dark and content. Her body was covered in sweat. Stowe lit a cigarette and lay on his back looking up at the ceiling, his mind running through a few questions he had in his mind about the operation. Not as quantum breach 290709.indd 170
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Ying may have wished, with his mind preferably thinking about her. 
After a few minutes of silence, Stowe realised he should comment. 
‘That was awesome, babe,’ he commented, followed by taking a long drag on his cigarette. 
‘Brian, when this is all over, I hope you and I can still see each other.’ 
Stowe turned his head and smiled. ‘Sure, I would like that.’ He was not convinced that in reality it would happen. 
‘Brian, tell me about yourself. I would like to know more.’ Ying turned her body tight into Stowe, her right leg now placed over his, so as to maintain the sensual physical contact. 
‘Well, I’ve been a soldier all my life. It’s all I know really. Along the way, I’ve done some bad things I guess.’ 
Ying listened intently. ‘Do you ever have remorse about the people you have killed?’ 
Stowe looked at Ying somewhat surprised at her question; he was not expecting that one. Having paused, taking slow drags of his cigarette, he started to run his hand over Ying’s body. It felt so good, soft and warm. 
‘To tell you the truth, nope. Taking a life no longer bothers me. 
I’m neutral to the effects. Not a good thing, I know, but that’s the way it is.’ He looked directly at Ying when he replied, her eyes just burning into his. 
‘Can you love, Brian, are you capable of love?’ 
Stowe found this question very disturbing—not because it offended him, but because he simply didn’t know. 
McCabe had spent the best part of two hours walking around the streets of Mumbai. The only rest he took was to briefl y talk to a small beggar girl who had stepped out in front of him. Not wanting to be rude, McCabe got down on one knee and just smiled at her, before continuing on. The interruption was also an ideal opportunity for McCabe to verify something. 
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He was happy that he now had a reasonable idea of the immediate area around the offi ce and the hotel. It was his hope they would not have to stray too much further afi eld. He felt grimy and hot; a good hot shower would be on the cards now, then a cold beer to prepare him for a good night’s sleep. 
As he started to head back, his pace speeded up. The man he had noticed a few yards behind him seemed suspicious, underscored by the fact he paused as McCabe did to look around. McCabe had spotted him about ten minutes earlier when he had stopped to talk to the little beggar girl. 
Mirror images are not commonplace on the street. The fi rst rule of tailing anyone is not to stand out, not to mirror their actions; clearly this man was either an innocent, or he had not taken the right spy course. McCabe, when the street facilitated his move, took a sudden left turn on the corner and then another sharp left up a narrow alley. 
He stopped after one pace and stood fast against the wall, the shadows now hiding him from view. As expected, the man who had appeared to be following him walked past. He was Asian, most likely Thai or Burmese by the looks of him, wearing faded blue jeans with a black leather jacket. Despite the obvious tailing, his appearance alone told McCabe he was not native to Mumbai. 
Once the man had passed, seemingly now in a hurry to fi nd his quarry, McCabe darted out behind him and the mouse now became the cat. After a few seconds, the man turned, clearly shocked to see McCabe behind him; he turned back and started to run. Seeing this, McCabe broke into an immediate sprint. 
The man was darting around people in the street as McCabe ran after him. After crossing a busy road, the traffi c seemingly unfazed by the fact that two men had just bolted across its busy fl ow, he turned sharply up an alleyway, followed closely by McCabe. Dirty stinking water ran down the narrow gully in the centre, splashing up as the two men ran down the middle. Noticing that there was no one else in sight, McCabe stopped dead, drew his Sig from out of his jeans, aimed at quantum breach 290709.indd 172
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the man’s left leg and fi red. It took less than six seconds for McCabe to draw, aim, fi re and the man to drop. 
As McCabe stood over him, he could hear the man moaning and mumbling in what sounded like Thai as he grasped his leg. Turning him over onto his side, making sure the man had not drawn his own weapon, McCabe kept his Sig aimed at the man’s head. 
‘You know the drill: who are you?’ McCabe placed a kick to the man’s injured leg, causing him to scream out. He also assumed his quarry would understand his English. 
Getting no reply, McCabe then placed another hard kick to his ribs. This caused the man to scream and roll about. Another kick followed hard down into the man’s side. He was now writhing in pain on the ground. 
‘Last chance: whom are you working for?’ McCabe noticed a few faces starting to appear at the far end of the long alleyway, locals being nosy, investigating the noise. McCabe knew he had to make a call before they started to get closer. 
‘Fuck you,’ the man replied, he then spat at McCabe. 
McCabe knew then that there was no point in hanging around. 
Nothing more would be given up from this guy, at least not without major interrogation, and that would not be possible in an alley full of people. There was no way this man was going to talk. His guess was he was a hardened thug, sent to follow him or worse: try and kill him. McCabe then started to ponder the fact he was Asian; a strange coincidence. So maybe the Asian drug cartels were involved after all. 
There was no choice now, more people were beginning to walk up the alley to see what was going on. McCabe took a step back and slotted one directly in between the man’s eyes. His body went limp. Stooping down, McCabe patted him down, fi nding his wallet and what looked like an old Smith and Weston 9mm pistol. Placing the wallet in his pocket, he got back up and walked slowly away. 
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on both him and Stowe, he had to take a tough approach. They had reached a point where no chances could be taken. After a few streets, McCabe tossed the Smith and Weston into an open drain, and carried on towards his hotel. 
As he stood under the hot shower, he closed his eyes. It felt good to have the steam penetrate his pores, washing away the dust and dirt from his mini-expedition. As he relaxed, the face of the little girl he had met only an hour or so earlier popped into his head. She was perhaps no more than fi ve or six, though it was hard to tell as she must have been stunted in her growth. 
She had spotted McCabe on the other side of the busy road. Her dirty face beamed a big smile at him, her mother carefully watching her from the other side of the road. The confi dence the girl had shown as she navigated the busy street and fast-moving traffi c struck him. She had walked right up to him, tugged on his shirt and asked for money, as bold as brass. McCabe looked down at her and smiled back. He knew that giving her money would only draw an avalanche of other street beggars descending upon him; the last thing he needed was a bunch of kids pulling at him, possibly yanking out his Sig pistol. He patted her on the head and strode off. If he hadn’t, a thousand other faces just like hers would have been all around him. 
The man he had removed from life was another matter. They were clearly getting close and someone was tracking their every move. It was now only a matter of time before they discovered who was after them. 
At least, that’s what he hoped. 
After stepping out of his shower, drying off and changing into a clean set of clothes, McCabe picked up the phone in his room and called Ying’s room. She answered almost immediately. ‘Tell Stowe beer, lobby bar in ten minutes.’ McCabe then hung up. 
‘God, that was McCabe. He knew you were here,’ Ying informed Stowe with some shock. Not seeming at all concerned, Stowe slowly lifted himself up and sat on the edge of the bed. 
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no fool, Ying.’ Stowe shot Ying a smile. 
By the time Stowe appeared at the bar, McCabe had already dispatched one beer. He then gestured to the barman for two more upon seeing Stowe shuffl e up. 
‘Okay, let’s have it. I know you want to read me the riot act,’ Stowe said. 
‘Listen, Stowe, I’m not your boss or your mother, but you know as well as I that our heads have to be fully in the game.’ McCabe paused and took a sip of his now fresh pint of beer. ‘I don’t care what you do, just don’t hurt her, okay?’ In fact, he did sound like a concerned father. 
Stowe turned slowly. ‘Listen, dad,’ he began, sarcastically. ‘I really do like her. Not your typical Stowe trait, I grant you, but trust me on this, okay. I won’t let it get in the way.’
McCabe looked at him, pondering for a few moments. ‘Okay, enough said on that point. Your round.’ 
Stowe smiled and they settled down for a few cold beers whilst McCabe fi lled in Stowe on his little encounter in the streets. 
‘Best we don’t tell Ying, but we do need to make sure she is safe at all times. Can you get some help out here?’ 
‘Sure. Who was he? Did he talk?’ Stowe asked. 
‘No, but he certainly won’t now.’ McCabe responded, as if knowing Stowe would have a quip to make, and he did, right on cue. 
‘I would have made him talk. No problem.’
‘What, you would have given him a crash course in speaking English? He was Thai by the looks of him,’ McCabe replied. 
Stowe looked at McCabe, surprised by the fact the assassin was Asian and not Middle Eastern. It, in fact, suggested an interesting link to the drug cartel that until now was only a loose link. He then turned back to his beer. The man’s wallet, after careful investigation, only contained cash, with no identifi cation at all. 
The next morning brought the normal heavy traffi c jams and pollution, a thick brown smog that seemed intent on obliterating every inch of sunlight from Mumbai’s streets. As McCabe and Ying walked quantum breach 290709.indd 175
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into the Dealing Room of the bank, Anju, one of the traders who worked for McCabe, came bounding up. 
‘Hi, boss, welcome to India. Welcome also, Miss Ying.’ His face beamed a big smile, highlighted by his brilliant white teeth. ‘I have two seats for you, just over here.’ Anju then led the way to a couple of vacant seats. 
‘Please, if you need coffee or tea, the pantry is just over there. If you have any problems with it, one of us can certainly help you.’ Anju then stood smiling, as if waiting for McCabe to dismiss him formally. 
McCabe found his team in India very polite, though a little on the subservient side. 
‘Thanks, Anju, we will be fi ne,’ McCabe said, and with that, Anju trotted off. 
‘Okay, Ying, I’m going to head off in a bit, stuff to do.’ 
‘Sure, boss, no problem. See you later. I’m assuming you won’t sit here all day watching me?’ Ying responded, rather hoping that McCabe would not be looking over her shoulder every second. 
‘Nope, but I do need to log-on and check my emails before I head off.’ 
As he logged on, he could see the email he had been waiting for: it was from Helen Brown. He opened it up and started to read with an air of excitement. Even McCabe had a childish edge, and he wanted to see her reaction to the phone call he knew she would have received from London. 
Mark, 
I received a phone call from Christopher Fleming. He did
indeed confi rm that you are working on a project of the uppermost
importance and I’m to off er every support. As such, please do keep
me in the loop and let me know how I can be of assistance. And I
do apologise if there was any misunderstanding between us at our
earlier meeting. 
Regards, 
Helen
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McCabe noted that she had copied Christopher Fleming on her reply. He also took the email as being the most basic form of response in offering her help, but he just knew the old cow would have been sick to her fat guts that she was wrong about him and now she knew that McCabe was working on a matter of importance. He smiled to himself and closed the mail. What McCabe did not know was that Fleming had not taken the matter further and an email to Brown, whilst satisfying, would not alone safeguard the bank. 
The next message was of more concern. It caused a wave of reality to fall upon him, fully aware that he had to get to the bottom of what Aziz was up to and fast. He turned to Ying and tapped her on the shoulder. 
‘Hey, look at this.’ They both then studied the email announcement from Christopher Fleming. 
I am delighted to announce that the recent rights issue has been
fully taken up by our shareholders. Tai Investments have taken 60% 
of the issued stock and our thanks go to them for showing such faith
in our strategic growth. 
McCabe stopped reading at that point; the rest of the message was to a large degree irrelevant. Looking back at Ying, he said, ‘Okay, so I’m going to fi nd out who the hell Tai Investments is. Something tells me this could be our missing link.’ 
‘Yeah, I agree, boss. Seems like that is the place to start.’
McCabe got up and walked off. Ying, turning back to her computer, fl exed her fi ngers and opened up her system. Bingo! There it was, a nice fat trade instruction from Aziz. Ying then settled herself in her chair and began to review the details. 
Aziz, who was sitting around the corner from Ying, had come in early, at 7:00 a.m. He had quickly sat himself down and entered his last deal instruction. Having done so, he saved the instructions to his closely protected CD as he always did. Every detail was now secured, as were the details from his network of other salesmen dotted around the globe. 
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His employer had made it very clear that she wanted the information backed-up and given to her. She wanted a trail of every deal and the details of every transaction saved. 
Aziz sat leaning over his desk, his face almost pressed against the screen, his eyes, now very dark and focused, scanning every inch of the deal detail for the last time; he wanted no mistakes. As he did so, out of the corner of his eye, he noticed a fl ashing green light. It indicated that someone had logged on and was looking at his trade. Distracting himself for a second, he clicked on the icon, and then smiled: he could see that Ying was now online. Perfect, he thought; his obedient trader was ready to book his fi nal deal. 
Ying was indeed examining the deal. This time the structure of the transaction had a twist: it was a spot transaction, which meant Ying would have to strike the deal there and then. Get it wrong, and she alone would cause the well-made plans of Aziz to fail. 
Why was he now placing so much faith in her? she asked herself. All of the previous deals were forwards, meaning they were just purchasing contracts for the future. This deal was gambling on the real-time fl uctuation of the US dollar and oil prices. 
Ying knew, as did Aziz, that supply and demand for oil was highly volatile; the current economic crisis was making the market even more volatile than normal. Both psychological and environmental forces were also coming into play. This form of trading was demanding and carried very high risks. Aziz seemed to know exactly how to play the market; he was clearly a very smart man. 
This caused Ying to think really hard. Maybe the structure he was using to make and lose money for the two shipping companies was not so complex, just an easy form of cleaning money. Aziz was, in fact, just performing an action known as layering: via the deals, he was each time distancing the source of funds origination. The only mistake the bank had made was that they had not done enough due diligence around the question of whom they were actually dealing with; the trades in themselves were very straightforward. Smart, she thought. 
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Ying found herself running through the logic of this form of trading in her head, whilst reviewing the trade details Aziz had now sent her. 
She knew this stuff, but somehow wanted to go through her own level of understanding again, driven by the realisation that McCabe and Stowe, not to mention the bank, were relying on her to get this right. 
She knew that the oil and US dollar rates were ever-changing variables, US dollar being the currency of choice when valuing a commodity such as oil. Okay, so that was clear, she thought. Daily fl uctuations of 1% were very common; she had seen this on many other trades. Okay, so that was also now clear. 
With forex leverage of 1:100, you could turn 1.2% change into 120%; only the initial investment was at risk, but the profi ts were unlimited if the rate went your way, she thought. As Ying scanned the trade details, she could see that the trade was, indeed, an FX option trade with an underlying forward oil contract. The opening rate was US$106.00, while the investment for each of the two clients was US$50 
million. 
Ying then looked at what Aziz thought would be the actual move, the fl uctuation. He had put it down as 1.896%. This would mean, if all things worked out, that the two clients would each get a return of US$94.8 million. Wow, she thought. This is huge. All Ying had to do was execute the deal. 
As she monitored the oil and currency prices, her mind began to race. Her own commission alone on a deal this size would be huge. A shame it would amount to nothing. She began to toss around other possibilities. What if I keep quiet? The bank would not fi nd out until too late, and I could make a ton of money. 
Then, mentally slapping herself, she said, ‘What am I thinking? 
This man’s a criminal.’ 
She regained her focus. As her eyes scanned the US dollar currency moves against the oil price, she felt her hands growing clammy. The environment around her seemed to almost stop and the noise around her started to fade out, such now was her concentration. Then her quantum breach 290709.indd 179
8/24/09 11:10:45 AM
180
Quantum Breach
eyes locked on to the two factors she needed most: US$108.00, value, market move 186%. Strike. She executed the deal, her heart almost stopping, her face now white at the thought of what she had either lost or made. Jesus, that was better than sex, she thought, the adrenaline now pumping through her veins. 
Aziz, upon seeing that the deal had been struck, knew at once that it marked his completion of the project, so he quickly picked up the phone and called a local number. 
‘It’s Aziz. The deal is done, as instructed.’ 
‘Good. Well done, Aziz. You are now fi nished!’ The lady informed him, her tone causing Aziz to pause for a few moments. The way she had emphasised the word ‘fi nished’ sounded strange, he thought. But then he remembered that he still had his lifeline, the CD with all the information. He would be careful about handing that over until he knew he was safe. He carefully put down the phone and leaned back in his chair. He was now free to leave for the day. It was then he decided to look for Ying. He may as well say goodbye. Cheeky, he thought, but why not. 
As he got up and started to walk off to fi nd Ying, he was unaware that she had just gone off to the washroom. Ying soon re-appeared—not at her own desk, but that of Aziz. Seeing his empty seat, she asked Anju where he had gone off to; she was actually somewhat disappointed. She was about to leave and return to her own seat just around the corner when she spotted the CD on the desk. It was, she was fairly sure, the CD she kept seeing Aziz use, the one he seemed so defensive about. 
Instinctively she reached out and picked it up. With it now safe, clasped in both of her hands, she turned and walked off. 
As she rounded the corner, she saw Aziz standing at her desk. She stopped and immediately turned around and headed back off towards the washrooms. Aziz, fi nding that Ying had apparently gone, turned and started to head back towards his own desk. Picking up his bag, he reached out and turned off his computer screen. However, a man hovering behind him caused him to overlook something that would quantum breach 290709.indd 180
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prove a fatal mistake. Turning, he looked at the man. 
‘Not now, I have to rush off,’ Aziz said bluntly and simply walked out of the Dealing Room,. 
It was about 15 minutes later when Ying fi nally returned to her own desk. She opened up the CD case, pulled out the CD and slipped it into her computer drive. As she leant forward, with the CD loaded and the fi le opened, Ying’s eyes widened. As she read a little further, her heart felt like it had missed a beat: there in front of her, in perfect text, was an Excel spreadsheet with line after line of information that quite literally would implicate Aziz. Not only did the CD contain evidence of the trades that had been done between the two shipping companies, but there appeared to be the names and account numbers of all the counterparties against which Aziz had done deals. Of even more importance, there were the details of not just Banning Capital Bank, but eight other banks around the world. 
As Ying scanned the data further, she slumped back in her chair, hardly believing what she now saw. There in front of her were the listed names of every rogue salesman and all their contacts. As Ying scanned the disk, she saw the name Moon Star Holdings and their offshore account details, then a name that literally made her freeze: Tai Investments. 
This was the company named in Christopher Fleming’s announcement, she thought. Oh my God! Wait till I tell McCabe and Stowe about this. 
There then followed name after name with address details; no logical order, but it had to be members of the organisation to which Aziz belonged. One fi nal scan of the data revealed the name that sent a shiver down her spine: Afzal Jihad—and six prominent names were listed. This was it! 
Feeling very pleased with herself, she closed the fi le and withdrew the CD, carefully placing it into her bag. She then got up and went off in search of McCabe. Seeing Anju, she called to him. ‘Hey, Anju, have you seen my boss, McCabe?’
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Anju looked at Ying as if thinking hard. ‘No, I have not seen him recently.’
‘Okay, not to worry. Hey, if you do see him before me, can you please tell him I’ve gone back to the hotel, I need to get something.’
‘Okay. I will.’ With that, Anju walked off. 
Having searched the Dealing Room for ten minutes, she found no sign of McCabe who, unbeknown to Ying, had stepped out for an hour to meet with Stowe. Stowe wanted to introduce McCabe to the staff at the British High Commission. McCabe, perhaps foolishly, thought Ying would be tied up in the offi ce for the entire day and, as such, would be safe. 
Ying then decided to head back to the hotel and place the CD in her room safe. Later, she would hand it over to McCabe and Stowe. As she stepped out into the busy street, she was hit by the dust and smells. 
Cars and trucks thundered past, people were busy going about their business. Ying could see that food was being openly cooked and sold on the street. She fl agged down a taxi, safe in the belief it was such by the fact it had ‘Taxi’ written on it. 
As she climbed in, Ying settled back and started to look out of the taxi’s windows as it pulled away off down the street. The open poverty struck her, yet the people she saw seemed strangely happy just walking, sitting and chatting on the side of the busy roads. It was then she realised just how fortunate she was coming from Singapore, with her protective family and a clean and safe home. Some of the faces she saw out of the window looked so pitiful, not the evident signs of the supercharged economy that India was now fast becoming. 
Twenty minutes later, she burst into her hotel room, her pace now hurried by the fact she knew that she had stolen the CD and, somehow, hiding it would make her feel better about it. She wasted no time. She took out the CD and went directly to the safe hidden in the wardrobe. 
Opening the door, she was about to place the CD inside, but then paused. 
‘That would be the fi rst place they would look.’ She closed the safe door and punched in the mandatory fi ve-digit code: the safe locked. 
quantum breach 290709.indd 182
8/24/09 11:10:45 AM
Mark Powell
183
The CD, she decided, would have to be hidden somewhere else, given Ying now had an urge to go shopping. Ying found a large, brown envelope, provided in the hotel stationery desk drawer, and marked it for McCabe’s attention. She would leave it at the reception desk on her way out, she thought. 
As she sat on the bed, she suddenly thought about McCabe. Perhaps he was still busy with Stowe doing important planning. ‘If I call him, he will think I’m being a real wimp.’ She then thought about the CD; that would be reason enough to call him. She also started thinking about Aziz, wondering if he suspected her. She took out her mobile and pressed the normal speed dial for McCabe. 
The phone just rang, then clicked into voice mail, ‘Hi, it’s me, Ying. 
I’m at the hotel, have something for you, dare not stay in the offi ce. Call me though. Bye.’ With that, she rang off. 
Having failed to reach McCabe, she got ready and headed out. On her way past the reception desk, she deposited the envelope, marked for 
‘Mark McCabe, Room 315’. 
McCabe and Stowe were indeed busy. They were at the British High Commission going over detailed information on Afzal Jihad, trying to fi nd any leads they could to link them to the Moon Star Holding Company and the two shipping companies. Nothing had so far turned up. McCabe’s phone was in his jacket, nicely hung over the back of a chair. He had not heard it buzz when Ying had tried to contact him. 
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As Aziz stepped out into the busy street, he felt good; he had completed his work. All he needed now was his money and his air ticket to Dubai. 
From there, he would head to the Cayman Islands. His bank account there would provide him and his family with the fi nancial freedom he had worked so hard for, despite the risks of being caught. As he waited for a taxi, he wondered what would happen to Ying. 
She was a smart girl, but evidently not smart enough to discover whom his trades were benefi ting, he thought. Aziz did not, in fact, know anything about Stowe and McCabe. His lady boss had not informed him of whom they were; she reckoned it would spook him and impact his focus. 
Once safe in his hotel room, he fl ipped open his bag to retrieve the CD, a CD that contained every detail of whom he worked for and where the clean money would be channelled. He knew, despite the risks involved, that this information alone would ensure his boss would be forced to meet his demands. As Aziz reached inside his bag, his hands started to frantically fumble inside for the CD case. 
Shit, where was it? He suddenly sprang into a panic. Emptying his bag out fully onto the bed, his eyes confi rmed what his heart was dreading: there was no sign of it. He sat down on the edge of the bed, his head gripped in his hands, desperately trying to think where he had put it. In all the excitement of leaving, he had somehow overlooked the most important thing. 
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Then it struck him, his heart sinking as he remembered he had placed it on his desk after saving the last set of information, when some fool had distracted him. Not wasting a second, he grabbed his phone and headed out. He had no choice now; he would have to risk going back to the bank to try and fi nd it. As he sprinted out of the hotel and hopped into a waiting taxi, his stomach was knotting up. He would be in very big trouble if the contents of the CD fell into the wrong hands. 
As he reached the bank, he leapt out of the taxi, not even bothering to pay the fare. The driver was now yelling after him as he entered the building and headed for the lift. He had to reach his desk and fi nd the CD. As each fl oor counted up, he could feel his heart racing, his breath now heavy. 
As the doors of the lift slid open, Aziz barged out past the people waiting to get in. He frantically raced to his desk. Upon reaching it, his heart sunk into his bowels: the CD was nowhere to be seen. He pulled out each drawer. Nothing! 
Turning to the man at the next desk over, he asked bluntly, ‘Have you seen a CD? It was on my desk.’ 
Looking at Aziz, who was now drenched in sweat, the somewhat startled man replied, ‘No,’ his face confused as to why Aziz would think he would know. 
‘Has anyone been to my desk since I’ve been gone?’ Aziz demanded. 
The man abruptly turned again. 
‘Not that I can remember. You expect me to be your damn secretary. 
Now if you don’t mind, I’m busy.’ The man went back to his work. 
It was then that Aziz suddenly remembered Ying and the unwelcome interest she had shown in the CD back in Dubai. He quickly considered this. It must have been her. 
Her desk was just at the other side of the doors. As he burst in, his eyes scanning the room, he saw the empty seat. ‘Where is she?’ he barked at Tariq, a trader who had sat next to her, his startled face now looking up at Aziz. 
‘No idea,’ he said. 
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Aziz stared blankly at Tariq, then spun around fast and headed back out almost as fast as he had arrived. 
Where are you girl, where the hell are you? He was now straining to focus his thoughts. 
It was the only feasible explanation. Ying must have taken it, he thought. 
After a few minutes pacing up and down in the offi ce, it struck him. 
The hotel. She would go to the hotel. He based this on the logic that if she had the CD, she would want to hide it and the hotel was the only logical place. Given she was a visitor, that is where she would go. At least that is where he would hide it. 
He went immediately down to the street and fl ung himself back into the taxi he had earlier not paid for. The driver, clearly not happy, offered in return a barrage of abuse in Hindi. But at the end of the day, money was money in any taxi driver’s language, so he settled down and headed off, forgiving Aziz his foolish act. He took him directly to the Taj Hotel. Upon reaching the hotel, Aziz paid him and went at once to the check-in desk. 
‘Please, Miss, I work for Banning Capital Bank, and one of my colleagues, Miss Ying Lee, is staying here. I need to speak with her urgently.’
The young lady behind the desk informed Aziz that she would check, and make a call to her room. ‘May I have your name, sir?’ 
she asked
Aziz thought for a second. ‘Yes, my name is Anju. Mr Anju.’ He remembered Anju being the one who had welcomed Ying to the Mumbai offi ce, so she would recall the name. 
As the receptionist dialled the room, Aziz paced up and down, frustrated at the fact he now had to wait and was not informed of her room number. Hotel security was clearly doing its job. His eyes kept on looking at the receptionist, trying to detect if she had made contact with Ying. As he saw her put down the phone, he walked up to the desk. 
‘Well, was she there?’ he asked, sounding agitated. 
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‘No sir, no answer. I’m sorry. But I left a message that you called.’ 
Damn and blast it, he thought. He would now have to call his boss and confess, then ask for help. If the CD got out, they would all be done for. His only hope was that she understood that. 
He took out his mobile and dialled her number, knowing she was already in Mumbai. As she answered, Aziz drew a deep breath. 
‘It is me, Aziz.’
‘Yes, what is it?’ she replied. 
‘I need some help. I’m at the Taj Hotel.’
‘What exactly is the problem, Aziz?’
‘I have lost the CD. It contains the details of every trade I have made for you and the names of all of you. I think that girl from the bank, Ying, has it, and I thought she may be here at the hotel, but no sign. She is not at the offi ce either.’
‘What? You stupid fool! Have you any idea how damaging the information on that disk could be? Go back to the offi ce and see if she returns. I will have one of my men go to the hotel and wait for her. I know what she looks like, so I will instruct him.’
‘But I––’
‘Go, go, you stupid fool. I will deal with you later.’ She then hung up. 
Aziz now knew he was in big trouble, but he had no choice other than to head back to the offi ce, on the slim chance Ying returned. Maybe she just popped out for shopping, he thought. Maybe she doesn’t have it. His mind was now jumping around all over the place. 
He stepped outside, and again hopped into a taxi and directed the driver to take him to number 90 MG Road, and fast. 
Stowe glanced at his watch; he was somewhat surprised to see how late it was. ‘Hey, McCabe—it’s 5:30 already.’ 
McCabe shot Stowe a glance. ‘Christ. Is it, already? I’d best get back to the offi ce and meet Ying. I’m sure she’s had enough by now.’
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Stowe and McCabe had both been studying various documents all day, all of which listed the known activists within Afzal Jihad and their known operations. Neither Aziz nor any of his past names showed up. 
Neither did any reference to the mysterious lady. As such, Stowe was now convinced that McCabe’s suspicion was not correct. McCabe, on the other hand, still had an uneasy hunch; something about her, all that he had heard about her, made him very uneasy. 
As McCabe reached into his jacket and took out his phone, he immediately noticed the missed call. ‘Damn it: missed a call from Ying.’
Stowe looked at him, his face concerned. ‘Did she leave a voice mail?’ 
McCabe had already dialled her number. Nothing. ‘Shit! Pick up, Ying.’ His tone was anxious, as it rang out for a second time. ‘Sorry, you said something?’ McCabe glanced over at Stowe. 
‘Yeah, voice mail. Did she leave a message?’ McCabe dialled his voice mail immediately and noted the message-waiting message. 
Stowe was drumming his fi ngers on the desk, trying not to think the worst. Most likely gone off shopping, knowing Ying, he thought. 
McCabe put down his phone. ‘Well, what did she say?’ Stowe was very anxious; in fact, McCabe had not seen him like this before. 
‘Get a car, we need to go. She said something about being in the hotel, not safe in the offi ce, and having something for us. That can mean only one thing: she has found something on Aziz and she feels at risk.’ McCabe was already halfway out the door as he fi nished his spiel. 
The man now standing just outside the hotel entrance smoking a cigarette needed no pictures. As Ying emerged, she stood out like a rash on a baby; not too many Chinese girls looking like she did were around. He stood perfectly still. He himself would not have stood out; too many other people were also milling around. The area in front of the Taj was a highway of moving people from all walks of life. 
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It was then that Ying made a bad mistake. Rather than hailing a taxi, she boldly walked off to the left of the hotel. She was in the mood for adventure, and stupidly she forgot the importance of what she was into. Her mind somehow reverted to her being on a vacation, and that meant shopping. What harm could it do? Maybe Stowe and McCabe were over-reacting about the danger. Plus, it’s money these bad guys are after, not me, she thought. 
Ying had forgotten the man and the experience in the Emirates Shopping Centre. That was a mistake. As she rounded a busy corner, she could see some fabric shops across the street, their doorways festooned with brightly coloured fabrics. Silk, she thought. Her mother loved to sew. And then … Ying felt herself fade away into a deep sleep; the chloroform had done its job. 
Hajj then lifted up her limp body and placed it in the rear of the black van. The people who had been busy rushing around her seemed oblivious as to what had just happened, apart from one man: Raghu, a young porter at the Taj who had spotted Ying. He was, in fact, the same porter that had helped her when she had arrived at the hotel the day before with her heavy bags. He had come off his shift and seen the entire incident as he was heading home. But not wanting to get involved, he just walked on past. He was scared by the size of the man who had grabbed Ying. More, he had a family to consider and getting into a fi ght over a stranger served no value to him. He did, however, make a mental note of the van’s registration. Something inside told him it would be wise to do so. 
As the van pulled away, the busy street simply carried on; nothing, it seemed, was wrong. 
For Ying, who was now out cold in the back of the van, her limp body being bounced around, her fate now lay fi rmly in the hands of those who were driving her out of town. After about 40 minutes, the van arrived at a warehouse located in the old naval dock yard. Ying was hauled out and carried inside. 
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way. She had urgent business with Ying and was in a particular frame of mind, one that was prepared to do anything to get the information she required, the information Aziz had so carelessly confessed he had lost. If it leaked out, her boss and the entire cartel could be ruined. 
As Ying was carried into the warehouse, slumped over the shoulder of Hajj, her head dangling, bouncing off of his back, her long black hair cascading down, she would have been totally unaware of the man who now sat slumped in the chair. 
His bloody and lacerated wrists, which had been mercilessly wired to the arms of the steel chair, showed the signs of a hard struggle. The polythene bag over his head, taped around his neck, left no room for error. His last breath, which had in fact only been taken a few minutes prior to Ying’s arrival, was a useless attempt at continuing his life. His eyes were still open; they had the look of a man in terror, knowing he would die helpless and lonely. He had been forced to peer out of the bag around his head, every breath drawing him closer to his own death, only the face of his killer visible through the steamed-up bag, smiling at him whilst he suffocated to death. 
Had Ying been conscious, she would have instantly recognised the man as Aziz. He never made it back to the bank. His death had been ordered by his boss, the infamous Rain Angel, a woman with a cold willingness to kill. 
Ironically, her own brother-in-law had been killed in the same macabre manner only a year before, the result of Aziz informing his boss of Muhammad Nuru’s attempts to fi lter a few dollars into his own account, small beans compared with the billions Aziz had helped launder. But to Khun Surat, the ruthless Thai drug lord and long-time business partner of the Rain Angel, it was certain death for the man. The Rain Angel had remembered who ratted on her brother-in-law. Now, in a supreme irony, she had crossed crooked paths with the man responsible. 
The attempts from Aziz to feed his own greed, by his demands for cash and the fact that he had lost the vital CD with the history of all the quantum breach 290709.indd 190
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trades and God knows what else he had stored on that CD, made her feel all the better about ending his miserable life. 
An hour later, as she stepped out of her limo, her two bodyguards armed with automatic weapons escorted her into the warehouse. Upon seeing Aziz still and slumped in the chair, she smiled to herself. She could see he had died a slow and horrible death. 
Then, resuming her composure, she spat out, ‘Get that bit of shit out of here and dump him somewhere.’ With that, she turned to Hajj. 
‘I will call you later to see how our guest is doing.’ Her thoughts were now focused on Ying. She then turned and headed back out towards her car. 
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A shaft of light became visible as Ying’s eyes started to acclimatise to the dark. The room in which she found herself lying was cold and damp; the smell of mould and stale air was becoming more obvious as she slowly regained consciousness. The light source, her only sense of life through the gloom, came from a slim gap down one side of a thick wooden door. Her head was muzzy and she felt drunk. After about 15 
minutes, she lifted herself up. The heavy chain attached to her right ankle was not a welcome discovery. Where am I? she thought. 
She tugged hard on the rusty chain, but realised it was hopeless. As she followed it back through her hands, link by link, she discovered it was fastened to a thick iron ring on the wall, the other end padlocked tightly around her ankle. 
‘Help, is anyone there? Please help me, let me out!’ Ying cried out, her voice simply echoing around the stone room in which she was a prisoner. The cold, wet fl oor on her bare feet was not good. She immediately took off her jacket, placed it on the fl oor, and stood on it. 
‘Hello! Please, let me out, let me out!’ she cried again. 
After a few moments, Ying could hear heavy footsteps; they seemed to infer that someone was walking down some steps before reaching her door. 
‘You shut up, else you will regret it. We come for you later.’ With that, the footsteps turned and walked off back up the steps. 
‘No! Wait! Who are you?’ Ying shouted again. She then heard a quantum breach 290709.indd 192
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door slam and the thin strip of light that had been her only friend vanished. Ying then felt herself start to panic, lurching forward for the door, her arms stretched out to thump on it, but the chain around her ankle bit hard. She fell straight down, hitting the hard stone fl oor. 
Her ankle now in pain, tears began to stream down her face. She was alone in the dark. 
‘Please, God, help me, please, let me out of here.’ Ying’s words were now shrouded in panic, as her emotions were heading towards anger triggered by fear. 
The man who had walked down to see her, Karim Mohammed el-Hajj, was a hard man with very strong extremist beliefs. He hated the West and all it stood for. Worse, he had a pronounced taste for torture and was a die-hard Afzal Jihad member who now had a job to do. He was seated at a small wooden table, fi nishing his lunch and reading a newspaper when his phone rang. 
‘Hello,’ he answered in Arabic. 
‘Speak English. Is the girl alive?’ said the Rain Angel. 
‘Yes, she wake-up. You want me to interrogate her?’
She paused before replying. ‘No, not yet, wait until I get back. I will be there tomorrow.’ She then hung up. 
Hajj casually went back to reading his newspaper, somewhat disappointed he could not get to work. It was two hours before he walked down the steps again; this time his hands were carrying a bowl of foul-smelling broth. As he reached the door at the bottom of the steps, he placed the bowl on the fl oor to one side. He then proceeded to unlock the door. As he swung it open, Ying, who was now a pathetic heap kneeling on the fl oor, looked up, her eyes blinded by the sudden injection of light that came rushing in through the door. As it hit her eyes, she instinctively placed her hands in front of her to shield them. 
‘Who are you? Why have you got me in here?’ she demanded. 
Hajj stood looming in the doorway, the fi lthy bowl of broth in his hands. He did not like women. Worse, he loved to torture them. He quantum breach 290709.indd 193
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stepped inside and delivered a hard kick to Ying’s body, sending her fl ying backwards, and screaming in pain. 
‘You shut up, I tell you when to speak,’ Hajj spat. 
Ying curled herself into a ball and lay motionless, trying to stop herself from whimpering. ‘You go hungry now!’ Hajj threw the bowl on the fl oor and the contents spilled out, only to seep into the fi lthy stone fl oor. He then turned and walked out, pulling the door shut. Ying heard it lock and the heavy footsteps fade away. The shaft of thin light vanished from sight as the door at the top of the stairs shut, leaving Ying once again alone in the dark. 
She sat up, pulling herself back against the wall, her ribs now pumping pain around her body. She drew up her knees, placed her head on them and wrapped her arms around her legs, closing her eyes. She focused on thoughts of her mother. She pictured her going about her business; then, realising her dilemma, her thoughts quickly turned to Stowe. Would he save her? She had to believe that he would and the love he had shown her was real and not just a passing fl ing. 
Why was she here? It must be related to the CD she had stolen from Aziz, she thought. He must have blown the whistle on her. 
Ying now began to wish she had left well enough alone, and maybe she should have told Stowe and McCabe about the mystery man in the shopping mall. She should not have left the hotel. Why had she been so stupid? 
She squeezed herself even tighter into a ball. 
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Stowe and McCabe sat looking at each other like a pair of lost schoolboys. The pantry area of the British High Commission in Mumbai was not the best place to really think. They had both needed coffee, but having sat down, the exhaustion began to take its toll and they simply couldn’t move. It had now been almost 48 hours of little sleep, trying to establish where Ying may be held. The hotel porter at the Taj, Raghu, had come forward, remembering that McCabe and Stowe had checked in with her. He carefully recounted what he had witnessed, the big foreign man, Ying being taken and the black van into which Ying had been placed. McCabe and Stowe, given the description of the ‘big man’ Raghu had described, were sure he was Middle Eastern and part of Afzal Jihad. They were also concerned by the fact Aziz had also mysteriously vanished, which linked Ying’s disappearance even more to the Jihad. 
Stowe and McCabe had to now face reality: Ying was in big trouble. 
They were both feeling like shit, both knowing she could be used as a pawn or, worse, killed to warn them off. They both felt entirely responsible. McCabe was really beating himself up for having missed her phone call. 
Suddenly, as if the steam valve could take no more, Stowe barked, 
‘You should have had your mobile with you, damn it, McCabe!’ 
thumping his hand hard down on the table. 
McCabe shot Stowe a hard glare and lashed back. ‘What! You can quantum breach 290709.indd 195
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talk: if you had not fi lled her head with shit, she may have been more focused.’ 
‘What is that supposed to mean?’ Stowe was now glaring at McCabe, lifting himself up out of his chair. 
‘It means you not being able to keep your dick in your pants, Stowe,’ 
McCabe spat, his own gaze cold and unfaltering on Stowe’s eyes. 
‘At least I can protect my women,’ Stowe snipped, forgetting for a second that Ying was in part his girl, and she was now in fact missing. 
His intent was more directed at McCabe and Kate. 
That comment alone was too much for McCabe to tolerate. Whilst a controlled man, he had his limits. 
‘You dare to say that to me.’ McCabe started to move around the table and square up to Stowe. ‘It was you, arsehole, you caused Kate’s death, fucked up the rescue attempt, and to think I saved your sorry arse in that hut buried in Myanmar. I should have left you there to rot.’ 
Stowe’s face now showed the clear impact of McCabe’s revelation. 
‘What? That was you who hauled me out of there?’ His tone registered surprise bordering on shock. 
‘Yes it was me! Who else? You passed out remember?’ McCabe moved in closer, his body now bearing down on Stowe. 
Whilst they both knew each other’s capabilities, and that alone would ensure they would both feel pain in the event they came to blows, neither wanted to make the fi rst move. Stowe knew McCabe was highly dangerous and very capable of killing him, no weapon required. 
McCabe also knew that Stowe could take him down. Stowe was a dirty fi ghter; he would think nothing of placing his two thumbs hard into a man’s eye sockets to gain an advantage. 
Then, as if something clicked, Stowe took a step back. ‘Okay, okay, enough,’ he rasped, his voice now calm. ‘The other guy with me who died that day, you know who that was?’ Stowe commented, McCabe then looked at him, thoughtful, ‘Yeah, some guy Trent, if I recall. Why?’ McCabe was now wondering what the point of Stowe’s question was. 
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‘Trent, yeah. The son of one Malcolm Trent, my boss,’ Stowe replied. 
McCabe’s face now slid into deadpan. ‘Holy shit. Thank God he doesn’t know it was me who tried to rescue him. Not that it was my fault he was killed,’ McCabe replied, 
‘Yeah, he may have a different view of you. He was a great lad, young and green around the edges, but had promise. It took Trent and his wife many years to get over that,’ Stowe said. 
‘The old sod doesn’t blame you in any way?’ McCabe was now confused as to why Trent would employ Stowe after that. 
‘He did at fi rst, then blamed himself for ever allowing his son to enlist. So you see, McCabe, rescue missions are tough: easy to blame, hard to forgive when things go wrong,’ Stowe concluded, his point well made and directed at McCabe. His hope was that McCabe would forgive him over Kate. 
After pausing a few moments, McCabe immediately got the point. 
‘Yeah. You’re right. Sorry.’ Which was about as deep as any apology between them would get. 
‘We have to get Ying back. We can settle our old scores later.’ Stowe then backed further away. McCabe knew he was right and relaxed his posture. ‘Agreed,’ he said and sat back down. 
They both knew they had to fi nd where Ying was being held—
and fast. They couldn’t even be sure she was still in Mumbai. The only clue they had was the black van. Luckily for them, Raghu had also memorised the registration number. It was now being checked. 
Both Stowe and McCabe knew that Ying would not be treated to tea and biscuits by her captors; torture would certainly be on the menu. 
Her captors most likely would try and extract information out of her about McCabe and Stowe. It also appeared from her last message that she had found something, information that was clearly valuable to both sides. Stowe found himself even thinking she may already be dead. After all, what use, other than to recount what she knew about the trades, would she be to them? In reality, she posed very little risk. At least that quantum breach 290709.indd 197
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was before Stowe knew she had vital information. If her captors also knew that, it could be an entirely different game now. 
‘We will fi nd her, trust me on that,’ McCabe said. 
Stowe just looked at him, his face not convinced. 
‘So tell me, truth: you and Ying, you really have a thing for her or is it just good old lust?’ McCabe asked, looking at Stowe for a reaction. 
‘Yes, I do. We have become very close.’
‘Jesus, Stowe, she’s half your age. What were you thinking?’
‘Love, what does age have to do with it?’ Stowe’s tone was hard and showed his anger at the suggestion that he was incapable of having a young woman love him. 
‘Okay, calm down,’ McCabe responded. ‘But think: where would they take her?’
‘Could be anywhere. Mumbai is a maze of back streets. You know that better than I do. We need some kind of a lead,’ Stowe said, then stood up and started to pace the room. 
Moments later the door burst open and a clerical offi cer walked in briskly, handed Stowe a note and left as smartly as he had entered the room, not uttering a word. After checking the note, Stowe looked at McCabe. 
‘Well, what is it?’ McCabe said curtly, wanting to know, his eyes looking at the note in Stowe’s hand. 

‘The van. Registered to Al Safad Shipping in Mumbai,’ Stowe replied. 
Then, as if it had been all so obvious, McCabe looked up. ‘Your contact, this Rain Angel woman, she must be able to fi nd out. I mean, if the terrorists are indeed linked back to Afzal Jihad, she would know their moves, right? A kidnapping would dominate their airwaves, right?’
Stowe, looking back at McCabe, nodded. ‘Worth a go. We’ll soon fi nd out if she’s with us or against us. Come on, let’s try and call London now.’ Stowe was almost showing a sign of excitement. 
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could call London HQ. On the way, Stowe suddenly blurted out, 
‘Christ, we should inform the Singapore authorities and Ying’s parents. 
If this gets out in the news, all hell will break out.’
‘Sure. I’ll handle that,’ McCabe replied. 
As they sat in one of the soundproof briefi ng rooms, Stowe dialled HQ and asked for Trent. After a few moments, he was patched through. 
‘Trent. How’s it going?’
‘Not good. Ying, an employee of Banning Capital, has, we believe, been abducted. She was helping us on the inside. We’ve been trying to sniff out a trail but … blanks, I’m afraid, sir. We need some leads here and fast. We think she may have some vital information that could expose Afzal Jihad. Her last voice mail indicated to McCabe that she had found something.’ Stowe paused. 
Not hearing any response from Trent, he continued. ‘I’m requesting we contact the Rain Angel. Given that Afzal Jihad is known to her, she may know or be able to fi nd out something for us. Can you contact her, sir?’
After a brief pause, Trent replied, ‘Leave it with me. If you have not heard from me within 24 hours, call me again, understood?’
‘Okay, sir,’ Stowe replied. 
‘Anything else I can help you with?’ Trent enquired. 
McCabe then interjected, ‘Yes, sir, there is. I need one or two SAS teams on standby. If we track her down, it’s likely to need a swift extraction, one that does not draw too much media attention. I don’t want to use the local boys if she is still in India, so I need you to contact Colonel William Sykes and have him call me, please. It’s McCabe here.’
‘Ah yes, McCabe. Just one point: this Ying, she is not a UK 
citizen, correct? She’s Singaporean, if I remember. Stowe told me, so it may not fall on us.’ Trent’s reply had come with an arrogant, almost derogatory tone. 
‘No, sir, she’s not a UK citizen, but with all due respect, she’s in this mess because of us. This is a combined 5 and 6 Operation, correct, not quantum breach 290709.indd 199
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to mention an attack on a UK bank, and we need her. She is now the best source we have that may lead us to the mastermind of this group, so I expect, sir, it’s covered.’
A pause followed. ‘Okay, I take your point, McCabe. Leave it with me.’ A loud grunt followed as if to announce his displeasure at being proved wrong. 
‘Get the teams, sir,’ Stowe now piped in. 
‘Listen, Stowe, there’s enough noise around this already. I know we are all in this together, but damn it, protocol: I have the bloody Home Secretary all over me.’ Trent was now clearly annoyed. 
Stowe fi red back. ‘Sir, with respect: from what I can derive from this mess, it seems that these terrorists are in some kind of partnership with an Asian drug cartel and are looking to buy up bank stock with money made from traffi cking drugs. In return for their help, the Jihad get some funds to buy arms and continue their fi ght against the West. 
If that happens, and we can’t stop them, there is no telling how many banks will end up with drug lords or terrorists as the shareholders. It will be open season for money laundering to be passed through banks majority-owned and controlled by the very people banks try and avoid. 
Where will that leave the fi nancial markets of the world?’ 
‘And you think banks are ethical institutions? You know nothing. I will update you in 24 hours.’ With that, Trent hung up. 
Looking at Stowe, McCabe said, ‘Pompous arse! I think he got the point though. Come on, no point in mulling around here, I’ll buy you a pint.’ 
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Ying was slowly fading. She had not eaten now for 48 hours. The odd bottle of water was shoved in the room every three hours by her captors. The water was warm and had a metallic taste which made her retch. The chain around her ankle, now rubbing it, was starting to cause a sore. 
As she sat alone in the dark, she began to wonder how on earth she had gotten involved. The excitement of working with Stowe and McCabe was now more a feeling of regret. A bit like a boyfriend you thought you liked, only to fi nd out he was married, she thought, trying to cheer herself up. Then, suddenly, the door swung open. She must have drifted off and not heard them coming: two men walked in. Ying slowly tried to back into one of the corners. 
‘You come with us!’ Hajj barked and then grabbed her. As he did, Ying started to scream and fi ght back, her arms and legs fl ailing around. The hold Hajj had on her was too strong, however, and fi ghting was useless. The other man unchained her ankle and the chain dropped to the fl oor with a loud clatter. A dirty, smelly canvas bag was then forced over her head and she felt herself being hauled out and dragged up the steps. 
Ying felt her head get lighter as the air inside the bag was stifl ing; she gasped for air. She then felt herself being forced down into a chair and her hands tied behind her back, the rope tight as it burned into her soft skin, followed by the tying of her ankles. Ying tried to struggle, but it quantum breach 290709.indd 201
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was no use, she couldn’t move. She could hear herself breathing heavily and starting to panic. A sense of asphyxiation was setting in. 
‘Please, I can’t breathe! Let me go, please, I beg you!’ Ying shouted. 
Nothing seemed to stir around her. Had she been left alone? 
Then out of the dark came a soft feminine voice, that of the infamous Rain Angel. ‘Ying, isn’t it? So tell me, Ying, how are you?’
Ying turned to where she thought the sound was coming from. ‘I want to know why you have me here. I demand you let me go.’ 
‘Ying, I think we both know why you are here. The CD you took from Aziz, the one with all the data on it: where is it?’ The lady’s voice remained calm, yet clear and to the point. 
‘CD? What CD?’ Ying replied. 
‘Ying, I warn you, do not try my good nature. Tell me and you can leave. If you do not tell me, things will get very unpleasant, I’m afraid.’ 
The voice was now a little more fi rm. 
‘Please, I don’t know what you mean.’ After a short pause, Ying heard footsteps. Her heart suddenly jumped, her entire body jerked as the cold water hit, poured over her head. She felt she was drowning, her lungs fi ghting for air, deep gasps, one after another as she fought for any breath she could take. 
After what seemed like ages, she fi nally managed to draw a deep breath. Her heart was now pounding in her chest, her limbs aching from the ropes that held her down as she fought for air. 
‘Tell me, Ying, or you will get more.’ The voice now sounded harder. 
‘Please, please, I beg you.’ As the water hit again, Ying tried to hold her breath this time, but the water seeped in through the canvas bag, drowning out every breath she had left. I’m going to die, she thought. She tried to think of her parents, but the need for air brought her fi ghting back. She struggled and yanked on her arms; it was hopeless. She remained gasping for a few minutes, the wet bag tight against her face. She was in hell and deep trouble, she thought, this could not be happening to her, she had to wake up, it had to be a bad dream. It had to be. 
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Ying then heard the voice again. This time, it seemed once again to be calm. ‘Ying, I don’t want to hurt you, believe me. My dear girl, you should know that MI5 and our dear friends at MI6 are using you. They don’t care about you, an Asian girl. All they want is that CD with all of the corrupt evidence on it. Shall I tell you why, because half of the people implicated on the CD, people who have helped our cause are MI6 offi cers or worse, politicians in the UK Cabinet. This McCabe and Stowe are just wolves used to track you down and eat you alive. Trust me, I know. I’m on your side. I am your only friend.’ 
Ying paused, thinking about what the lady had just said. Could it be true, was she being used? Her mind was now racing around, trying to make sense of what was happening to her. 
‘No, impossible, I trust them. You’re the one who’s lying. You just want the money,’ Ying fi red back. Ying also knew for sure that this lady was now bluffi ng, as McCabe and Stowe didn’t even know about the CD, so how could she state they were interested only in having it? 
‘Very well. Take her away,’ the woman commanded. ‘You think about it, Ying. We will talk again later.’ 
Then Ying faintly heard a chair scrape back on the fl oor and footsteps. Her hands and feet were untied, the blood rushing back into her fi ngers. Pain followed. She was then hauled back up and dragged by her arms back down the steps, her feet banging on the hard stone steps as she went. 
As the door to the room where she was being kept opened, the bag was yanked off her head, her lungs immediately drawing in a sharp breath. Despite the mouldy air in the room, to her it was bliss. She started to cough and splutter as she hit the fl oor. The door slammed behind her and, after a few moments, all was dark again. 
As she lay on the fl oor, she began to think she could not hold out for long. This was not a Hollywood movie. She might have to tell the woman where the CD was. The only trouble was, she had left it at the hotel reception desk for McCabe. There was no telling if he had it now or not. The only thought in her head now was whether she would quantum breach 290709.indd 203
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survive even if she did tell them. 
Her mind drifted off. She recalled how she had made love to Stowe, his powerful body hard-pressed against hers. She could feel his heart beating, his warm breath on her face. She loved it, he made her feel so special. She loved the feeling. He was like a wild beast that she had tamed. 
Her fi ngers could feel the tiny scars on his body; they were like Braille, each scar had a story to tell. Her fi ngers were now feeling the stone fl oor as if touching Stowe. She wanted him now more than anything. 
Some time later, she heard footsteps. Her mind was now beginning to play tricks, as she associated that sound with pain and torture. What would McCabe and Stowe do? They would fi ght. As the door opened, a different man slid in a bowl of food, a small thin man with overly large eyes, his head balding. The door then slammed shut again. As she walked across the room, no longer chained, her hands feeling her way, it occurred to her that she was clearly of no use to them dead: she had something they needed. As she reached the bowl, she felt inside it. It felt like bread and fruit. She had to eat, her stomach was now painful and craving any form of food, so she slowly took a bite. It tasted so good, having not eaten in ages. The bread was still warm and fresh, the fruit sweet and juicy in her mouth. 
An hour or so later, the door swung open again: it was the ‘Aggressor’, as she had dubbed him. He walked in and lifted her up, the smaller man behind him forcing the damp and fi lthy bag once again over her head. 
This time, a rope was tied around her neck, making the bag fi t even tighter. She could hardly breathe. Every breath was, indeed, a fi ght. She panicked and started to struggle. 
‘Please, please! I beg you! I can’t breathe!’ 
As the ropes around her wrists drew tight, she began to pass out, the air in the bag too hot and thin to breathe, and then it came, the freezing cold water, sending her into a dark sleep. 
When she came to, she began to cough, her head encased in a soaked canvas bag. It was like being suffocated, and it was hell, her lungs gasping to draw in air. 
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Then the voice: ‘You tell me where is the CD. If you do not, I will have little choice but to continue this torture. Be smart, Ying. For your own sake.’
Ying almost began to feel assured by the voice. It gave her connection, and she wanted to hear it. Hearing it made her realise she was still alive. 
Then, realising the stupidity of her thought, Ying forced an image of Stowe into her head, his defi ant stare now etched on her own. 
‘Very well. Begin,’ the voice commanded, and a stinging pain seared up through Ying’s body, jolting her senses. She had been hit with something across her ankles, and it came again, only this time harder. 
She screamed and strained her entire body hard in the chair, feeling the skin burn on her wrists. 
‘Tell me, Ying, or this will be your mother!’ 
Ying froze. Seeing this reaction, the woman smiled and stood up, her chair again scraping back on the fl oor. She walked over towards Ying, now half-naked and shivering in the chair. Leaning very close to Ying’s ear, the voice whispered, ‘You think I can’t reach them, fi nd out where they live? Do not underestimate me, Ying. You can save them. 
Just tell me, I am your friend, I can make him stop, just say the word.’ 
She paused, then continued. ‘They will not come for you, Ying, those Westerners. They don’t care. You have done your job.’ 
Hearing this, Ying felt sick. The thought of her family being hurt was too much to swallow. Ying then knew she had very little choice, she needed to buy time. ‘Okay, please, no more. I will try and remember where I put it, please.’ Silence now greeted her. 
‘You have 12 hours to remember. Take her away.’ The woman’s voice was now harsh but clear. Ying was once again dragged out, down the stairs, her legs being bumped and scraped on the stone steps before she was thrown back into the dark room. 
After a few moments, she noticed that the shaft of light remained; it penetrated through the gap and breathed relief on her. The door at the top of the narrow steps had been left open. Maybe she was winning, she quantum breach 290709.indd 205
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thought. This made her feel better, despite the fact that her arms and legs were now very bruised. As she peered through the slit in the door, all she could see was the stone steps; she counted them, eight in total. At least this made her feel better; no light at all was hell. 
Stowe and McCabe, having enjoyed a much needed meal and break, were now back at the British High Commission, sitting around a large meeting room table. A knock came at the door and a lady in her mid-thirties entered. 
‘Line 1 for you, Mr Stowe.’ She then left. 
Stowe placed the phone on Speaker. ‘Stowe.’ 
‘So Mr Stowe, we talk at last. I hear you need my help.’ 
Stowe and McCabe’s eyes locked on to each other: they knew instantly who this was. A woman’s voice, distinct and clear: it had to be the Rain Angel. 
‘Yes, we need to locate someone. We think they are being held by members of Afzal Jihad,’ Stowe replied. McCabe just sat listening. 
After a long pause, they got a response. ‘I hear she is alive, but may not be for long. They seek to retrieve information this girl has stolen from them.’ 
McCabe stood up, his hands now splayed across the table, his eyes burning into the phone. Stowe was also on his feet; he moved closer to the phone. They shot each other glances, knowing that this was the lead they needed. The fact she had indicated that Ying was still alive saved them having to ask for a proof of life. 
Stowe paused, then asked the pinnacle question: ‘Can you get us the location of the hostage?’ Stowe looked at McCabe when he asked this, his voice calm yet fi rm. 
Silence followed, then, ‘I will need a bargaining chip. Nothing comes for free, Mr Stowe.’
Not hesitating, Stowe replied, ‘What had you in mind?’ Silence again followed. 
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‘Are you there?’ Stowe asked, as if wanting to now apply some pressure. 
‘Yes, Mr Stowe. I will talk to my contacts and get back to you, this time tomorrow.’ With that, the phone went dead. 
‘Yes!’ Stowe punched the air almost as if he had already rescued Ying. 
McCabe walked around to the same side of the table and looked his friend straight in the eyes. 
‘She seems to know where Ying is. I know you don’t believe me, but instinct tells me she knows. All that bullshit about talking to her contacts; it’s her, I know it is. We should start to get the teams mobilised, ready to go in.’ McCabe placed a hand on Stowe’s shoulder. 
‘I’m still not sure your hunch is right, McCabe, but the important thing is that Ying is alive.’ Stowe was clearly relieved. 
For the next few moments, they stood in the room, as if trying to think about what to do next. Stowe suddenly went very pale, and sat down hard on the chair. Noticing this, McCabe asked, ‘What’s up?’
‘My God; it is her. Think about it.’ Stowe suddenly thumped down his hand on the table. 
‘Her? You want to elaborate?’ 
‘The lady, all this while: in the café with Aziz, the inside knowledge. 
It’s her, the Rain Angel. Everything leads to her. She’s the bloody mastermind. Has to be. Remember, she said “she is alive”. I just said someone. I did not say or indicate it was a woman we were looking for.’ McCabe looked directly at Stowe, his eyes suddenly grasping what Stowe was getting at. 
‘At last you see it my way,’ McCabe said. ‘The question now, my friend, is how do we trap her if our instincts are correct?’
‘I’m told she is protected. Too high up to touch. They use her to play the game, my friend,’ said Stowe. 
‘The game! You spooks,’ McCabe grunted. 
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The next day, Stowe and McCabe walked boldly into Thames House, having caught the night fl ight out of Mumbai to London. As Stowe presented his theory to Trent, it was clear from the angry frown on his face that he either did not buy their story or like it one bit. 
‘Have you any idea, Stowe, who this woman is and whom she knows? The bloody Home Secretary is a friend of her husband’s. If you are wrong, we could all get fi red. As for you, McCabe, technically you are a civilian, so you would vanish into a deep, dark hole, courtesy of MI6.’
‘No, sir, I didn’t know. But to be frank, I don’t care. We need to know now and fast. We have to bring her in,’ Stowe said forcefully. 
After pausing and much rubbing of his face, Trent looked at both of them. ‘Listen. Sit down, the pair of you. This does not leave the room, is that clear?’ Trent paused. 
‘We have used this woman for a number of years now, almost ten to be exact. Rain Angel is the wife of the current ambassador of an important Middle Eastern country. She is very—and I mean very—
high profi le indeed, given her successes in abating terrorist acts, not to mention her husband’s success in relations with the UK and US of late. Her network of contacts alone is vast. Fact is, we know she is not completely clean. We tend to turn a blind eye in return for information. 
But this? You think she is using a bank to clean billions in cash… ’ 
Trent himself was close to astounded. He almost repeated himself. 
‘International terrorism, billions of dollars in banking fraud… Are you both mad?’
McCabe stepped forward. ‘Sir, it seems very likely given the coincidences, we have to fi nd out one way or another that would either eliminate her or… ’ McCabe paused. 
‘Christ alive, we would be a laughing stock if this is true. Can you imagine MI5 and 6 being found to have used a member of Afzal Jihad? 
Good God alive.’ Trent was now very agitated. 
‘I’m afraid there is more to it, sir. We also think she has brokered together a drug cartel with the Afzal Jihad. Some kind of partnership quantum breach 290709.indd 208
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has been formed; drug money, sir,’ Stowe concluded. 
Trent just stared at the both of them for a minute, then uttered, 
‘Give me a few hours. Do nothing until you hear from me, is that clear?’
‘Clear as crystal, sir,’ Stowe responded. 
‘In the meantime, sir, I would like your permission to get an Immediate Action team together. I’m not without my own contacts, at least on standby,’ McCabe said. 
Trent looked over at McCabe and nodded. ‘I will call Sykes. Leave it with me. Now get out, I have work to do.’ 
After they had left his offi ce, Trent placed his face in his hands and rubbed his eyes. ‘Christ,’ he muttered. He then buzzed his assistant. 
‘Eileen, track down Colonel Sykes for me. I need him here pronto.’ 
He then picked up his mobile phone and typed a simple text message. It read, ‘They are on to you, abort, I can only stall for a short while.’ Then after sending it, he deleted the record of the message and returned the phone to his jacket pocket. 
Lieutenant Colonel Robert Sykes, a 20-year veteran of SAS 
Operations, was a charismatic man whose military reputation was legendary. Educated at Oxford, he was fl uent in four languages. His polished exterior only served to hide a hardened soldier beneath. He knew both Stowe and McCabe well; he also knew that together they were a deadly combination. He understood that Stowe was the hard man, more instinctive than refl ective while McCabe was the more thoughtful one: shrewder, a more complex individual altogether. Above all, he knew that both men were highly trained and effective; together they would be big trouble. 
It only took 30 minutes for Sykes to reach Thames House. He had been on his way home for a family visit when the call came in. The detour off the M25 ring road was nothing for him. His navy blue Range Rover effortlessly glided him through the 20-odd miles. As he entered Trent’s offi ce, he caught sight of Stowe and McCabe who had walked back in after being summoned by Trent. 
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‘Good God alive: two wolves and not a drop of blood in sight,’ 
Sykes delighted in saying. ‘McCabe, nice to see you, old chap. You look well.’ Sykes held out his hand and shook hands with McCabe. 
‘Always a pleasure, never a chore, sir,’ McCabe said, jesting, but maintaining a formal approach to his former colonel. Deep down, however, he wanted to kick him in the teeth for not standing up for him over the shooting incident Stowe had been involved in. 
Trent cleared his throat and ended the greetings with his report. 
‘Okay, now listen, I have just had it confi rmed by the “boffi ns” here that 
“Rain Angel” is in Mumbai. She was tagged as entering the country a week ago using an American passport. Her real name is Mrs Chamat, the wife of a high-ranking Lebanese diplomat here in London. Anyway, in my book, the fact she is in Mumbai supports your suspicion, Stowe.’
McCabe shot Stowe a glance, as if to say ‘your suspicions?’ 
Trent continued, ‘Not good news at all, so we have to play this one very carefully. But I still need proof. I have a meeting with the top brass this afternoon to discuss how we handle this. The links to the Home Secretary are very sensitive.’ 
Stowe and McCabe looked at each other, both half-breaking a knowing smile, thinking about Trent having to be diplomatic to the Home Secretary. 
‘The news doesn’t get much better, I’m afraid,’ Trent continued. ‘I can only authorise Sykes here to give you limited support. That means, gentlemen, it’s going to be down to you two characters to lead the extraction, if, indeed, it gets to that point.’ Trent paused and took a sip of water. 
‘Limited, sir? How limited?’ McCabe enquired. 
‘Two men at best,’ Sykes replied. ‘It just so happens I have two guys, both top men, bored rigid after running a little errand for me in Jakarta. 
How about I have them swing by Mumbai on their way back home, sort of tourist stop if you catch my drift.’ Sykes winked at McCabe. 
Trent then butted in, ‘In short, gentlemen, this never happened. 
You get in, you get out, period. Now the important bit: I need this CD 
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that she claims your girl Ying has. If it contains what the Rain Angel claims and your girl Ying really does have it, we need it.’
At this point, McCabe and Stowe looked at each other. It was the fi rst time they heard that the information Ying was rumoured to have was in the form of a CD. They had both picked up on this point when mentioned by Trent. 
‘We simply can’t have that kind of information loose. Oh, and another thing, the Singaporeans want her back alive. They don’t like their citizens being caught up in this kind of thing. I had to negotiate very hard for them not to send in their own team. However, they will be sending a doctor and two offi cials to ensure her safe passage back home.’
‘That’s if she is still alive, sir, and we trust what this woman is saying,’ Stowe said with a note of desperation. His face showed his clear concern. 
‘Quite, Stowe. I suggest the three of you sit down and work out what you need, then update me once you have spoken to Rain Angel again. That’s it for now.’ Trent then waved them out. 
As they left his offi ce and walked into a vacant meeting room a few doors down, Rose tapped on the door. Rose was a 32-year-old woman who had joined MI5 via her own application. She had formerly been a research editor for a London newspaper, and she was now one of Stowe’s best operations logistic planners. 
‘Hey, boss, I will have your updated visas and equipment ready upon your arrival. MI6 will also have two men meet you at the airport. 
Communications will be set up and patched through directly to Trent’s offi ce. Anything else?’ Rose paused. 
‘No thanks, not for now,’ Stowe replied. 
‘Okay, chaps, so what do you need?’ Sykes enquired. 
‘These two men—which squadron, Sykes?’ McCabe asked. 
Sykes turned his head towards McCabe as he settled himself into one of the chairs. ‘D Squadron, both top men, so don’t worry, they know the drill.’ 
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McCabe then grunted as if to imply he would be the judge of that. 
‘What about logistics?’ Stowe asked. 
‘I have contacts with the Indian National Security Force. Their boys are top. I will see what I can do. My hope is they can tool you up.’ 
‘Okay, excellent. We just need the location now … and hope to God Ying can hold out,’ McCabe said. 
The hours ticked by. Four p.m. fi nally arrived, and the phone rang right on time. The room was now fi lled with members of Stowe’s intelligence team: Trent, McCabe and Sykes. As Stowe hit the button on the speaker phone, he announced, ‘Stowe here.’ 
This was initially followed by silence, then, ‘Okay, listen: I have been in contact with the group holding your operative. There is no deal to be struck.’ The woman was emotionless in her tone. 
Stowe paused for a moment, obviously shaken by this news. ‘We need a location. Do you know where they are holding her?’ 
‘I do not have an exact location. I just know that they have her and that she is still in Mumbai, which is all I can tell you.’ The phone then went dead. 
‘Damn it!’ Stowe thumped the table. ‘Okay, we need to know where this woman is in Mumbai. Sir, you have to get us more information.’ 
Stowe was now angry. 
‘Stowe, I have told you, this is sensitive, and you think MI6 will give this woman up over some girl? We don’t even know if she is the woman you think you saw. It could be all coincidence.’ 
‘Hang on. The picture. Stowe, you took a picture, remember?’ 
McCabe blurted out. 
‘Yes I did. I sent it back for analysis.’ Stowe then turned and looked at Ronnie, one of his team. ‘Well, Ronnie, what did you fi nd out?’ 
Stowe positioned the question. 
‘I handed it to Trent.’ Ronnie then looked at Trent as if gesturing for confi rmation. 
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‘Hmm, yes. Okay, I have it. Leave it with me.’ Trent almost looked guilty of something. 
Stowe then focused his attention back on Trent. ‘Sir, if it does turn out to be her, we can certainly turn a blind eye. We just need Ying safe and sound. And, of course, the CD they claim she has. We just need her to show us where Ying is being held,’ Stowe contended. 
‘Yes, yes, Stowe, I will see what I can do. But as I have said, no promises. I’m meeting Mike O’Connor later. He’s the new Head of Asia Operations for MI6. Let me see what he is prepared to offer.’ 
With that, Trent stood up and left the room. McCabe also stood up. ‘Come on, let’s get our heads down. I have a feeling it’s going to be a long week.’ 
Some hours later, as Trent walked back into the meeting room, he observed Stowe and McCabe stretched out on opposite sofas. ‘Nice to see you hard at it, gentlemen.’ McCabe jumped up fi rst. 
‘Just getting some downtime, sir.’
‘Yes. Well, we will have you back to your bank soon as we can, McCabe.’ 
Not if I can help it, McCabe thought to himself. How could he go back to banking after tasting blood again. 
‘The deal is this, so listen up,’ Trent said. 
Stowe was now sitting up. ‘You will fi nd the Rain Angel located in the Old Taj Hotel, Mumbai.’ McCabe shot Stowe a glance; the same hotel where they had all stayed. ‘But there is a condition. And make no mistake, gentlemen. You must take her out; make it clean. This comes from the very top; no mistakes. Once we have the CD, and you must secure it, we can take down her associates, but she must not be left breathing, is that clear?’
‘Yes, sir, perfectly,’ Stowe responded. 
‘MI6 will be on this operation with you. Not that I don’t trust the pair of you, but I want her dead, so don’t fuck it up. Now get out of here. A car will take you to Heathrow in ten minutes.’
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then? She is involved?’ McCabe enquired. 
Trent went pale. ‘Yes, it is her. I showed O’Connor that picture Stowe took. His face said it all.’
Stowe and McCabe both felt the adrenaline rush. No sooner had Trent fi nished, than they were already heading out the door. 
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As both Stowe and McCabe stepped out of the airport in Mumbai, McCabe coughed. The pollution had hit the back of his throat. 
Within a few minutes, a silver Mercedes pulled up and two men got out. 
‘I’m Clarke and this is Walker. We’re from 6. We have been expecting you both.’ Clarke extended his hand to Stowe and they shook hands. As they got in the car and pulled away, Walker turned to Stowe. ‘The box on the seat is for you, courtesy of our diplomatic pouch from London.’ 
Stowe took hold of the box and opened it; two 9mm Sigs with clips, just what he needed. 
‘Good. We have a lot to do, so let’s get on with it,’ Stowe replied, instantly taking charge. 
Stowe then turned to McCabe. ‘This is going to be messy, I can feel it. Whatever happens, get Ying out alive, promise me?’
‘Of course. I care too, you know,’ McCabe replied. He was somewhat taken aback by Stowe’s plea. It was not often he so openly communicated his concern. The two of them sat in silence for the rest of the journey, both thinking about how the operation would go. But fi rst, they had an ‘Angel’ to catch. 
Ying sat cold and shivering, her body feeling the effects of her captivity and torture. The room in which she had spent the past few days—or quantum breach 290709.indd 215
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was it weeks, as she had lost all sense of time—now stank of damp and her own urine. She felt fi lthy, her body black with the dirt from the room and being dragged up and down the steps. The grey suit she had worn when she had been abducted was a sodden mess, covered in dirt and worse. 
Who were these animals who kept her like this? she thought. Her only hope now was that Stowe and McCabe would fi nd her, and more importantly, that they had not given up on her and were not, as the lady had informed her, ditching her. 
Her mind kept wandering. Thoughts of her family and friends back in Singapore swirled around in her head. She had to fi ght to stay positive, fi ght to stop sobbing. She had to just hang on. 
Ying realised that her energy and willpower were beginning to seriously wane. She felt emotionally drained; she began to feel very alone and depressed. Then, somewhere out of the recesses of her memory, she recalled a story her father had told her when she was only ten years old about her grandfather, a journalist during the World War II Japanese occupation of Singapore. He often worked for the British and Allied Forces, reporting news about World War II and the action across Southeast Asia to the Western world. 
In retribution for the support given by Singapore’s Chinese to China in its struggle against Japan, all local Chinese males from the ages of 18 to 50 were required to report to registration camps. The Japanese military police arrested those suspected of being anti-Japanese, amongst them her grandfather. He was accused of being a spy for the British Empire; as such, he was taken prisoner and held in a small, poorly ventilated hut. 
She recalled being told how he had been severely beaten with bamboo sticks and starved. His only source of water was often what he could collect from the odd rain shower. He used a thick rubbery leaf of a plant, picked from a bush he could just reach out of a small gap in the wall of his hut. The sun used to beat down on his hut and nearly boiled him to death. 
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Her father, she remembered, deeply respected his father’s will to live, his inner strength that somehow enabled him to cling to life. 
Whilst his body was beaten and bruised, he would not sacrifi ce his spirit to the Japanese. He survived the many months of torture by convincing his captors of his innocence, claiming that he had been forced to work for the British; which, of course, he hadn’t. He was fi nally released in May 1943. 
Ying could not recall the relevance of the story her father had shared, but the memory of the story alone suddenly fi lled her with a surge of energy. She even started to feel physically stronger. 
As the sound of familiar footsteps coming down the stone stairs hit her ears once again, she knew she had to try and hang on for one last time, dismiss the pain, maybe even use the pain as an adrenaline-inducing drug and fi ght for her life. She began to hate her captors; hatred that would fuel her will to survive. She learned some important things about herself: it surprised her just how strong her spirit was, just like her grandfather’s. 
Finding herself once again tied to the chair, the bag forced over her head, the rope tied tight around her throat, she felt her eyes almost popping out as she gasped for air. It was like breathing through a wet blanket. The torture was designed that way, so the victims felt like they were drowning. The Rain Angel knew her craft, and her form of torture matched her name. 
’You cannot hold out much longer, Ying. Now tell me or I will make it much worse for you.’ The woman was now clearly angry. 
Ying forced the image of her grandfather into her head, took a deep breath and yelled, ‘Go to hell!’ Then, wondering where she managed to dig that out from, she slumped forward. 
‘Hit her, damn it!’ the woman yelled back, as if she had fi nally lost some of her usual composure. Hajj stepped forward and belted Ying hard across the face with the back of his hand, sending her head sideways. Ying, her head now spinning, clenched her jaw as tightly as she could to try and avoid screaming. 
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‘Again!’ the woman cried. Another hit followed, this time the full force of Hajj came in. Ying felt herself almost blacking out, choking from the blood that now started to run down the back of her throat. 
Her nose was bleeding and her left eye closing. 
‘Tell me, or I will have this animal beat you to a pulp. I’m your only hope, girl,’ she screamed. 
Ying could hardly speak. Her head was now on fi re and she knew she was about to pass out. 
As she regained her consciousness, not knowing if she had indeed passed out, the light started to blind her. She could taste the dried blood in her throat. The canvas bag had been taken off her head. As she started to lift her head, she heard the woman’s voice command: ‘Do not look at me. Keep your head down.’ 
Ying immediately looked back down to the fl oor. 
‘Ying, I really want to help you. Sorry about that. Hajj can take things too far. But you have to tell me where the CD is.’ This time, the woman’s voice was soft and caring. Ying actually found herself warming to her. It must be because of her voice, she told herself. Ying then started to cry as a wave of emotion came over her. 
After a few minutes, she calmed herself down; the woman was stroking her hair. ‘Okay, okay, I’ll tell you. Please, no more,’ Ying cried. 
She then knew that she had to tell her. She could not hold out anymore. 
‘It’s in my hotel room; I hid it there.’ 
As Ying started to lift her head and look up, a hard smack across the face followed. ‘I told you not to look at me! Blindfold her.’ The woman’s personality had switched back to a more aggressive nature. Ying then felt the darkness again. The woman started to laugh. ‘You think I care about you, stupid girl? This is not a game. So where in your hotel room, which room number?’ 
Ying had broken. ‘In the safe, in the safe! Room 309,’ she bleated. 
Ying now felt a strange physiological change going on within: she found herself not caring. She had had enough. 
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Ying and was standing right by her ear. 
‘I can’t remember,’ Ying replied. 
‘Get the bag—and this time leave it on,’ the woman commanded. 
As the bag was forced over her head once again, Ying felt the rope around her neck tighten to the point she could hardly breathe. Her lungs were now gasping for air. She started to lurch back in the chair and fi ght, trying to shake her head from side to side, her lungs now desperate for air. Sputtering, she tried to talk. The woman heard a gurgle of air and waved to Hajj. As the rope around her neck was loosened, Ying gasped in a lungful of stale air, then choked and spluttered. It took a few minutes before she could utter ‘66 … 9 … 88.’ 
With that, she passed out. 
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As McCabe and Stowe once again walked back into the lobby of the Taj Hotel, they both agreed to meet back in the bar in 20 minutes. 
As for ‘Sooty and Sweep’, the name Stowe had given the two MI6 offi cers, on account of their young looks and obnoxious nature, they had been sent off to the British High Commission to meet with members of the Indian National Security Service as well as a Singaporean doctor fl anked by two Singaporean offi cials who had been fl own in to make sure Ying was well taken care of, dead or alive. 
McCabe had also received a call, letting him know that his two friends from Jakarta had arrived safely and were now being entertained at the High Commission. Things were beginning to come together. All they needed now was to fi nd Ying, no easy task in a city with a population of about 13 million people. 
As the elegant lady with her pristine hair and carefully chosen attire stepped out of her black Mercedes and walked into the lobby of the Old Taj Hotel, her arrogance almost trumpeted her arrival. It was Stowe who spotted her fi rst; instinct had directed his attention at that precise moment. Stowe wasted no time at all: ‘McCabe. Target, six o’clock.’
Hearing this with some surprise, McCabe very slowly looked around, his eyes now taking in the prey they were after: it was none other than the infamous Rain Angel. There she was, as if nothing was wrong with the world. Her shadow was another matter. There, walking about two yards behind her was a Middle Easterner who even by McCabe’s quantum breach 290709.indd 220
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standards was a brute of a man, his eyes busily scanning the lobby. 
‘Her shadow is doing a recce,’ McCabe informed Stowe. 
Hearing this, Stowe took a sip of his beer. ‘Okay, let’s move. But remember that she knows what we look like.’ 
McCabe swiftly moved in front of Stowe as they got up and started to head for the lift. They stopped as they both saw their quarry now standing at the check-in desk, which caused McCabe to ponder. ‘I wonder why they would stop at check-in. Trent seemed to infer she was already a guest.’
‘Checking her mail, who knows. Okay, McCabe, you follow her. I’ll wait down here.’ 
Meanwhile, the two targets moved away from the check-in desk and towards the lifts, McCabe carefully following. He paused as he saw them waiting for the lift to arrive. As the doors opened and he saw them step in, he moved forward. When the lift doors shut, he sprinted forward and waited for the next lift. His instincts were telling him that she would be heading for Ying’s room on the third fl oor. The feeling just seemed so strong; he had to go with his gut on this one. If he was wrong, at least he could head back down to the lobby and wait for them to reappear. 
As the lift reached the third fl oor and the doors slid open, McCabe casually stepped out, turned to his left and paced down the narrow hallway. As he reached the corner of the hallway, he carefully stopped and peered around. 
No sign, he thought. Then, as he got closer to Room 309, he drew out his Sig from the rear waistband of his jeans. After a few more paces, he quickly slid the Sig back inside his jacket; a guest had suddenly emerged from a nearby room. McCabe pretended to walk on past Room 309. Once the guest had vanished around the corner towards the lifts, he once again turned and drew out his Sig, his fi nger now placed on the trigger. 
As he reached Ying’s room, McCabe placed his ear very carefully against the door. He could now just make out voices on the other side of quantum breach 290709.indd 221
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the door. Got you! he thought, pleased that his instincts were correct. 
McCabe then heard the woman speak. ‘Damn her!’ followed by, 
‘Come on let’s get back.’ 
He quickly paced up the hall heading away from the lift lobby and around the corner to the far side of where he had come from as the door to Room 309 opened. 
Peering back around the corner, he could see the Rain Angel and her shadow walking towards the lift. The latter was carrying what looked like a laptop. McCabe took out his phone and hit speed-dial. Within seconds, Stowe answered. 
‘Stowe, I found her. They’re on their way back down.’ 
‘Roger that,’ Stowe replied. 
A few minutes later, McCabe swiftly emerged from the lift. ‘So where are they?’ 
‘Relax; they have only just headed out the entrance. Come on,’ 
Stowe said. 
As the pair of them emerged from the hotel front entrance, they could see the Rain Angel stepping into a black Mercedes. Stowe waved frantically at a waiting taxi, which pulled up within seconds. They both jumped in. McCabe instructed the driver to follow the Mercedes as the pair of them automatically started checking their weapons. 
‘I hope this bitch leads us right to her,’ Stowe said, his eyes intently focused on the rear of the car in front. 
‘Yeah, let’s hope. Hey, tell you what: drop me here at the next corner. 
I’ll head to the High Com and collect the two guys Sykes has given us. 
I think we may need them. Call me the moment you arrive at wherever you’re heading. Stop here, driver,’ McCabe said. 
‘Okay, agreed. I’ll also call my two MI6 friends. They can join you.’
As the taxi drew up at the traffi c lights, McCabe slid out the rear door and vanished. Stowe watched him blend into the crowd, and he was gone. The black Mercedes, only a few cars ahead, pulled away and then started to make an abrupt left turn. 
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Stowe decided to use the driver’s knowledge to plot his route. ‘Where are we heading, my friend?’
The driver turned his head slightly. ‘We are heading north, boss, towards the docks. I will follow the car, okay?’
‘Okay, thanks. Yes, keep following, but not too close.’ Stowe had no idea where the docks were, but at least he knew which direction he was heading, and docks were docks. He had been to a few in his time and he knew that they were usually dark, dirty and consisted of a maze of buildings and cranes. 
The driver shook his head, which Stowe took as meaning ‘yes’ 
in Indian. In fact, Stowe observed that the taxi driver seemed to be enjoying himself. 
As McCabe entered the British High Commission, he was shown directly into a small meeting room. As he stepped in, he couldn’t believe his eyes. There, sitting on a chair which looked like it would collapse at any moment, was the imposing fi gure of Mooney, with at least two days’ growth of beard on his face. 
‘Good God alive, I don’t bloody believe it!’ McCabe grabbed Mooney and gave him a hug, whilst slapping him hard on the back. 
‘Hey up, old mate. Miss me, did you?’ Mooney quipped. 
McCabe was almost lost for words. ‘How in hell did you pull this? 
What … how?’ McCabe just let his words stumble out. 
‘Sykes said you boys needed some professional help, something about being low key. He was going to send another lad, but when I heard it was you and Stowe, I pulled rank.’
‘Great to see you.’ McCabe then looked at the other man. ‘Who’s this?’
‘Mark, this is Chaz. A good lad. Taught him all I know.’
‘Good to meet you, Chaz. Welcome aboard.’ McCabe shook his hand. 
‘Pleasure’s all mine. Heard all about you,’ Chaz replied. 
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‘Pleasure? Don’t be soft, boy. McCabe here couldn’t hit a barn door with his own piss,’ Mooney quipped. 
‘Up yours!’ McCabe replied. 
The three of them, now having been joined by the two MI6 offi cers Sooty and Sweep, sat around a table as McCabe started to fi ll them all in. After about 20 minutes, they all sat back and, for a few minutes, digested the information. 
‘Okay, be ready to leave in ten minutes,’ McCabe instructed. ‘Stowe is tailing our target.’ 
With that, the team members rallied to and started to retrieve several large bags that had been slung in the corner of the room. Sykes had managed to get them sent over from the UK as diplomatic mail. The process of kitting up had begun. The operation was ‘dark’, meaning there was no offi cial cover. In reality, it would be denied, put down to a local gangland event. Too many political embarrassments would result if the real truth ever leaked out. 
Mooney had requested that his entire ‘black kit’ be sent over. As he started to strip down, pull off his jeans and ease his bulk into a pair of dark blue, almost black overalls, McCabe shot him a glance. 
‘You may as well paint “SAS” on your fat forehead,’ McCabe quipped. ‘Tone it down, big fella; we have to at least blend in a bit.’
Mooney just looked at McCabe and grunted. As he continued to get dressed, he used one of his arms to toss a large black canvas bag over at McCabe. ‘Brought this for you, mate. For old time’s sake.’
McCabe unzipped the bag and saw that Mooney had arranged some kit for him: various bits of body armour, black overalls, balaclavas and his favoured MP5. 
‘Cool. I can sweat my balls off,’ McCabe laughed. 
As Stowe eased out of the taxi, about 100 yards in front of him was the black Mercedes, now parked up a few yards away from a row of old dockside warehouses. He had observed the two occupants of the quantum breach 290709.indd 224
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car get out and walk in through a small door on the front. Stowe waited for a couple of minutes and then proceeded on foot towards the warehouse. A few people were milling about, so he casually walked as if he would walk directly past the warehouse. He had to assume they would have a lookout. He had taken an old baseball cap from the taxi (having paid the driver 100 rupees for it) which he now pulled down in front of his face, the best attempt he could manage to disguise his all too obvious Western looks. 
As he sauntered past, his eyes slightly raised towards his right side, he could just make out a fi gure sitting in the doorway. Stowe had to assume he was the lookout. 
Stowe continued on past, his fi gure fading away into the shadows, his fi ngers now dialling up McCabe. ‘It’s me. Stand by. Princess Naval Docks, warehouse opposite building site, red steel doors. I will investigate and let you know. If I text “GO!” you know what to do.’ He then hung up. 
McCabe looked at Mooney, who instantly knew the look: it said 
‘Stand by!’
‘Okay, team, we move in three minutes.’ McCabe then pointed to one of the MI6 offi cers. ‘You: get the van ready after our briefi ng.’ One of the High Commission staff had obtained a large van from the Indian Defence Force. McCabe had decided that ‘Sooty’ would drive it. 
As the fi ve men, all now kitted up, assembled, McCabe spoke out, standard practice, to recount the basic details. ‘Okay, gentlemen, we have one hostage—Asian, female, name Ying Lee, believed alive. We need her to stay that way. One MI5 offi cer on site, Brian Stowe. We have any number of players, not yet confi rmed, assumed armed and dangerous. We will divide into pairs of two: Red, Blue and Green teams. 
With me so far?’
The team all nodded, aside from Mooney, who just stared at McCabe. ‘Okay, check your weapons and kit. Meet outside in the van in fi ve minutes. Jump to it!’ 
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excitement began to percolate. McCabe felt his entire body energised. 
As they piled into the waiting van, the sound of weapons locking and loading could be heard. Chaz sat next to Mooney, his mouth chewing gum like a grazing cow. Mooney, his gaze still, was getting his mind ready to react to the pending situation. McCabe was last in, the doors closing behind him. The van then pulled away and started to head for the docks. Sooty, one of the MI6 offi cers was at the wheel. 
McCabe wanted at least one of the MI6 offi cers driving, just in case things turned nasty and they had to evacuate fast. 
His navigator was one of the embassy offi cials. Dr Tan, the assigned Singaporean medic, sat in the middle of the van, his eyes looking around at the various team members. Perhaps he was wondering how many would need his attention. Either way, McCabe thought he had guts coming along. It certainly took guts for this guy to put himself in play for Ying. The other civilian was an offi cial from the Singapore Government, sent along to take account of the rescue attempt. 
As they all prepared their heads for what may happen, silence fell upon the van as it now darted its way through the Mumbai traffi c towards the docks. 
Stowe, who had crossed the narrow street, had begun to edge himself very slowly along the front of the warehouses, inch by inch, keeping his body as fl at to the wall as he could. The darkness would help to provide cover: the street lighting was very poor, only the faintest of shadows could be seen, almost ghost-like shivering in the occasional pool of water that lay on the bumpy road in front of him. His Sig was clasped in his right hand. It gave him comfort. Over the years, such a weapon had been his best friend, always there for him, never letting him down. As he leant forward, he could see that a few yards ahead, the warehouses were divided by a small gap. 
‘That will provide good cover,’ he thought. 
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across the road, stopping every so often to sample what must have been scraps of food or rubbish. 
He soon reached the gap, which was no more than four feet wide, and slid himself artfully around the corner. Less than a minute or two later as he stood in the gap thinking about his next move, he froze. A fl icker of light had caught his eye as it danced across a puddle of dirty water just off to the front edge of the next warehouse. A man’s back now came into view as he puffed on a cigarette, the plumes of white smoke dissipating into the cooling night air. 
Stowe held fast, almost trying to sink into the wall of the warehouse. He could also see that the man had an AK-47 hanging off his right shoulder. 
Overkill for hunting rats, he thought. Luckily for Stowe, the man had turned swiftly just before the gap. Had he not, he might have caught sight of Stowe partially hidden in the gap. 
Then a second man joined him. Both were now talking in what Stowe instantly recognised as Arabic. Stowe inched himself further back down the gap. He had to; if not, one of the men could have very easily seen his shadow. Stowe was now, in effect, trapped. As he looked further down the narrow gap, trying to see if he could escape out the other end, he could just make out in the dark that it was blocked by what seemed to be old truck wheels and rusty junk. Stowe then turned his head back towards the men who were chatting. Stowe could just make out via his limited understanding of Arabic that they were talking about home and their wives. Funny, he thought, and he wondered if their wives knew what employment their husbands had. 
The men started laughing. One of the men was now standing right by the gap. Stowe thought of dropping him right there and then with a single shot, be done with it, but how many more players lay around the corner armed with automatic weapons? His Sig would be no match for them if he exposed himself now. Then he suddenly realised that Ying may be inside, within a few yards of him. He felt his adrenaline rush through his veins. He knew he had to get in there, but he also knew he quantum breach 290709.indd 227
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needed McCabe—and fast. 
As the van drew up softly at one end of the street of warehouses, the team slipped out and into the shadows. They all knew what to do, each one having been trained in hostage recovery. Mooney paired with McCabe; Sweep and Chaz made up the second pair. Sooty, the other MI6 offi cer, remained with the van. He would cover Doctor Tan and the Singapore offi cial and bring the van up when required for an immediate evacuation. 
McCabe typed in the words ‘Stand by’ and sent the text. As the message came in, Stowe felt his pocket vibrate. Given he had no communication set on him, this was the only way McCabe could communicate with him. As Stowe read the SMS, he knew instantly what it meant: the team were now somewhere very near him. 
McCabe, with Mooney almost glued to his back, edged sideways up the street. One hundred yards or so in front of him on the right-hand side, he could now also see the two men, both smoking. Scanning the rest of the street and warehouse, he noted that no one else seemed to be about. Then suddenly, out of nowhere, a man wearing only a loincloth darted out on a rickety bike and rode off up the street, passing the warehouse. The two players barely gave him a glance. 
‘Two players in view.’ McCabe sent off the SMS. When Stowe read this, he knew that McCabe had a good line of sight over his somewhat treacherous position. As such, he would know who else was about; he had to be just opposite the men. 
Stowe then replied, ‘Can you take them out?’ 
McCabe read the SMS, and then carefully passed the phone to Mooney. Mooney read the message, looked at McCabe and nodded. 
McCabe sent back the message, ‘Yes, stand by,’ to Stowe. 
As Mooney perched the barrel of his L96 AW suppressed sniper rifl e on McCabe’s right shoulder, the two men came into clear sight. 
Mooney carefully adjusted the scope with his deft fi ngers, which for a man of his stature was interesting to observe. The crosshairs of his telescopic sight were now accurately trained on the fi rst man’s head. 
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McCabe could feel the adrenaline rush. He then raised his hand, clenched in a fi st. 
‘Hold, hold,’ he spat into his mic. 
The other team members froze. Another man had come out; a large, powerful man. McCabe recognised him instantly as the man who had been with the Rain Angel at the hotel. He was waving at the men, clearly gesturing for them to come inside. 
Stowe heard the shout, and both men quickly dropped their cigarettes into the muddy water and walked off. As they did so, Stowe eased himself up the gap. From there, he could not now see the two men; they seemed to have vanished. 
McCabe fl icked off another message. ‘Hold. One man still out front. Where are you?’ 
Stowe replied, ‘Gap right of main door.’ 
McCabe then turned his head slightly. ‘Mooney, can you see Stowe, gap, your left of building?’ 
Hearing this, Mooney moved his sight towards the gap. Just as Stowe popped his head out, Mooney captured it squarely in his sights. 
‘Got him, confi rm.’
McCabe sent off, ‘We have you.’ 
As the man on guard started to pace up and down, McCabe waited for him to walk back towards the gap. Finally, as the man turned and walked almost right up to Stowe, McCabe gave the order: ‘Take the shot.’
As Mooney’s fi nger gently squeezed the hair-sensitive trigger, McCabe felt the jolt of the rifl e on his shoulder. The slight whiff of cordite fi lled his nostrils. It was like a drug: it got his heart pounding. 
Stowe, meanwhile, heard the deep hard thud as the round hit, followed by the splash as the half-decapitated body fell in front of him, face down in the puddle of water. The .338 Magnum round had done its job, like a sledgehammer through a watermelon. Whatever brains the man had were now a watery mush. 
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Stowe stepped out quickly and dragged the body into the gap with him. 
‘Go, go!’ McCabe spat and the four-man team moved out of the shadows in perfect formation and paced on up the street. Once parallel with Stowe, McCabe and Mooney crossed over and into the gap. 
Chaz and Sweep replaced the position McCabe and Mooney had left, just across the street. Almost opposite the warehouse main door, they were safely hidden in the dark shadows. 
Ying sat hunched-up against the stone wall. The damp air was now making her cough. She felt drained and not very well at all. She only just recalled being placed in the cell after blacking out. As she touched her eye, she winced; it was badly swollen and very sore. Flakes of dried blood now covered her very swollen face. The sound of voices could just be heard in the distance. She wondered now what would happen to her. She just had to sit and wait, she had to stay strong. 
The Rain Angel was now somewhat uncomfortably seated at a small wooden table just inside the warehouse. As she fl ipped open the laptop they had retrieved from Ying’s hotel room, her face fl ashed anger upon seeing it required a password to access. 
‘Bring her here, now!’ she shouted to Hajj. 
Even Ying heard it, followed by the footsteps, now all too familiar, on the stone steps. As the door unlocked and swung open, her eye, the other too swollen to open, winced at the light. She felt herself lifted up and dragged out. As she was once again tied into the chair, she somehow found herself relaxing, as if ready for the impending pain. 
‘Clever girl, aren’t you? So, no CD, but we did fi nd your laptop. 
Password, now!’ the voice commanded. 
‘Go to hell!’ Ying spat, 
‘Strike her!’ the woman’s voice screamed. 
That was all Stowe needed to hear. He moved out fast from the gap and along the wall; he now knew Ying was inside and alive. 
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‘Damn it, Stowe!’ McCabe responded, not being able to shout. 
Stowe moved closer to the open door. 
‘Standby, standby,’ McCabe whispered into his radio, as the team tensed and readied their weapons. 
Hajj hit Ying square across the face, her head violently jolting back. 
She was out, his blow so severe that she had been knocked out. 
‘You fool, you will kill her. I need the password!’ The woman screamed. Hajj just looked at her. 
As Stowe came in, his Sig pointing directly at Hajj, the Rain Angel saw him fi rst. Her face registered shock at seeing him there. But before Stowe could take his shot, he felt his legs buckle beneath him. He had not seen the man standing just inside the doorway; he was so focused on Ying sitting in the chair, he had ignored all of his training. 
‘You bloody fool,’ he said to himself. He knew better than to walk in like it was a damn supermarket. The bullet had struck him in his right leg, almost blowing off the entire kneecap on the other side. The pain surged up through his body. 
McCabe heard the shot, as did the other members of the team. This was followed by a barrage of voices. 
‘Shit, bloody fool!’ McCabe rattled off, each team member hearing him. 
‘What are we doing, boss?’ Mooney came in over the radio. 
‘We hold,’ McCabe responded sharply. 
Not being completely happy with McCabe’s response, Mooney blurted out, ‘Possible man down, boss. Man down!’
‘Hold! That’s an order,’ McCabe responded. He knew that all hell would be breaking loose in the warehouse. He wanted to escalate a bit more before taking advantage and breaching in. 
As Stowe lay on the ground, racked with pain, Hajj delivered a boot to his stomach, sending him rolling on to his back. He then aimed his pistol directly at Stowe’s head. 
McCabe, who was now standing on Mooney’s shoulders, peered in through a half-open side window. He instantly saw Stowe on the quantum breach 290709.indd 231
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ground off to his right. His mind fl ashed back to Myanmar, when he had last saved Stowe’s sorry arse. 
He then quickly scanned the open warehouse. Mainly empty, aside from a few wooden crates. He counted four men, all heavily armed with AK-47’s. Hajj made it fi ve players. The Rain Angel was sitting at a small table just off to the left; she made six. 
As he jumped down, McCabe barked out, ‘Listen up. We have six players. One female hostage, Asian. One man down, Stowe. Copy.’
Each team member then responded with ‘Roger that.’
McCabe continued. ‘One female player, a woman. I need her alive. 
Others have AK’s, rear of warehouse left-hand side. We go in one minute. Time now, 9:15 and mark. Standby.’ 
Each team member checked his watch and readied his weapon and stun grenade. 
‘Kill him and the girl, we are out of time. I just have to assume the data is on the laptop and destroy it.’ With that, the Rain Angel smashed down the laptop on the fl oor. 
As the fi rst fl ash bang and smoke grenade rolled in, Mooney was not far behind. As it exploded, the percussion sent a deafening blast around the warehouse. The second fl ash bang and smoke came in via one of the open side windows, courtesy of Sweep. 
Having come in immediately behind Mooney, McCabe, his breath now hard and fast inside his respirator, shouldered his weapon and detected two silhouettes off to his right through the billowing white smoke. The short bursts of fi re from his MP5 dispatched the two men, who had not even raised their weapons. They were holding their heads, having been debilitated by the fl ash bangs. 
‘Two terrorists dead,’ he barked out into his radio set. 
Hajj, who had spun around, was trying to aim his pistol at Mooney, but the butt of Mooney’s weapon sent him fl ying backwards. No sooner had he fallen backwards than Mooney brought down the butt of his MP5 on his skull; the sadist was now out cold. 
Mooney then jerked upwards as a bullet stung hard into his shoulder. 
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The man off to his left was bearing down on him. As if stung only by a drowsy wasp, Mooney raised his weapon and sent a return burst. 
‘Terrorist dead,’ he responded. 
The smell of smoke and cordite fi lled the air. A hail of bullets came in, having been delivered from behind a wooden crate. The last known threat had taken up position. Wood splinters fl ew off the wooden table as his bullets hit home. 
Mooney, one of the best rugby centre forwards the regiment had seen for many years, pulled off one of his signature fl ying tackles, one that would have been at home in any world-class rugby fi nals at Twickenham. He hit Ying square on the side, knocking over both her and the chair which she was tied to, to get her away from the hail of bullets, two of which now struck him in his right side and leg. 
McCabe moved over to put down cover fi re, keeping the one remaining player down. His job now was to protect Mooney and Ying from further fi re. Stowe will have to lay there and wait, he thought. 
Sweep, who had taken up position on a pile of junk situated halfway down the gap, had taken charge of the sniper rifl e from Mooney. As he scanned the warehouse, the scope simply presented him with wafts of white smoke. When it cleared just enough, he caught sight of the last remaining threat, tucked in behind a crate. He then neatly took off the scalp of the last remaining terrorist as if bashing his boiled egg with a teaspoon. He delivered the message down his Com’s link: ‘Clear.’ 
‘Hold up. The lady. Where is she?’ McCabe responded. He started to scan the warehouse. In all the confusion, he had failed to note where she had gone after the fi rst fl ash bang went off. 
‘Support unit move in, and get an ambulance here fast. Out,’ 
McCabe instructed the van to come in, not wanting to delay medical attention to Ying or the others any longer. 
Mooney, who was holding his side, sat up, having just felt Ying’s pulse. 
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Hajj, who was now beginning to stir. McCabe now had two issues to deal with: Hajj and the Rain Angel. 
‘Chaz, keep an eye on him. If he fucking moves, shoot him,’ 
McCabe ordered. 
As McCabe stepped outside, he could see the Rain Angel, about 20 
yards away, standing by the driver’s door of her black Mercedes. She must have slipped out of a side entrance. She turned and looked right at him. Her eyes, to his surprise, showed no fear. She had caught his attention. He immediately drew his Sig and aimed it right at her head, his trigger fi nger ready to squeeze. He slowly started to walk towards her, narrowing the distance between them. Then something inside of him stirred and said ‘Stop!’ Instinct was telling him not to take the shot. 
‘Things are not all they seem, Mr McCabe. Look closer to home, at those who lead,’ she said. 
McCabe, caught off guard by her comment, paused. This small lapse in time was all she needed. She ducked down, got in the car, shut the door and headed off down the road. 
‘Damn it!’ McCabe shouted, lowering his weapon. He stood for a while looking at the car vanish, then turned and started to walk back towards the warehouse. 
As McCabe walked back in, Sweep stood in front of him, placing a fi rm hand on his chest in an attempt to stop him. ‘Sorry, mate; he didn’t make it.’ 
McCabe then looked across at Mooney, whose head was now shaking, his eyes cold. ‘Who didn’t make it?’ McCabe spat, not realising whom they meant. Then it hit him. His head started to spin, his stomach suddenly churning, he quickly side-stepped past Sweep and looked down. His eyes then knew instantly: the gaze of a dead man could never be mistaken. Stowe was dead. 
‘No, not Stowe!’ McCabe shouted, as he dropped to his knees and held Stowe in his arms, his mind fl ashing back to Myanmar, 1993. 
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bellowed, tears now running down his face. Stowe’s death was not easy to accept. The two of them, despite their long absences in seeing each other and very different characters, held a bond, a bond that many would never understand. The bond they shared had been forged in the hardened confl icts of time, blood and sweat. The single bullet hole in Stowe’s head, delivered by Hajj, had ended an era. 
Then as if a trigger had gone off, McCabe got up and headed directly for Hajj. 
‘Okay, get up, you bit of shit. You understand English. I’m guessing you are the one who likes to torture women. You look like a perverted bastard, so I reckon it was you,’ McCabe spat, then placed a swift kick to his ribs. Hajj moaned and rolled over just as McCabe was about to follow in with another kick. 
‘Hold up, boss,’ Chaz said, as Dr Tan entered the warehouse to administer medical aid to Ying. He was escorted in by the Singaporean offi cial and Sooty. 
Regaining his composure, McCabe instructed, ‘Chaz, you go help the good doctor to sort those two out, get them off to hospital and fast. 
I will deal with this character. Oh, and we must all get out of here within the next 30 minutes, okay. The place will be crawling with soldiers any minute.’ 
The sirens had already started to wail in the distance, the British High Commission, with MI6, having arranged for the Indian Defence Force to come in and clean away the evidence. Several ambulances were also en route. 
‘Sure, boss.’ Chaz dashed over and started to help Mooney on to his feet and out the door. 
McCabe went back to Hajj, hauling him up and dragging him over towards some narrow steps just off to his left. As he reached the door at the top, he shoved Hajj down the narrow steps, sending him crashing and tumbling down. McCabe then followed him. The steps seemed to run down to a basement below. As McCabe reached the bottom, he found Hajj in a heap. The fall coupled with the blow Mooney had quantum breach 290709.indd 235
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delivered with the butt of his weapon had cracked his skull; accordingly, Hajj was already half out of it. 
McCabe had his Sig gripped fi rmly in his hand. He stepped over Hajj and into the dark room where he could see, through the dim light, a chain fi xed to the wall and what looked like blood and old clothes on the fl oor. The room stank of urine and damp air. 
He immediately knew that this was where they had kept Ying. He turned and stepped back over Hajj. 
‘So what are we going to do with you? Hand you over to the authorities? Nah, don’t think so. What about beat you to a pulp?’
Hajj was now trying to move. He mumbled in what McCabe recognised as Arabic. 
‘Sorry, what was that? “Shoot me, I’m a bit of shit,” is that what you said?’ McCabe asked with mock solicitude. His Sig then delivered a well-placed shot into the kneecap of Hajj’s left leg. This snapped Hajj back to a state of consciousness as he started moaning on the fl oor, gripping his leg. 
It was then that McCabe suddenly realised that, by prolonging his suffering, he was becoming as bad as the man on the ground. He was, in fact, sinking into the same shit pit of life this animal lived in. 
McCabe then kicked him over. ‘You’re not worth the effort.’ The second shot, aimed at his head, sent Hajj silently off into whatever world he belonged, and it wasn’t earth. 
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As the rear doors of the last ambulance slammed shut, the three Indian medics were very relieved at having managed to successfully load the 220 pounds of pure muscle known as Mooney into the rear of their ambulance, a task they had not expected to greet them when they arrived. As if that was not enough of a challenge, Mooney wouldn’t keep still. Trying to get an intravenous drip into him was like trying to stick a whale with a toothpick, but Mooney was at last on his way to hospital. 
In actuality, he would be the perfect patient: every injury he sustained over his 20-year army career was nothing more than a scratch to him. He could be missing a leg and he would still get up, hop over and smash his enemy in the teeth. 
As for Ying and Stowe, Ying had been placed on the fi rst blood wagon out. Stowe was carefully zipped up in a black body bag and sent off to an army base mortuary. From there, MI6 would deal with him. 
As McCabe watched the ambulance speed away, he felt a sudden wave of fatigue descend upon him, a result of the waning adrenaline levels in his body and the desperate need for sleep. He turned and walked the few yards back to the warehouse, his footsteps now laboured and heavy. He needed to rally the remaining members of his team and be on his way. 
The area surrounding the old warehouse was now swarming with members of the Indian National Security Force. Their job, much to quantum breach 290709.indd 237
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their disappointment, was simply to clean up the mess, which meant the motionless bodies that were strewn about, along with the various bits of skull spread around outside after Mooney had slotted the fi rst player. If not, the rats would be on for a feast that night. 
The area had to look normal, as if nothing had happened; not even a shell casing could be left. McCabe knew that for a few poor bastards, this would mean having to crawl around on their hands and knees going over every inch of ground. 
As McCabe stood for a few seconds, taking in the sights and sounds of men rushing around, he knew that this was his true domain. Despite its macabre nature, he thrived on the excitement and the inherent danger such operations brought with them. He knew for sure now that banking was at an end for him. He could no longer stand to be caged and used as a form of battery-farm chicken whose only task was to lay golden eggs. 
McCabe also knew that over the next few weeks, many diplomatic meetings would be required between the UK and India to smooth this operation over. The local authorities, whilst being made aware, were perhaps not expecting a bloody fi refi ght in the docks of Mumbai without more of their own boys being involved. 
Still, it will give MI6 something to do, he thought. 
Just before he and the other men boarded a minibus, the more senior Indian army offi cers on the scene had the common sense to at least request McCabe and his team to surrender and hand over their weapons that had so mysteriously made it past Customs. 
No sooner had McCabe, closely followed by Sooty, Sweep and Chaz, entered the British High Commission in the early hours of the next morning than they were each whisked off to a room for interrogation or ‘debrief ’, as it was politely referred to. Trent had instructed a few MI5 and 6 offi cers from London to fl y out and ensure every detail was recorded. Strange, given that old Trent wanted a ‘black op’, but who was McCabe to challenge the mighty Establishment. 
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but that he was exhausted), he nursed a cup of hot chocolate fi rmly held in his hands, waiting patiently for his interrogators to fi le into the room. He wondered what Trent would say when he found out Stowe was dead and the notorious Rain Angel was still alive. To some extent, he was past caring. 
The fi rst to enter the room was a tall, skinny man in a grey suit with receding grey hair. His thick-rimmed spectacles made him look geeky, but McCabe knew that despite his nerdish looks, this guy would be no fool. Not that he had anything to hide. 
The second man to enter was very different. His face bore a harder look, his shaved head and thick-ridged eyes made him look like an England prop forward, and his stagger suggested he was solid and well-fi t. He must be the bad cop, McCabe thought to himself. 
The introductions that followed were short and not so sweet; more blunt and to the point. McCabe learned that both men were MI6 
and they wanted to know every detail, starting from when Stowe had called him and requested his help. Not wishing to drag the process out, McCabe started to give his account of what had happened, starting with that night’s events and working backwards. 
He neglected to mention the bit where Stowe had gone rogue and stormed into the warehouse on his own. It would have made no real difference to the outcome now. He wanted Stowe’s record to refl ect that he had died in action, nice and simple; not that he had died by being rash and stupid. McCabe understood why Stowe had had a moment of madness: Ying was his only mission that night. 
After four hours of intense questions, McCabe had fi nally had enough. He stood up and bore down on the two offi cers. 
‘Okay, that’s all you get. I’ve not slept in 48 hours, my feet hurt and I stink, so if it’s okay with you, and on the basis that I am on your side, I will call it a day.’ He was now mentally and physically exhausted, mainly the former. 
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of investigation by MI5, for that matter. He pointed out that British Intelligence had suspicions that the Afzal Jihad terrorist group were mounting an attack on the fi nancial industry. They had a plan which in fact allowed them to launder billions of dirty, drug-related dollars from an Asia-centric drug cartel into the banking system, cleaned by a series of legitimate profi ts and losses from oil contracts. 
The ingenious part of the plan was that Aziz had worked out that by using the various holding and shell companies owned by his dubious clients, Banning Capital Bank would, given the economic climate, seek to raise capital from a share issue. That was his way in: Tai Investments could inject their billions and buy a legitimate controlling stake in the bank. Legitimate aside from the original source of their funds, that is. 
They would, in effect, end up almost owning their own bank. 
McCabe had laughed at this point, much to the disgust of the MI6 
offi cers. 
Unfortunately, the bank had not halted the rights issue to Tai Investments, so, in essence, Tai Investments now owned a signifi cant controlling stake in Banning Capital. Christopher Fleming had not heeded the warnings about Aziz; he had gone ahead with the issue. The group head of audit would now also be forced to explain why he had failed to alert the bank to the fact that the investigation into Aziz was going on. 
As McCabe walked out of the interview room, the hard-faced offi cer shouted, ‘Don’t go and leave the country, McCabe, until we are completely satisfi ed with your part in all this.’ Hearing this, McCabe turned instantly and walked back into the room. A fi nal burst of adrenaline had been found from deep down in his guts. He placed his hands fl at down on the table. His eyes said it all. Both offi cers were looking up at him, somewhat surprised by the fact McCabe was now hovering over them in their seated position. 
‘I have done the job you fuckers should have taken care of, which is track down the terrorists. So push it, little man, and it will be you who is sorry. So fuck you!’ McCabe fi nished and just glared at them. He once quantum breach 290709.indd 240
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again turned and left the room. This time, not a word was spoken. 
Over the next few days, information began to leak out within the intelligence network and fi lter its way to McCabe, given he was now all but formally accepted into MI5. What McCabe discovered was very interesting. The Rain Angel—or Mrs Chamat, to use her real name—
was a business partner of one Khun Surat, the CEO of Tai Investments, who had, via Fleming’s oversight, bought into Banning Capital. 
What really surprised McCabe was that Surat’s younger brother was the man shot by McCabe in Myanmar back in 1993 when rescuing Stowe. McCabe had already learned from Stowe that Trent’s son had also been killed in the same operation. It was weird how fate had linked Surat, Stowe, McCabe and Trent back together, the common link being the Rain Angel. 
Then, shockingly, McCabe learned that MI6 wanted the Rain Angel very much alive. It was decided by British Intelligence and certain other high-ranking political offi cials that, despite her highly illegal actions, terrorist links and—as he now discovered—CIA allegiances, she would be allowed to go free. Her value as an informer, which in the main helped stop serious terror attacks in different parts of the world, was much more important than a bank. After all, it was said, in the current climate, banks were almost becoming embarrassments. As such, what in reality was a bank’s damaged reputation for failing to know who its customers were, compared to the safety of civilians from terrorists? 
McCabe thought they were somewhat missing the point given that money laundering was the very thing that often funded such terror activities. But the thought of a bunch of terrorists owning their own bank was too shocking to even contemplate. But then again, fi nancial services were full of criminals these days, he thought. Look at Bernie Madoff and the billions he lost or was that stolen? Madoff was just another Aziz tempted by the lure of money. Odds were that Madoff had lost not just the funds of honest people, but also of a few criminals all of whom would be hunting his head. One hundred and fi fty years in jail would not protect him from the potential hit men. And this, barely quantum breach 290709.indd 241
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when Obama had set down in his new Oval Offi ce, McCabe mused. 
He then pondered on why Trent had been so insistent on having the Rain Angel terminated. He owed it to Stowe to fi nd out, a matter he would look into at another time. 
Tai Investments and Moon Star Holdings, together with the two shipping companies, were about to have their own problems: vans full of government agents were about to raid them. All assets were to be seized and bank accounts frozen. McCabe then imagined the black vans turning up and loads of agents and SWAT teams pouring out and terrifying the shocked executives, half of whom would have no clue as to what was going on. These poor professionals probably thought they worked for an honest company—which, in reality, they did. As is so often the case, it was the management who were corrupt, not the poor man or woman lower down the food chain. 
The boring end of an operation, McCabe thought. He much preferred the covert stuff, which often ended with guns going off. ‘God, I’m starting to sound like Stowe.’ 
As for the bank, McCabe had also been questioned by two of the bank’s internal auditors who had arrived from London to conduct an interrogation; in McCabe’s opinion, wet-faced boys who had no real idea of what they were looking for. They wanted to know his view on where the bank was negligent in picking up on the trades and where the process had been breached. McCabe found this the most interesting part, as, in fact, the trades were perfectly normal. It was the lack of diligence on ‘who’ the customers were that posed the breach in policy and process; the process had simply failed. 
Paul Stern, who worked within the bank’s operations department, was in essence responsible for making sure the trades got settled. One morning over his cornfl akes, he decided that the bank did not pay him enough, so he wanted extra cash. As such, he gave what in McCabe’s opinion was an exaggeration of the events to the press and got paid quantum breach 290709.indd 242
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£20,000 for his trouble. The stink that followed in the press caused the UK regulatory vultures to circle and eventually land in the bank. 
Every nook and cranny was looked into. The fi nal report issued to the bank’s board members and shareholders stated that a ‘quantum breach’ 
of considerable implications to the industry’s stability had occurred; as such, certain members of the bank would be held fully accountable. 
McCabe clearly had his own view on who should carry the blame. 
Despite McCabe’s efforts and that of Ying, they were both placed on gardening leave. For one thing, it would give the bank a chance to ensure they themselves were not inside sleepers for Afzal Jihad or Tai Investments, a thought that disgusted McCabe after all they had done. 
Process was process, but facts alone should have perhaps given the bank a more gracious approach, he reckoned. 
Not that McCabe thought he would, in fact, ever go back to working for them. Banking was now in the past for him. He had tasted blood again, he had a thirst for adventure, and it would not be found in dealing foreign exchange for Banning Capital Bank. 
MI5 had offi cially approached him, offered him a fi eld offi cer role. 
Whilst fl attered, even McCabe was not sure spook work was for him. 
The salary was also crap; no wonder Stowe was always broke. McCabe broke a smile at this point, thinking about his old buddy. 
As he left the High Commission walking somewhat like a zombie (MI6 now happy he could leave the country), McCabe was informed that the High Commission had at least arranged for him to be taken to the airport after a shower and a fresh change of clothes. His fl ight to Singapore would leave that afternoon. MI5 had even arranged for a fi rst class Singapore Airlines ticket, so not all bad. If it had been left to the bank, it would have been economy at best, he thought. 
Having enquired about Ying, he was informed that she had been fl own out a few hours earlier, patched up and in a fi t state to fl y. The Singaporean offi cials wanted to get Ying back as soon as possible. Stowe, quantum breach 290709.indd 243
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on the other hand, would be fl own back to the UK. His funeral would follow a few days later. McCabe knew he wouldn’t attend the funeral service; it would serve no purpose. Stowe was in his memory forever; no formal funeral would ever make his feelings or levels of respect change. 
He would say his goodbyes another day. Most likely with a bottle of vintage whisky. 
As for Mooney, he had knocked back a couple of aspirin and taken the next fl ight back to London, dragging his intravenous drip with him. 
McCabe had smiled when he heard that; so typical of the big guy. 
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Christopher Fleming was seated like a proud peacock at one end of the highly polished mahogany boardroom table, dressed as he normally was in a navy blue suit, white shirt and old Etonian tie, his white hair in perfect, almost wig-like order. His mood, however, was not that of a majestic peacock; more like a ravenous bear. 
As each board member shuffl ed in, the pale, taut expressions etched upon each of the faces signalled to Fleming that they had reluctantly attended his special meeting. As they took their seats nervously, they looked very apprehensive as they all duly and neatly faced left towards the purposeful looking fi gure of power seated at the head of the table. 
Seated on either side of Fleming were his dutiful guard dogs: Stewart Bateman, the group head of legal, and Paul Jones, group head of audit. 
Bateman was a well-built, shrewd man who took no nonsense, while Jones was a pink-faced, lazy, fat lump of a man who made everyone’s skin crawl. He took pleasure in playing corporate politics and ending the careers of those who dared to challenge him. Rumour suggested his liking for small Asian boys of questionable age, a matter of frequent executive washroom debate. 
In most banks, auditors were right up there with traffi c wardens on the popularity scale. But Jones was in a class of his own: pompous, two-faced and perverted. How he survived was a mystery to most. Last to arrive was John Palmer, the CEO for the wholesale arm of the bank, the section in which the breach had taken place. He was a talented quantum breach 290709.indd 245
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man with over 20 years of market experience, yet he was known to be somewhat shallow, often too quick to apportion blame without really establishing the facts. 
As the meeting was called to order by Fleming, he stood up, placing his hands fl at on the table, bearing down on the men and women in front of him. 
‘We have had a breach in control, ladies and gentlemen. The regulators have called it publicly a “quantum breach”. A rogue salesman in Dubai by the name of Harish Aziz was doing trades with a couple of our clients, both prominent shipping companies.’ He then paused, his eyes now slowly scanning the room to ensure the fullest of attention was being accorded him. 
‘The investment company which sits at the top of this sordid issue, I am now told, has managed to buy our stock by injecting tainted liquidity. 
We were not aware that this investment company had purchased the two shipping companies, which had previously been longstanding clients of the bank, via an offshore shell company. As a result of this foul deed, we now face not only fi nes from the UK regulators, but people being kicked out on the street.’ He paused again, looking at the initial reaction from around the room. 
People were now muttering to each other, rapid hand gestures were being made, all of which was brought to an abrupt end when Christopher thumped his fi st hard down on the table. As a result, one poor lady jerked around and screamed as if sitting in a cheap horror movie, her embarrassed face glowing red. 
‘I want answers, people! How could this have happened?’
A fake cough then rang out and announced a polite interjection by Bateman, the group head of legal. 
‘With respect, Christopher,’ which normally when said meant ‘You, arse, you have it all wrong’, ‘the trades in themselves were perfectly normal, whilst odd, I admit, due to the profi ts and losses between them. 
It was the fact that our internal controls around “Know Your Customer” 
broke down.’ Bateman then paused. 
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‘What the hell do you mean broke down? Explain, man,’ Fleming volleyed back. 
Bateman then puffed himself up, as he was not at all happy he had been so abruptly addressed. 
‘The two shipping companies in question, Christopher, Al Safad and TJ Cargo, were, as you said, acquired by Tai Investments via a holding company called Moon Star. This meant, in essence, that there were changes in their Board of Resolution that went undetected by us. 
As a result, we had not detected that Moon Star Holdings, who are owned by Tai Investments, were the new legal owners. Had we checked, we may have found out that the Tai Investments board is, shall we say, less than credible. This Khun Surat, the CEO, is a known criminal, a drug lord by all accounts,’ Bateman pronounced sternly. 
Fleming sat down as if hit by a train, the reality of the oversight now dawning on him. He looked soullessly down into the polished veneer of the boardroom table. He knew that he himself had sent out a corporate-wide communication stating how happy he was that Tai Investments were looking to buy stock—the answer to the bank’s pending liquidity problem, he had thought. 
‘Furthermore, Christopher, you were made aware, were you not, by your friend Malcolm Trent from MI5 that an investigation was in place, a terrorist attack on the bank was a real threat. Yet you did absolutely nothing. 
‘I also heard that people from within the bank were even involved in the investigation, this McCabe chap, for example. I have a copy of an email here that you sent to Helen Brown in Dubai, telling her to fully cooperate. Jones from audit was copied, for God’s sake. Audit, to be frank, should have stepped up and mobilised a team. Maybe, just maybe, we would have detected this breach in process before the rights issue went out. We may then have uncovered the Tai Investments link in all this. A “quantum breach” is damn right, in my view.’ Bateman then shot an accusing look towards Jones, who was not really listening. 
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Bateman. ‘We are in the shit then, aren’t we?’ Fleming himself was now bright red in the face. 
Visibly shaken, Fleming turned sharply to Jones, who was seated on the other side of him playing with his Blackberry. ‘When you have quite fi nished, Jones… Is there anything I’m keeping you from?’ Fleming was enraged, his hand banged down hard on the table which caused everyone to fl inch. 
‘I want you to fi nd some information, any information that shows that we, via our standard methods, could not have known they were criminals before the rights issue. We have contacts with MI5 and 6 for God’s sake. So Jones, work with them and the regulator if you have to, and get me something that shows we are not negligent in selling our bloody shares to a drug cartel that were also in bed with a bunch of terrorists. The shareholders will have my guts over this. And fi x the bloody process, do you hear me,’ Fleming fi red at Jones. 
‘Yes, Christopher; understood.’ His fat little body was now leaking sweat, his face a bright pink, looking more like a slapped ham than the visage of a cool head of internal audit. 
‘As for you, Palmer, did we disturb your bloody golf game?’ Fleming was now just attacking anyone he could reach. 
Palmer expressed his anger. ‘I beg your pardon. I was not even informed by you, Christopher. How the devil would I have known? I will have this McCabe chap fi red.’
‘Oh for goodness sake, Palmer, do you not listen? McCabe was the one trying to save the bloody bank,’ Bateman fi red back. 
With that, the meeting was adjourned and people could be seen hurriedly exiting the room to get answers—or at least evidence they could use to protect their own backs. 
The truth, however, was that all the answers were already evident: a breach was a breach. Irrespective of whom they were, Tai Investments had purchased the shares, and no amount of trying to cover it up now would save Fleming from the baying shareholders and angry regulators. 
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As Ying opened her eyes, her mother’s face slowly came into focus, beaming a big smile. Her father, a deeply proud and traditional man not known for his display of emotions, gently squeezed her hand, which in itself was worth a thousand smiles to Ying. Ying then noticed her frail grandmother sitting in the corner, just visible behind her father, her typical smile peaking out of her wrinkled face. A little wave of her hand signalled that she had seen Ying. 
The embrace her mother gave her as she woke up was all she needed to feel at home. She had only vague recollections of the past few days in and out of consciousness, the odd glimpse of a face. 
‘Oh my dear, thank God you are okay,’ her mother said, and kissed her, tears rolling down her face. 
Ying could see that her mother had not slept well in quite a few days: she looked very pale and drawn, to be expected from any mother who knew her daughter was being held captive in a foreign land. 
‘You gave us quite a scare, girl,’ her father commented. 
Ying beamed. ‘Hi. Good to see you all.’
Looking at her father, she said softly, her mouth dry, ‘Grandfather paid me a visit. That story you shared with me helped.’ As if he knew exactly what Ying meant, her father just smiled back. 
Ecstatic at seeing her family, Ying spent the next few hours talking to her parents. The stories of deals and money laundering came fl ooding out. Not that her dear parents fully understood much of what quantum breach 290709.indd 249
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she was talking about, but they still listened intently despite their lack of fi nancial acumen. Ying was very careful not to tell them too much detail about the torture; she felt that whilst they would understand, it was information that would only serve to make them worry, and that would not be good. 
As her family left, now late in the evening, she turned her thoughts to Stowe and McCabe. Where were they? she wondered. It must have been those two who got her out and saved her life. That whole episode was a blank, however. She only remembered being hit hard across the face, and only glimpses of dark faces thereafter, until she woke up and saw her mother. 
Her recovery would take a few weeks, she was informed, though the injuries were mainly bruising and dehydration, nothing serious. 
However, as the hospital doctor had told her, the mental scars might take longer to heal. 
Ying would also have to give numerous statements to the authorities and her employer with regards to her role in the operation. This, however, could all wait, as recovery was the most pressing priority. 
A rather young female police offi cer was diligently stationed outside her room. Arrays of pictures in her fi le displayed who could go in and see her; absolutely no media were allowed. The added security was a precaution the authorities wanted to take to ensure not only Ying’s safety, but also that the media would not get wind of the events. As far as British Intelligence was concerned, it never happened. But the UK 
media had already started to publish accounts in the various newspapers, unscrupulous bank employees having broken the news. 
The next morning, as the lift doors opened, the tall, rugged fi gure of McCabe emerged. As he paced towards the ward, he caught sight of a cute nurse who was busy writing notes on what looked like a patient’s fi le. Her smile caught his attention; he returned this with his own beaming smile. Perhaps the large bunch of fl owers held fi rmly in his hand gave him a caring edge. 
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on guard, he walked into Ying’s private room, a small gesture from the bank she had tried to save. She appeared to be asleep. She looked so frail, not the bouncy ‘babe’ he was used to. The ordeal had obviously taken its toll. He noticed the abundance of fl owers and cards; she was well-liked and loved. A picture of her parents stood proudly on her bedside table. As he placed the fl owers on the end of her bed and started to slowly walk away, he heard a familiar if not distinctly weaker voice: 
‘Don’t you dare walk off, boss.’ He slowly turned and saw Ying smiling at him. 
‘Hey, you, how you feeling?’ he said softly, sitting down on the edge of her bed and placing his hand on hers. 
‘I am okay, nothing too serious. I’m glad to see you. Was it you and Brian that got me out?’ 
McCabe looked at her and paused. ‘Yup. Someone had to.’ 
‘Are you okay, not hurt?’ Ying seemed anxious. 
‘I’m fi ne,’ McCabe replied
Ying’s face was now visibly showing concern. ‘What do you mean 
“I’m fi ne?” Brian? What happened? Tell me,’ she said hoarsely as she tried to sit up. 
‘Ying… ’ McCabe whispered as he placed his hand on her shoulder. 
‘Stowe didn’t make it. He was killed getting you safely out.’ He could not let her know that Stowe had, in fact, recklessly run in and got himself shot. McCabe knew Stowe had given his life to save Ying, no matter how he went about it. 
‘Oh God!’ Ying then broke down, tears streaming down her face. 
McCabe could only sit there and hold her hand; he knew Ying needed to grieve. 
Sometime later, Ying composed herself. She sat herself up slightly in her bed as if to make herself seem more dignifi ed. Looking at McCabe, with some effort, she pushed out her question. It was hard for her and her shaky voice showed this. 
‘Did he suffer … was it bad?’ she asked
‘No, he would have felt nothing at all.’ McCabe knew that was a quantum breach 290709.indd 251
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lie. Even McCabe could see from Stowe’s body that he had been shot fi rst in the kneecap; extreme pain would have resulted from that. It was then experience that told McCabe that Stowe would have stared down the barrel of his killer’s pistol for a few seconds before being shot in the head. Any man, no matter how tough, would have momentarily winced at that. 
‘I see. Well, at least he didn’t suffer. But he died for me.’ Ying then started to cry again. 
‘You can cut that out. Stowe would not have wanted this. We have a code in the forces: when one of us dies, we celebrate, drink his whisky, do not grieve. It’s about the memories. We all die at some point.’ 
McCabe was now trying to snap her out of it. 
Then, after a short while, she replied. ‘Tell me, boss, how do you handle the bad dreams? I keep seeing that room, the one I was held in, hearing the footsteps on the stone fl oor, the drowning feeling. I wake up and scream.’ 
McCabe held her hand very tight, realising the effort it had taken for her to ask such a question. He allowed a pause before he replied, not wanting her to think he had not given it thought. He knew, in fact, the correct response only too well. 
‘Well, you think of something very cool, something you love. You see it in your mind, keep focused on it, then the bad memories fade away,’ he said confi dently. 
He didn’t wish to tell her that such memories tend to remain for a long time. Mental scars are hard to heal. 
She seemed to like his response, and smiled, her face still swollen and bruised, which made it all the more disturbing for McCabe to see such a sweet smile surrounded by such bruises. 
McCabe hated women-beaters; in his mind, they were weak. He had enjoyed dealing with Hajj; the bullets that took him out were wrapped with a layer of revenge from McCabe and Stowe. He suddenly recalled how they had found Ying seated in the chair, half-dead, the canvas bag left over her head. It turned his stomach. He then snapped back to quantum breach 290709.indd 252
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reality when Ying spoke. 
‘Where is Brian, boss? Can I see him?’ 
McCabe looked at her. ‘That won’t be possible, babe. His body was taken back to the UK. They bury him today. It will be a very small affair, only a few of his mates. And Trent, of course, his boss.’ 
‘What? Why are you not there? Why did you not tell me sooner? I loved him, boss.’ Ying then completely lost the plot. 
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As the coffi n containing the remains of Brian Edward Stowe was lowered down into the freshly dug grave, the few mourners in attendance simply stared down on to the lid of the coffi n. A simple brass plaque engraved ‘Brian Edward Stowe—a man, a warrior, a friend’ refl ected the light as it descended to the earthy fl oor. A single red rose was thrown in, landing, as if planned, on top of the brass plaque. The hand that had so accurately tossed it in belonged to none other than Mooney. McCabe had asked him to do so, a gesture from Ying. Mooney’s massive frame was supported by a single crutch; no amount of pain or discomfort would have kept him from carrying out McCabe’s request. 
Trent was standing a few yards back from the edge of the grave, his posture tense, his face strained, his hands placed in the pockets of his dark blue raincoat buttoned up against the wind. The other mourners were members of Stowe’s immediate MI5 team, each paying their last respects. Those who really knew Stowe were not there. Like McCabe, they were scattered across the various corners of the globe. 
The fact they were not there did not in any way detract from the level of respect Stowe commanded, nor was it a sign of how much sadness they felt at his loss. It was more they each had their own way of mourning and remembering him. Some would toast his memory in drunken stupors, within the army barrack bars; others with a single shot of whisky in front of an open fi re within their own home; others quantum breach 290709.indd 254
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as they walked their dogs in a windy park. McCabe would never forget; he would visit Stowe’s grave when the time was right and lay his ghost to rest. Stowe had gone, that was fact, but his memory would remain in the minds and souls of many a man still very much alive. 
As Trent swallowed a shot of whisky, he sat back hard in his chair and pondered his next move. Khun Surat was still at large. Interpol had been placed on alert and Surat’s every move would be tracked, recorded and analysed. The agencies would be looking for ways to trap and have him arrested. Multiple charges of drug traffi cking, money laundering, even aiding and abetting known terrorism would be levelled against him. For now, his whereabouts remained unknown. 
Maybe he was holed up in the luxury of his lavish home near Chiang Mai, Thailand. 
Trent’s mind was not, however, on Surat, but the Rain Angel. His explicit orders had not been carried out. Stowe and McCabe had failed him, which now presented Trent with a big problem. This woman had information that could hurt him. And not only him, but others far more important and infl uential. The ‘Shadow Men’ would not be pleased. Trent would have to fi nd her, deal with her, and fast. 
As Trent dialled a number, it rang for only a few seconds. ‘It’s Trent. 
Put me through, please.’ His voice was shaky and unsure. 
After a few moments, his call was taken. The man’s voice on the other end of the line was explicit and clear. ‘Trent, you have, it seems, an issue to deal with. We know that she is still alive. Make sure this issue is dealt with swiftly. You will not be granted another opportunity, is that clear?’ 
‘Understood. It will be taken care of.’ Trent then hung up and took another shot of whisky, closed his eyes and settled back in his chair. 
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As Ying sat comfortably on a sofa in the lobby of the Fullerton Hotel, she felt good. Her face was almost back to normal; two weeks in hospital had sorted her out. Thanks to her mother’s home cooking, she had also gained ten pounds. The bank had given her all the time off she needed, months if required. 
As McCabe appeared, his beaming smile immediately catching Ying’s attention, she stood up and put out her arms. McCabe walked up to her and hugged her. 
‘Hi, Ying! You look so much better.’ 
‘Yeah. I’m feeling so much better. Not sure when I will return to work though, if at all. Not sure I can go back.’ 
‘I know what you mean, I’m not going back. That much I can tell you,’ McCabe said 
‘Oh, what will you do?’
‘Not sure. I’m not without options; a few weeks of bumming around, spending time with my daughter, for sure. I have missed her. 
No rush to make a decision.’
As Ying sat back down, pulling McCabe by the arm to join her on the sofa, she enquired, ‘So what’s news, you must have some? Did they… ?’ Ying then paused. 
As if knowing what she was going to ask, McCabe responded. ‘Yes, his funeral was okay, I heard. I will visit him soon. Maybe we can go see him together? By the way, I had my old mate Mooney go along. 
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Mooney was also part of our rescue team. He was there with Stowe at the very end. He dropped in a red rose for you. Hope you don’t mind.’ 
‘Oh goodness, thank you so much. That is so sweet of you.’ Tears then started to appear in Ying’s eyes. 
‘Okay, that’s enough of that, come on.’ McCabe started to change the subject. ‘Fleming has retired from the bank on a fat pension, which I fi nd insane, but at least he’s gone. Oh, and that fat pig of an auditor was fi red: he was made the public scapegoat, so there is some justice in the world after all. 
‘The rights issue to Tai Investments was unwound and taken over by the Bank of England. Tai Investments has been shut down, as has Moon Star, and Surat is under investigation for multiple charges ranging from money-laundering to murder and terrorism, so the old rat may serve time in prison yet. Mooney says “Hi” by the way.’ McCabe then sat back and crossed his legs, desperate to draw Ying off of thinking about Stowe too much. 
‘What about Aziz?’ enquired Ying, much to McCabe’s surprise. 
‘Oh, his body was found bloated, fl oating in the river, near that warehouse, a plastic bag over his head, poor sod.’ McCabe almost felt sorry for him. 
‘Oh my God! Poor man,’ Ying replied. 
After chatting for an hour about work, what had happened and life in general, it was time for McCabe to go. As he stood up, he looked down at Ying. ‘You will be just fi ne, babe. I will see you soon, promise. 
Okay?’ McCabe winked. 
‘You take care too, boss. Please stay out of trouble.’ 
‘Yeah, yeah,’ McCabe replied. 
Ying then stood up and placed her arms around his neck; she kissed him on both cheeks and hugged him. Her lips then mouthed ‘thank you’ and she sat back down. ‘It’s okay, you head off. I will wait for my mother. She’s going to join me for tea.’ 
‘Okay. See you.’ With that, McCabe turned and walked off towards the entrance. 
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‘Wait!’ Ying shouted. 
McCabe turned sharply. ‘What is it? You okay?’ Concern edged his voice. 
‘The envelope, the CD with the information, did you ever get it? It had details of Aziz’s transactions, names of people in Tai Investments, Afzal Jihad members, what looked like names of all kinds of people and stuff.’ Ying was for a moment excited. 
McCabe’s face said it all. ‘God no, I had forgotten all about that. 
Where did you leave it?’ 
‘At the hotel. In an envelope addressed to you.’ Ying’s face now showed concern. 
‘Don’t worry, I’ll have it retrieved or tracked down. Don’t worry yourself about it anymore; start your life again, okay?’ McCabe then turned again and headed off, waving his hand over his shoulder. 
‘Oh, okay. See you.’ Ying then turned and went back to wait for her mother. She realised that she didn’t really care about the CD anymore. 
Momentarily it seemed important, but in reality it had caused far too much pain and was best forgotten. 
As McCabe paused and stood still for a few moments in the lobby, he felt at peace. His life in some ways was about to start all over again. 
His past experiences and knowledge would equip him somehow for a new adventure. It mattered not to him where he went, or, indeed, what he ended up doing. The fact was he was free, free forever of his corporate shackles and the stress and uncertainty that came with his last job. 
The bank had in the end been very generous in that they had awarded him with a pay-off large enough to cover his expenses for the next two years. It was a small token of their appreciation for trying to save them from the unscrupulous hands of money launderers like Aziz and Surat. The irony was that the cash Tai Investments had provided via the rights issue, dirty money or not, had in fact saved the bank from a liquidity death. So the reprehensible acts of Aziz had in a strange way helped them in the credit crisis. The Bank of England ultimately had to take over the investment to clean the entire issue up. The new Banning’s quantum breach 290709.indd 258
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chairman had his work cut out to rebuild the bank’s reputation. 
McCabe’s bosses knew as well as he did that his days as a trader were at an end. The call of the external world was too strong; the adrenaline that fed his veins, the drug he needed to survive, was provided only by a very different form of adventure. McCabe also knew that, from the bank’s perspective, having a highly trained killer on its staff was not perhaps what HR really wanted. 
As he started to walk off and cross over the historic Cavanagh Bridge, he thought back to his decision: the single shot he should have taken to kill the Rain Angel, but simply didn’t. Something in him said no, much to Trent’s annoyance. 
Had he taken the shot, she would have most certainly died. At such short range, the impact from his Sig would have killed her instantly. 
Instead, he was left with the memory of her eyes, looking at him down the barrel of his gun. Then those words she had uttered, the meaning of which he had no idea, they hung in his head. 
‘Things are not all they seem, Mr McCabe. Look closer to home, at those who lead… ’ 
As he continued to walk, he reached the river pathway on the other side of the bridge. The warm air felt good, tourist boats were moving up and down the river. As he stood taking in the air, he felt sure that somehow he would meet the mysterious lady again. He could almost feel her presence. His left index fi nger started to itch, which it did when he sensed danger. Could she be observing him right now? 
The location of the CD was now weighing heavily on his mind. 
Given it had cost Stowe his life, he had to fi nd it and see if it could tell him about the people behind the dirty money scam. There was always dirt higher up the food chain; that he knew. The people he had met were just the puppets. Surat was still out there, no doubt plotting his next wave of crime. 
It was that thought alone that struck deep into McCabe’s character, quantum breach 290709.indd 259
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revenge was a natural instinct for him. Too many things were still open-ended for his liking. Why was the Rain Angel allowed to walk away? 
Why was Trent so reluctant to give her up; she was clearly a woman not to be trusted. The information must in some way expose her completely and others. How far did the rot extend to the British Secret Service, he wondered. Something about Trent bothered him, not that he could place his fi nger on it, but again instinct told him that Trent was in some way linked to what had happened. 
There was little choice. McCabe had to have the CD safe in his possession. It would, he hoped, provide the answers he needed. With that thought in mind, he turned and walked off; he had a plane to catch. 
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